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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRBES

Dear Shareholders

| am pleased to present the annual report of Huajun Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Review Year") for
the shareholders’ perusal.

HIGHLIGHTS

Whilst current macroeconomic factors remain dynamic, any causes
of market size contraction, such as reduced GDP in commodity-
producing economies due to commodity prices decline,
proliferating political unrest in the Middle East and Eastern
Europe, further economic instability in the European Union,
political instability in certain Latin American markets and economic
slowdown in Japan and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), can
reduce our revenue or erode our operating margin, in turn reducing
our earnings. During the Review Year, the Group has achieved a
turnover of approximately RMB3.3 billion, representing an increase
of approximately 141% over RMB1.4 billion for the Previous Year.
The gross profit increased from approximately RMB224 million
for the previous year to approximately RMB477 million for the
Review Year. The overall increase in turnover was attributable to
the development in Solar Photovolatic and Trading and Logistics
businesses.

Recently, various business segments maintained favorable
momentum of growth. With respect to the segment of property
development and investment, the Group retained plentiful
resources and maintained financial strength in the PRC, which
enabled us to seek for potential projects for investment, and
develop and capture stable income while enjoying the value of
assets. The Group has been aggressive in the deployment of
resources, with the belief that there will be reasonable returns when
the development enters the harvest stage.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITRBES

PROSPECTS

We constantly monitor our markets for opportunities of strategic
mergers and acquisitions to complement our organic growth.
Such activities may help us strengthen our foothold in existing
markets, and provide us with access to new markets in new areas.
Opportunities might also arise from well-executed divestments
that further optimise our portfolio while generating gains. In
the increasingly competitive market environment, a competitive
cost structure complements the competitive advantage of being
innovative. We believe that further improvements in our cost
position can strengthen our competitive position and secure our
market presence against emerging competitors.

Despite various challenges in the market environment, the Group
still recorded a significant increase in revenue. Finally, | would like
to take this opportunity to extend my gratitude to all the dedicated
staff of the Group for their hard work and contribution. On behalf
of the Board, | would also like to express our sincere thanks to the
Group's shareholders, investors, customers, bankers and business
associates for their continued support. We look forward to the
support of shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) in the
future.

Meng Guang Bao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEN W N DA

BUSINESS REVIEW

Huajun Holdings Limited is an investment holding company. The
Company engages in 8 businesses which are aggregated into 5
reportable segments based on similar economic characteristics,
nature of products and production processes, end-use markets,
channels of distribution and regulatory environment. The
Company'’s reportable segments are Printing, Trading and Logistics,
Property Development and Investments, Solar Photovoltaic and
Financial Services. The Company includes business not included
in the reportable segments, such as industrial equipment in others
segment.

Our strategy is to strengthen our foundation, diversify our business
portfolio, and grow continuously, both organically and through
strategic acquisitions. We believe that this strategy will increase our
Shareholders value by creating an even stronger Huajun.

For the Review Year, revenue was approximately RMB3,314.0
million, representing an increase of approximately RMB1,939.1
million, or 141%, compared to a revenue of approximately
RMB1,374.9 million for last year. We reclassified our Solar
Photovoltaic business from discontinued operation to continuing
operations for the current year. The overall increase in revenue
was attributable to the growth of Solar Photovoltaic business,
development of Trading and Logistics business in particular the
increase in distribution and sale of electronic parts and devices and
oil and chemical products in the Review Year. The Printing segment
continued to register a stable growth.

Our Group generated most of its revenue from Solar Photovoltaic
segment which accounted for approximately 41.4% (2016: 23.1%) of
the total revenue followed by Trading and Logistics segment which
accounted for approximately 35.4% (2016: approximately 28.8%) of
the total revenue. For the Review Year, local PRC sales continued to
be our major source of revenue, representing approximately 82.4%
(2016: approximately 74.4%) of the total revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR D

EBERE(E)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The table below sets forth our Group’s revenue by business
segment for the two years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017:

For the year ended 31 March
BE-A=1t—-HLHEE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF

RMB Million %  RMB Million %

AREBEER AREBET
Printing Ef1fml 544.7 16.4% 537.6 39.1%
Trading and Logistics B 5 K 1,173.0 35.4% 396.3 28.8%

Property Development ek Y e

and Investments 15.3 0.5% 7.6 0.5%
Solar Photovoltaic NGRS 1,371.3 41.4% 317.3 23.1%
Financial Services TR 169.5 5.1% 87.5 6.4%
Other Hi 40.2 1.2% 28.6 2.1%
3,314.0 100.0% 1,374.9 100.0%

TR ARERE_FT—LFR_FT—RF=
A=T—HALmBEFEREES D (REFSH
W) 2 EER

The table below sets forth our Group's revenue by geographical
locations based on the location by customers for the two years
ended 31 March 2017 and 2016:

For the year ended 31 March
BE=-A=1t—-HLEE

2017 2016
—E—tF —EREF

RMB Million %  RMB Million %

AREBEER AREBET
The PRC s 2,731.1 82.4% 1,023.0 74.4%
The United States EH 196.0 5.9% 192.9 14.0%
Hong Kong HE 272.3 8.2% 82.5 6.0%
European countries BB K 52.8 1.6% 455 3.3%
Other countries HAi B 61.8 1.9% 31.0 2.3%
3,314.0 100.0% 1,374.9 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEN W N DA

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Below are details of the financial and trading prospects of the core
business segments of the Group:

Printing

New Island Printing Company Limited (“New Island”) is one of the
leading and reputable printing and packaging companies in Hong
Kong and the PRC. New Island produces high quality packaging
and paper products with the capability to serve our international
clients in the areas of beauty and cosmetics, pharmaceutical, food
and beverage globally. We further develop overseas and local
customers portfolio and expand our production capacities by
setting up factories in Jiangsu and Hunan Provinces of PRC and
relocate our Dongguan operations.

Printing will continue to be the major business segment of the
Group contributing to the Group stable revenue and profit.

Trading and Logistics

This segment is principally engaged in the distribution and sales
of industrial software, electronic parts and devices and oil and
chemical products. We are the major distributor of large scale
international brands of electronic products. In August 2016,
Shanghai Huajun Petrochemical Trading Corporation Limited (/8
#EE(LTHRZAA]) was set up, which engages in a wide spectrum of
oil and chemical products. The Group expects the vast demand of
electronic, oil and chemical products in Hong Kong and the PRC will
continue to support the growth of this segment.

Property Development and Investments

This segment consists of land consolidation and development, real
estate development and sales, property leasing and management,
and various real estate business. Leveraging on the rich resources
in the PRC, the Group seeks to invest on development projects
with asset appreciation potential to enjoy asset appreciation while
generating stable revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEN W N DA

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Property Development and Investments (Continued)

On 17 August 2016, Shanghai Baohua Wanlong Real Estates
Company Limited (E/BREZEE X B AF), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, successfully bid for the land
use rights of a piece of land in the Minhang District, Shanghai, the
PRC in an auction held by the Shanghai Minhang District Planning
and Land Administration Bureau (E/8TMR{TEREIM LHEIER)
offered for sale by way of tender at a bidding price of RMB2,305
million.

On 30 March 2017, we acquired two property projects, namely Bao
Hua Financial Centre* ({(REEBEH ) and Bao Hua Wang Yuan* ({R
M 48), from a company controlled by Mr. Meng, the chairman, an
executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company at
a total consideration of RMB1,920 million. Both Bao Hua Financial
Centre* (IREE@F L) and Bao Hua Wang Yuan* ({RZEEJ0) are
located in Dalian City, Liaoning Province, the PRC. In particular, Bao
Hua Financial Centre* ((RE& BiH L)) comprises a parcel of land
with a site area of approximately 10,857.10 sg.m. and a commercial
and office development complex currently under construction
thereon. The development project will be developed into a
51-storey commercial and office complex with a 2-storey basement
for car parking and ancillary uses. The acquisition provides an
investment opportunity for the Group to strengthen and develop its
existing property business which in turn provides an opportunity to
the Group to potentially enhance the return for its Shareholders.

Solar Photovoltaic

The “"Photovoltaic Construction Plan 2015" published by China
National Energy Administration of the PRC shows that the PRC
targetted its newly-installed Photovoltaic capacity for 2015 at 17,800
megawatts, which is increased by approximately 20% compared
to the same in 2014, being one-third of the global target of newly-
installed Photovoltaic capacity. To seize the opportunity, the Group
acquires several high-tech Photovoltaic companies which are
principally engaged in business including manufacturing and sales
of monocrystalline silicon, polycrystalline silicon, silicon wafers,
solar cells, and solar modules. Our main operations are located in
Jiangsu Province.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Finance Services

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Finance Lease

This segment consists of the leasing of plant and equipment,
and other tangible assets. The operations of this segment is
mainly located in the PRC where the Group seeks for a stable
revenue with controllable risk.

Provision of Finance

The Group provides finance to prospective customers
who would provide securities for the performance of their
respective obligations to repay the Group. The Group will
take a prudence approach to develop this business segment,
diversify the customer portfolio and seek opportunity to
cooperate with its business partners.

Securities Investments

The Group invests in Hong Kong and overseas securities.
We mainly utilise the extensive investment experience of the
management to make medium and short-term investments by
searching for stable revenue with controllable risk, diversifying
the corporate operating risk and improving asset liquidity of
the Group.

Industrial Equipment

On 3 August 2015, the Group acquired Zhejiang Linhai Machinery

Co. Ltd.*

(T ER /B A R A])

. Its principal activities are the

production and sale of turbines, transformers, torque converters
and related products.

The Group has always endorsed a prudent philosophy of good
governance with emphasis on risk management, and it strived to
maintain excellent assets quality, stability and financial resources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEN W N DA

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Our Group's revenue for the Review Year was approximately
RMB3,314.0 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB1,939.1 million, or 141.0%, compared to revenue of
approximately RMB1,374.9 million for last year. For the Review Year,
our Group's major business segments, namely (1) Printing reported
a revenue of approximately RMB544.7 million (2016: approximately
RMB537.6 million); (2) Trading and logistics reported a revenue of
approximately RMB1,173.0 million (2016: approximately RMB396.3
million); (3) Solar Photovoltaic recorded a revenue of approximately
RMB1,371.3 million (2016: RMB317.3 million); and (4) Financial
services recorded a revenue of approximately RMB169.5 million
(2016: approximately RMB87.5 million).

As a group with diversified businesses, we look for opportunity of
sustainable growth. The overall increase in revenue was primarily
attributable to the growth of Solar Photovoltaic business, and
the development of Trading and Logistics business in particular
the sales of larger spectrum of oil and chemical products and the
growth of sales of electronic parts and devices in the Review Year.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross profit was approximately RMB477.3 million for the Review
Year (2016: approximately RMB224.4 million), with gross profit
margin of approximately 14.4% (2016: 16.3%). The mix of business
segments that the Group operates affects its results of operations
such as its gross profit margins since different segments have
different profitability. While our printing business maintained a
stable gross profit margin, the commencement of new businesses
in the Review Year affected the Group's gross profit margin as the
percentage of contribution from printing business decreased.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEN W N DA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the Review Year, selling and distribution expenses increased
by approximately RMB40.9 million or 93.4% to approximately
RMB84.6 million, or 2.6% of revenue for the year under review, from
approximately RMB43.8 million, or 3.2% of revenue for the last year.

Administrative Expenses

For the Review Year, administrative expenses increased by
approximately RMB121.8 million or 64.9% to approximately
RMB309.6 million, or 9.3% of revenue for the Review Year, from
approximately RMB187.8 million, or 13.6% of revenue for last year.
The increase in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to
an increase in staff costs as a result of granting share options and
increased management staff by approximately RMB74.3 million as
compared to last year.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the Review Year was approximately RMB110.5
million (2016: approximately RMB216.1 million). This equates to
approximately 3.3% and approximately 15.7% of revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Profit attributable to Shareholders of the Company for
the year

As a combined effect of the above, during the Review Year,
our Group recorded a profit attributable to Shareholders of
approximately RMB22.7 million, as compared to a profit of
approximately RMB27.1 million for last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEN W N DA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources
Shareholders’ Funds

Total Shareholders’ funds amounted to approximately RMB3,525.8
million as at 31 March 2017, as compared to approximately
RMB2,975.3 million at 31 March 2016, representing an increase of
18.5%.

Financial Position

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB4,690.9 million (31 March 2016: RMB3,125.4 million) comprising
cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB172.7 million (31
March 2016: RMB124.7 million), and current liabilities of RMB4,863.3
million (31 March 2016: approximately RMB1,903.9 million). The
Group's current ratio (defined as current assets divided by current
liabilities) was 1.0 (31 March 2016: 1.6).

Our gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of interest-bearing
loan to total assets, was at 31.0% as at 31 March 2017 as compared
to 25.2% as at 31 March 2016.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

As at 31 March 2017, our Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB172.7 million (31 March 2016: approximately
RMB124.7 million), most of which were denominated in Renminbi.

Bank Borrowings

Our Group had interest-bearing bank borrowings of approximately
RMB3,120.4 million (31 March 2016: RMB1,324.8 million). Of these
borrowings, approximately RMB3,086.4 million (31 March 2016:
approximately RMB1,317.2 million) were secured by the Group's
assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEN W N DA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Capital Expenditure

The Group’s capital expenditure represents additions to investment
properties, property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments totalling approximately RMB4,418.5 million (2016:
RMB1,179.4 million).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on listed bond
instruments, held for trading instruments, bank balances and cash,
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, bill payables
and borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The
Directors will ensure that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Except also disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2017.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Meng Guang Bao (% & & % %), aged 44, joined our Company
and has been appointed as an Executive Director and the Chairman of
the Board of the Company in September 2014. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in law from BBFE T K2 (Harbin Institute of Technology) in
the PRC. Mr. Meng is a substantial shareholder and president of the
EFEE(EO)BER2AE (Huajun Enterprise (Ying Kou) Co. Ltd.) and
a senior partner of E ZE ZE F A i = % P (Liaoning Huajun Law Firm)
since 1998. Mr. Meng had been honoured by &4 A]JAEE (Liaoning
Provincial Department of Justice) as 3XBA{2AM (Civilised Lawyer) in 2003.

Mr. Wu Jiwei (R#{E %), aged 45, joined our Company and has
been appointed as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer in September 2014. Mr. Wu is also a member of Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee. He is also a director of
Hareon Solar Technology Co., Ltd, the share of which is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600401), He also serves as
the chairman of the Board of Huajun Partners Limited (FEE IR E
ESEE (ORYI) BR2AR]). He holds a Master’'s Degree in Investments
and Economics from R REILEKE (Central University of Finance
and Economics, formerly known as R RIS BT (Central
Finance and Economics College)) in the PRC. He was a deputy
general manager of the non-performing asset investment division of
Bank China Group Investment Limited for the period from February
2010 to July 2014.

Ms. Guo Song (E8#E5E %), aged 61, joined our Company and has
been appointed as an Executive Director and the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer in September 2014. He holds a bachelor’'s degree
in engineering from &E[GEEKE (Shenyang Jianzhu University
and formerly known as EEZE TR 2/ (Liaoning School of
Architectural Engineering)) in the PRC. Mr. Guo has over 10 years
of extensive management experience in banking and securities
investment.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zheng Bailin (BB#8#t5£ %), aged 71, joined our Company in
September 2014 and has been appointed as our Independent
Non-executive Director. Mr. Zheng is also the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. He holds a
bachelor’'s degree in Spanish. Mr. Zheng was employed by Citicorp
International Limited from 2007 to 2008, with his last position as a
senior adviser of Greater China of China marketing department. Mr.
Zheng worked in Bank of China and was the head of its Shanghai
branch, general manager of Hong Kong Kwangtung Provincial Bank,
managing director of Bank of China, London Branch and general
manager of Bank of China, New York Branch. Mr. Zheng has been
honoured by the Department of State, State of New York, as one
of the recipients of the “Outstanding 50 Chinese Americans in
Business Award” in 2001.

Mr. Shen Ruolei ((LEE5£%), aged 72, joined our Company in
September 2014 and has been appointed as our Independent Non-
executive Director. Mr. Shen is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee. He holds a bachelor’s degree from R B 4&& K EE (Central
University of Finance and Economics (formerly known as H R EJ K
& BB [T (Central Finance and Economics College)). Mr. Shen is
also an independent non-executive director of Powerwell Pacific
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8265). Mr. Shen currently serves as a
chief executive officer of an enterprise established in the PRC which
involves in managing investments. Mr. Shen has extensive experience
in the banking industry. He was the head of Shanghai branch of
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China from June 1992 to June
1997. He was a director of Shanghai Commercial Bank and Bank
of Shanghai from March 1999 to May 2012 and from April 2005 to
April 2013 respectively. Mr. Shen was also the general manager and
chairman of the board of directors of Shanghai United International
Investment Ltd. from September 1998 to February 2012.

Mr. Pun Chi Ping ((E&F %), aged 50, joined our Company
in October 2010 and has been appointed as our Independent
Non-executive Director. Mr. Pun is also the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Pun is also an
independent non-executive director of Birmingham Sports Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2309) and EPI (Holdings) Limited (stock
code:689) respectively. He holds a Master’s degree of Science in
Finance and a Bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy, both from
the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Pun is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Pun has extensive experience in corporate finance, accounting
and auditing. Mr. Pun currently acts as the Financial Controller of
Poly Property Group Co., Limited (stock code: 119).

g

BNFHITES

BEMEL 715 R-E—HFAANMAERR
BV ELRERBIIFNITES - BELETA/RR
AFMEREe TEMBHREGRERZES
ZRE - B AOMFERE L8N - BhEm—
ZTLEE_TT)/\FAERERTRERERAD
Bl BRAISRBA ST EHB AP ERSR
B - EEABERDBIRT - BEEE BT
IR BEERERITHARLE - FERTHRAS
TEFERLENRPBERTANDITERERE - B
ER BT —FRALIMNMN ISR R [50h 4
HEBFORREI/REL— -

LEEFLEE 72 R-ZE—EFLAMAKR
RV ERTEABILIERTES - LEETAR
HREEEZEIFREREBNZESRTMNEES 2K
B o FIEHFAPRMECREB(FIBPRIKSRE
Bt)B1 B - MEENMABLERFFEEER
Nl (RS « 8265) MBI IENITES © ILk
£ B AT —BEFR KR BETITRAS
HREBEE - LEERBITEREBELELEH -
BR—AN=ZFNAZ—ANEFSAHME &
EHRRIEBEITEEITAR - R—AANE=
AE-_Z——FHANBNUE-_ZSTRFNASE
—ZE-=FH AR BoREELEEmERT
MEBERTZEE -R—NANANFALAE=E
——FZAHE ARENAPBBEIEERR
NAZBIEIBREESEF ©

BEFRELE S0 R-E—EFTAMNMARR
BIUVELZERBIIFNTES - BELETARR
BB ZBE IERTNEEGRIERZES
ZHKE BEETA R READREERERA
(MRS - 2309) REBER(ZER)ERAF
(BRI : 8 HBUIFRNTES - BIFAEE
BETASeRPBBBETBUNEHBENEL
B - BEERFTLAREAMASEREER
ARG AEEE - BEENLERE - &5t
REFHRAERZRR  BAERKETRIER
SEARAR DRI - 1190 TEHEES -

HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017



BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zeng Hongbo (BALK £4), aged 39, is the Assistant Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. He holds a Master’s degree in
civil and commercial law from FREIBIEAEZ (China University of
Political Science & Law) in the PRC. Mr. Zeng is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Zeng worked
in Bank of China Group Limited for the period from March 2011 to
December 2014, holding his last position as a senior manager of the
assets management division. He joined our Company in December
2014.

Mr. Chan Wing Hang (BfK185£4), aged 39, is the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. He graduated
from the University of Hull in January 2012 with a degree of Master
of Business Administration (MBA) and from the City University of
Hong Kong (B MAZ) in November 1999 with a degree of
Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy. Mr.
Chan is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chan was Company Secretary and Chief
Financial Officer of several listed companies. He has extensive
experience in accounting, corporate finance, compliance, company
secretarial, investor relations and initial public offerings. He joined
our Company in December 2015.

Ms. Zhang Ye (FREEZ £), aged 42, is the Chief Investment Officer
of the Company. Ms. Zhang also serves as a Chief Executive Officer
of Huajun Capital Limited (FEZEAAFR AR and Huajun Partners
Limited (FEZEREREESEE ORY]) BBR2A7]). She holds a Master's
degree of Finance from Peking University and an MBA degree from
the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania. Ms. Zhang has
extensive investment experience and has been working in both the
public and private investment fields for over a decade. Ms. Zhang
has worked at MatlinPatterson Global Opportunities Fund, Bank of
China Group Investment Limited and China Merchants Securities
(HK) Co., Limited. She joined our Company in October 2014.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEREE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) believes that
good corporate governance practices are increasingly important for
maintaining and promoting the confidence of the Shareholders. The
Company is committed to ensuring a high standard of corporate
governance. The Board will review the corporate governance
practices of the Group from time to time to ensure that they
reflect the latest development and meet the expectations of the
Shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the "CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) for the Review Year,
except for the deviations of code provision of the CG Code as
expressed below.

Code Provision A.6.7

Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, it is required that
independent non-executive directors and other non-executive
directors, as equal board members, should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
Shareholders. Two independent non-executive Directors of the
Company were unable to attend the Company’s annual general
meeting held on 17 August 2016 (the "AGM”) due to their
engagement in other business commitment. Other Directors,
including members of the audit, remuneration and nomination
committees, attended the AGM and were available to answer
questions to ensure effective communication with the Shareholders.

Code provision E.1.2

Under code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, it was required
that the chairman of the Board should attend the AGM of the
Company. Mr. Meng Guang Bao, the chairman of the Board did
not attend the AGM due to his engagement in a land bidding in
Minhang District, Shanghai, the PRC (for more details, please refer
to the announcements dated 17 August 2016, 19 August 2016, 7
September 2016 and 29 September 2016) at the relevant time.
Mr. Wu Jiwei, the chief executive officer and executive Director of
the Board, has taken the chair of that meeting and was available
to answer questions to ensure effective communication with the
Shareholders.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviations, the Company considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting
than those in the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEREE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the Review Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for establishing strategic directions,
setting objectives and business plans and monitoring business
performance. The management is responsible for the day-to-day
management and operations of their respective individual business
units.

The Board has established a schedule of matters specifically
reserved to the Board for its decisions and those reserved for the
management. The Board reviews this schedule from time to time to
ensure that it remains appropriate to the needs of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 3 Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Meng Guang Bao (Chairman), Mr. Wu
Jiwei (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Guo Song (Deputy Chief
Executive Officer) and 3 Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zheng Bailin, Mr. Shen Ruolei and Mr. Pun Chi Ping. The
biographical details of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Biography of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 15 to 17 of this annual report. The list of Directors and their
respective role and function are currently available on the Group's
website at http://www.huajunholdings.com and on HKEx's website
at http://www.hkex.com.hk.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company pursuant to which each of
them is appointed for service with the Company for a period of one
year or two years. The appointment shall be automatically renewed
for successive terms of one year or two years unless terminated by
either party in writing prior to the expiry of the term.

The broad spectrum of background of the independent Non-
executive Directors is valuable on the diversified perspectives
in the Board. They come from diverse business and professional
backgrounds. They have experiences in general management to
professional knowledge, from PRC business to global enterprise. All
of them have proven experiences in forming corporate strategies,
risk management and corporate governance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEREE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation in writing of his
independence and is satisfied that each of them continues to be
independent in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The Company will provide a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction to each newly appointed Director on his/her first
appointment in order to enable him/her to have appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Directors are continually updated on developments in
the statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. The Company
has provided timely technical updates, including the briefing on the
amendments on the Listing Rules and the news release published
by the Stock Exchange to the Directors. Continuing briefing
and professional development for Directors are arranged where
necessary.

During the Review Year, all Directors proactively participated in
continuous professional training including the professional training
provided by the Company and developed and updated their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remained comprehensively informed and relevant.

The full Board meets no less than four times a year to review,
inter alia, the financial and operational performance of the Group.
Additional Board meetings are held when necessary. Due notice
and Board papers are given to all Directors prior to the meeting
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Code. The Board has
established a procedure to enable Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses. Appropriate insurance
policy and cover for directors have been arranged as well.

There were four regular Board meetings and one annual general
meeting held in the Review Year. The attendance record of each
Director at the regular Board meetings and general meeting is
shown below. All business transacted at the above meetings has
been duly documented and is maintained in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.
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EEREE

Attendance of Attendance of

Directors full Board meetings general meeting
HEESS HERRKS

BE 2REBRY E 8

Executive Directors:

HITEE -

Mr. Meng Guang Bao (Chairman) 4/4 0/1

HEERE(EE)

Mr. Wu Jiwei 4/4 11

RuBreE

Mr. Guo Song 4/4 0/1

MERE

Independent Non-executive Directors:

BUFPTEE -

Mr. Zheng Bailin 4/4 0/1

Ly sk St

Mr. Shen Ruolei 4/4 11

MEBLE

Mr. Pun Chi Ping 4/4 0/1

maTRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 pursuant
to the recommendations of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have
been revised by the Board on 27 March 2012. The terms of
reference are currently available on the Group’s website at
http://www.huajunholdings.com and on HKEx's website at
http://www.hkex.com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee now consists of 4 members, namely
Mr. Zheng Bailin, who is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, Mr. Shen Ruolei, Mr. Wu Jiwei and Mr. Pun Chi Ping.
The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Company aims to design a remuneration policy that attracts
and retains executives needed to run the Group successfully and
to motivate executives to pursue appropriate growth strategies
of the Group while at the same time taking into account the
performance of the individuals. The remuneration should reflect,
inter alia, the performance and responsibilities of the individuals;
and the remuneration packages are structured to include salary,
bonus and other benefits to provide incentives to directors and
senior management of the Group and to improve their individual
performance.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include
the formulation and review of the recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration policy as well as the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the Group's
senior management. No Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration.

For the Review Year, the remuneration of individual directors is
disclosed by name in note 13 to the financial statements, while the
remuneration of senior management (comprising of individuals with
biographical details disclosed in the section headed “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management”) is disclosed by bands as
follows:

yMEES(E)

R B & 2 B KB AE B HE L 6 E Medge o 5 A
BRAEEGRMHES  ULRBERTEERAE
SESREEEZENFMETE AEEFHHE
EBMEASEBEEEARS 2 HH -

RAFE  BAREE e 2 KEWRIEImEK
MEE13hiE  MeafERE(AEEFBERIE
EREREEERE ]| —MRE 2 EMNALRE
BB ABERENT -

2017 2016
—E—tF —EREF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A" AH
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7L %4,000,000/8 7T = 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001%8 7T 24,500,000/ 7T = 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7L £ 6,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001%8 7T £ 6,500,000/ 7T 1 -
2 2

The Remuneration Committee met once during the Review Year and HMEE@NAFEERITT —Ag%  FHEE

the work carried out by the Remuneration Committee included the
following:

- reviewed the remuneration policy of the Group; and

- reviewed the specific remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and senior management of the Group for the Review
Year.

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is shown below. All business transacted at the above
meetings has been duly documented and is maintained in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued) FMEEE (&)

Remuneration Committee Members Attendance
FHEEERE HEIRE
Mr. Zheng Bailin (Chairman) 11
EAAME A ()

Mr. Wu Jiwei 171
RIERSTE

Mr. Shen Ruolei 171
LA ERE

Mr. Pun Chi Ping 1/1
AT A

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

On 27 March 2012, the Board established a Nomination Committee
pursuant to the recommendations of the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been
adopted by the Board on 27 March 2012. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are currently available on the Group's
website at http://www.huajunholdings.com and HKEx's website at
http://www.hkex.com.hk.

The Nomination Committee consists of 4 members, namely Mr.
Shen Ruolei, who is the chairman of the Nomination Committee,
Mr. Wu Jiwei, Mr. Pun Chi Ping and Mr. Zheng Bailin. The majority
of the members of the Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors.

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is making
recommendations to the Board on appointment and removal of
directors and management of Board succession.

The Nomination Committee has considered the past performance,
qualification, general market conditions and the Company’'s Bye-
laws in selecting and recommending directors for retirement
rotation. The Nomination Committee resolved that all the existing
Directors should be recommended to remain in office by the
Company. Further, in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Meng Guang Bao and Mr. Shen Ruolei would retire, and being
eligible, would offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Nomination committee met once during the Review Year. At
the meeting, all members of Nomination Committee are present
and performed the work including the following:

- reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- identifying individuals qualified to become board members
and select or make recommendations to the board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

- assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

- recognising the importance of having a broad complement of
skills, experience and professional knowledge on the Board.

The attendance record of each member of the Nomination
Committee in the aforesaid meeting is shown below. All business
transacted at the above meeting has been duly documented and is
maintained in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

37— REH - FERS
RALEITEIEAT 2 T -

- BEEFENORE - RERAK
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- HAEFEAGRBEZONE  EREEX
HMBNEEM

REZBEENU BB EHPEREBZHFCEH

FIANTS - A L EHAETZ —EE EREBEE
FIERIERZBFE -

Nomination Committee Members Attendance
REZEEHE R E
Mr. Shen Ruolei (Chairman) 171
LEBREERE)

Mr. Wu Jiwei 1/1
RigRxE

Mr. Pun Chi Ping 1/1
ERTRE

Mr. Zheng Bailin 1/1
B SE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2004 pursuant to the
recommendations of the CG Code. The Audit Committee is
governed by its terms of reference, which have been revised by the
Board on 31 December 2015. The terms of reference are currently
available on the Group's website at http://www.huajunholdings.com
and on HKEx's website at http://www.hkex.com.hk.

The audit committee comprises 3 Independent Non-Executive
Directors and reports directly to the Board. The audit committee
meets regularly with the Group’s senior management and the
Company’s external auditor to review the financial reporting
and internal control systems of the Group as well as the financial
statements of the Company.

The roles and functions of the Audit Committee include the
review of the financial statements of the Company, the oversight
of corporate governance, financial reporting and internal control
procedures of the Group as well as the review of the Group's
relationship with the external auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee met twice during the Review Year and the
work carried out by the Audit Committee included the following:

- reviewing the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group;

- reviewing the unaudited interim financial report of the Group;

- reviewing and discussed with the Company’s external auditor
in respect of the audit plan for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group;

- reviewing and discussed with the senior management of
the Group and the external auditor of the Company major
accounting, audit and internal control issues;

- reviewing and discussed with the senior management of the
Group the corporate governance practices and compliance

issues of the Group;

- reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external
auditor of the Company;

- monitoring the non-audit services undertaken by the
Company's external auditor or their affiliates; and

- reviewing and approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee
is shown below. All business transacted at the above meetings
has been duly documented and is maintained in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.

EITEEG(E)

FEEZBEERNE ZHELCEEIINT - FIA L
ERETZUER ERBERERIERZ
RIFHE e

Audit Committee Members Attendance
B ZEEEHE R B
Mr. Pun Chi Ping (Chairman) 2/2
ERAFRE(ERE)

Mr. Zheng Bailin 2/2
B SE

Mr. Shen Ruolei 2/2
BB A

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility for the corporate
governance of the Group and reviews its effectiveness, and adopts
all necessary and appropriate actions, to maintain sufficient and
effective corporate governance policy and functions from time to
time. The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the
corporate governance policy and functions to ensure the upheld of
good corporate governance which are of the best interests of the
Shareholders and the Group.

The Audit Committee has, during the Review Year, made
arrangements to review the Group's the policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board,
to review and monitor the policies and practices of the Group on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and to review
the compliance by the Group with the Corporate Governance Code
(Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules) and the disclosure requirements
for the Corporate Governance Report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility for the reviewing internal
control system of the Group and examining its effectiveness,
and to adopt all necessary and appropriate actions, to maintain
sufficient and effective internal control system from time to time.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review, which
covers operational, financial and compliance controls and risk
management functions, in order to maintain an adequate and
effective internal control system to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Directors have, during the Review Year, made arrangements to
review the Group's internal control system as well as the adequacy
of resource, qualification and experience of the staff of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting function. The purpose of the
review was to provide a reasonable assurance on the effectiveness
and efficiency of the Group's operations in achieving the
established corporate objectives, to safeguard the Group's assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records of the Group for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use and for publication,
and to ensure the Group’s compliance with relevant legislation and
regulations.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the Review Year, the Company’s auditor charged the
Company RMB2.6 million for audit services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wing Hang (“Mr. Chan”), the Company Secretary of
the Company, is employed on a full time basis and has taken no
less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training during the
Review Year. Our Company Secretary coordinates and supplies
of information to the Directors. Our Company Secretary ensures
that board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are complied with for all board meetings. The biographical details
of Mr. Chan are set out under the section headed “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” on page 17 of this annual
report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Company for the Review Year, which
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibility of the auditor of the Company is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report from pages 71 to 80 of this
Annual Report.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The objective of communications with Shareholders is to ensure
that the Shareholders, both individual and institutional, and,
in appropriate circumstances, the investment community at
large, are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans,
material developments, governance and risk profile), in order
to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow Shareholders and the investment
community to engage actively with the Company. In this
respect, a written shareholders communication policy has been
established and is currently available on the Group's website at
http://www.huajunholdings.com.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure
Shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include general meetings, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars. The Company’s website offers
a communication channel between the Company and the
Shareholders, and is frequently updated with key information of the
Group.

At the Company’s 2016 AGM, separate resolutions were proposed
by the Chairman in respect of each separate issue, including the re-
election of Directors.

The Company regularly informs the Shareholders of the procedure
for voting by poll and ensures compliance with the requirements
about voting by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the
constitutional documents of the Company. A consolidated
version of the Company’s Memorandum of Association and
Bye-laws is currently available on the Group’s website at
http://www.huajunholdings.com and on HKEx's website at
http://www.hkex.com.hk. There is no significant change in the
Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws during the
Review Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening of Special General Meeting
("SGM") on requisition of Shareholders

M

The Directors of the Company, notwithstanding anything
in the Company’s Bye-laws shall, on the requisition of
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up
capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company, forthwith
proceed duly to convene a special general meeting of the
Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place
of business at, 36th Floor, Champion Tower, 3 Garden
Road, Central, Hong Kong. Such requisition may consist of
several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

The requisition will be verified with the Company’s Share
Registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition is
proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board
to include the resolutions in the agenda for the SGM. And such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

If the directors do not within twenty-one days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.

A meeting convened under this section by the requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with contact information of
the enquirers and submitted to the Company Secretary at the
Company's principal place of business at 36th Floor, Champion
Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act, any number of Shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates or not less than
one hundred Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to:

(a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and

(b) circulate to Shareholders of the Company entitled to have
notice of any general meeting send to them any statement of
not more than one thousand words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition must be deposited to the Company not less than six
weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in case of
any other requisitions.

CONCLUSION

The Board believes that the quality and standard of corporate
governance reflects the quality of the management and the
operations of the Group's business. Good corporate governance
can safeguard the proper use of the Group’s assets and effective
allocation of the Group's resources as well as protecting the
interests of the Shareholders. The management is committed to
advocating good practice in corporate governance and will strive to
maintain, strengthen and improve the standard and quality of the
corporate governance of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
Huajun Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively refer to as the “Group”) for the Review Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. It consists
of 8 businesses which are aggregated into 5 reportable segments
based on similar economic characteristics, the nature of the
products and production processes, end-use markets, channels
of distribution and regulatory environment. The Company’s
reportable segments are Printing, Trading and Logistics, Property
Development and Investments, Solar Photovoltaic and Financial
Services. The Company includes business not included in the
reportable segments,such as industrial equipment in Others.

A review of the business of the Group during the Review Year, a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group's
business are set out under the section headed “"Management
discussion and analysis” in this annual report.

The analysis of the geographical segments of the operations of the

Company and its subsidiaries during the year is set out in note 7 to
the financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit/loss of the Group for the Review Year and the state of the
Company's and the Group's affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 84 and 256 to 257.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
(2016: Nil) for the Review Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to RMB253,000.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

EEMARZEZBERERARA(ARA ) EE
KA R (e hl [ AR B D RAF E N FRERL
BT R AP BE|ME

FEER

ARRR—HREERAR - RHXENIRER
ZRUNKERE  EmOEENREEBRRE
Bmmis  DIEREREERE  HRAERS
DEB o ARRNIME D ERER - BH MR -
MEHRIIRE  KGRAARERRE - AR
AN BREERS D BRNRE (FIIn TERE)
FIAEAM o

AEBERAFENEFLE  ARBE@EENEE
JaR\ B T AT~ T S 1M 0 AT o DA B 7S R B 2R TS SR R AT B
BROREZENAFHR[EEBAHB RN —
i e

AR REMBRAVRE NG L0ED BHH
BRI RAM T -

B Rk

AEERNAFEAEN, BANKAARAEE

B R BRI R & B B B R F81 584
N256% 257 & °

RE

EEgUERBINRAFEZRPRE(ZF
—REE) -

BEBI

AEBRFARANEZBRAARE253,0007T ©




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries at 31 March 2017 and 2016
are set out in note 51 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 260 to 261.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers during the year is
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as follows:
%
Sales HE
Five largest customers in aggregate hRE B 15.6%
The largest customer RARF 5.2%
Purchases i
Five largest suppliers in aggregate TR JE 7 42 AN 20.4%
The largest supplier RAHER 5.3%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or
any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interests as
defined in the Listing Rules in these major customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties during the year are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set
out in note 38 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 85
and note 52 to the financial statements respectively.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group at 31 March 2017 are set out
in note 35 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors:

Mr. Meng Guang Bao (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Jiwei
Mr. Guo Song

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zheng Bailin
Mr. Shen Ruolei
Mr. Pun Chi Ping

In accordance with the Bye-laws 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Meng Guang Bao and Shen Ruolei will retire by rotation from office
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the directors’ remuneration of the Company are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions are as follows:

Acquisition of a subsidiary from a company indirectly controlled
by Mr. Meng, the chairman of the Board of Directors and an
executive director of the Company, is disclosed in note 45(a) to
the consolidated financial statements. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 22 December 2016. The
acquisition was completed on 30 March 2017.

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF
THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF
THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

Interests of Directors and chief executive

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions
of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the
shares or underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO") which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which he was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Interests in the Shares RER Gz #Em
Approximate
percentage of
interests in the
issued share
Number of capital of
Director Nature of interests Shares the Company
{H2 A F]
ERITRAER
-3 ERHE R EE ZBABE DL
Mr. Meng Guang Bao Interest in controlled corporation®ete 4,102,215,929 (L) 67.61%
HEELRE FFr 2 ) 2 [ 1 g 2 (M1 1)
Beneficial owner 383,853,513 (L) 6.33%
BB A
Share Options 38,735,070 (L) 0.64%
BB
Mr. Wu Jiwei Interest in controlled corporation®ete2 133,264,500 (L) 2.20%
RIERTE FFT 122 6] 2 (3] ) g s (1422
Beneficial owner 264,000 (L) 0.004%
EmHEA A
Share optionsMete 65,121,441 (L) 1.07%
E\%H&&é(ﬂﬂiﬁ)
Mr. Guo Song Share optionsMete4 53,791,468 (L) 0.89%
I 8 i g )
Mr. Zheng Bailin Share optionsMete 6,512,137 (L) 0.11%
B AR A S i g (as)
Mr. Shen Ruolei Share optionsMete 6,512,137 (L) 0.11%
LEELE B [ g (as)
Mr. Pun Chi Ping Share optionsMete 6,512,137 (L) 0.11%
ERF A B A A (ko)

The letter "L" denotes a long position in the Shares.
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF

THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF

THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

Interests of Directors and chief executive (Continued)

Interests in the Shares (Continued)
Notes:

1. 4,048,644,500 Shares are held by Huajun International Limited (“HIL").
The entire issued share capital of HIL is beneficially owned by Huajun
Real Estate (Gaoyou) Co., Ltd.* CEZE X (HE)ER A7) which is wholly-
owned by Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.* CEEEHX(EH)ABRA
A]). Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.* CEZE X (&0 )ERAF) was
owned as to 97.0% by Mr. Meng Guang Bao (“Mr. Meng”) and 3.0% by Ms.
Bao Le (“Ms. Bao"), respectively. 53,571,429 Shares are held by Jian Xing
International Group Limited (“Jian Xing"”), which is indirectly wholly-owned
by Mr. Meng. Mr. Meng was deemed to be interested in all Shares held by
HIL and Jian Xing by virtue of the SFO.

2. 133,264,500 Shares are beneficially owned by Forest Tree Limited, which
in turn was wholly-owned by Mr. Wu, an executive Director. Mr. Wu was
deemed to be interested in all 133,264,500 Shares held by Forest Tree
Limited by virtue of the SFO.

3. A total of 65,121,441 share options have been granted to Mr. Wu Jiwei
("Mr. Wu"). For further details of the said share options granted, please
refer to the announcements dated 16 February 2015, 30 June 2015 and 7
February 2017.

4. A total of 53,791,468 share options have been granted to Mr. Guo. For
further details of the said share options granted, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 16 February 2015, 30 June 2015 and
7 February 2017.

5. A total of 6,512,137 share options have been granted to each of Mr. Zheng
Bailin, Mr. Shen Ruolei and Mr. Pun Chi Ping. For further details of the said
share options granted, please refer to the announcements dated 30 June
2015 and 7 February 2017.
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF
THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF Y 5 .
THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING BROLEEEPEE2BEZR
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY HARE (&)

OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

Interests in shares in associated corporations REEEERD ZER
Amount of
registered Approximate
capital/ percentage
number of interest in the

shares held in

capital of the

the associated associated

Associated corporation corporation  Capacity corporation

iR EE iR

2B ELE, e

L E E= FREROHE 56 ZBNBEDTL

Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Mr. Meng RMB100,000,000 Beneficial owner 97%
Co., Ltd.* Noted mEAE AER®100,000,000c Ezm#EBA

EREE(ED)ARAT) M

Jian Xing International Mr. Meng USD1.00  Beneficial owner 100%

Limited (Note® mRE 1.00€1T ERm#EEA

AR A T e

5. HIL and Huajun Real Estate (Gaoyou) Co., Ltd.* ((EE B (R ) HRAR])
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.* (&
EEBX(ED)ERAR).

6. Jian Xing is wholly-owned by Jian Xing International Development Limited,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Jian Xing International Limited.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed above, none of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares (“Shares”), underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have such under provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section
352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS Bi5E S KA S %
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND THE ZhR 21&"\&}

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as was known to the
Directors, the following persons, other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company, had an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
and section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, or were directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of

share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general

meetings of the Company:

NEBRERATEE  REZRM - A2AE
FRFETHABMUINZ ATRAERRZ D
RGP EERIEES R EIEHIEXVERE2
K35 E NG R F336IEH IR E AR AR R HE
ZRERAR  REENMEESH BERNER
EBEATRAARRRARS EHE 2 AR
AEEZ10%8 A _FEHERS ¢

Approximate
percentage
of interests

in the issued

share capital

of the
Company as
at the Latest

Practicable
Name of Shareholders Number of Shares Capacity Date
EREEER
AT AEARAF
ERITRAER
BRERERE BROBE &% ZHMHYBE I
Bao Le 4,524,804,512 (L) Interest held by spouse (Note (a)) 74.58%
ik d BB RSB 2z (fYit(a))
HIL 4,048,644,500 (L) Beneficial owner 66.73%
EFER EnEAA
Huajun Real Estate (Gaoyou) 4,048,644,500 (L) Interest of controlled corporation 66.73%
Co., Ltd.* (Note (a))
EZEZEXE(SH)ABRAF Frizs) =B M s
(KtzE(@a)
Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) 4,048,644,500 (L) Interest of controlled corporation 66.73%
Co., Ltd.* (Note (a))
EEFEE(EOD)ARARA Frizsl=BER s
(KtaE(a))
Mr. Meng 4,102,215,929 (L)  Interest of controlled corporation 67.61%
Fabtas (Note (a))
Frize il A B i e
(KtaE(a))
383,853,513 (L) Beneficial owner 6.33%
EnlEE A
38,735,070  Share Options 0.64%
fERR
38 : HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Note:

(a) 4,048,644,500 Shares are held by HIL. The entire issued share capital of HIL
is beneficially owned by Huajun Real Estate (Gaoyou) Co., Ltd.* ((EE &
¥ (3®)BMR AT which is wholly-owned by Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou)
Co., Ltd.* (EEFE X (& 0O) AR A A). Huajun Enterprise (Yingkou) Co.,
Ltd.* CEREHE(Z0)ABRAE]) was owned as to 97.0% by Mr. Meng and
3.0% by Ms. Bao, respectively. 53,571,429 Shares are held by Jian Xing,
which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Meng. Mr. Meng was deemed to
be interested in all Shares held by HIL by virtue of the SFO. Madam Bao
Le, being a spouse of Mr. Meng, was also deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by HIL, Jian Xing and Mr. Meng.

The letter “L" denotes a long position in the shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none
of the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company was aware
of any other person (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) or corporation which had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 and section
336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT
CONTRACTS

Save as set out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its
holding company or subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Review
Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on
28 September 2007. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the
Company with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to Executive
or Non-executive Directors including Independent Non-executive
Directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-time) of
each member of the Group (the “Participants”) and for such other
purpose as the Board may approve from time to time. The Scheme
shall remain valid and effective until 27 September 2017.

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the date of adoption of the Scheme, unless approved
by Shareholders and which must not in aggregate exceed
30% of the total number of the relevant class of securities of
the Company in issue from time to time. The total number of
Shares available for issue under the Scheme is 606,692,008
Shares.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options (including both exercised and
outstanding options) granted pursuant to the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company to each of the
Participants in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of the relevant class of securities of the Company
(or its subsidiaries) in issue.

The exercise price shall be solely determined by the Board,
and shall be at least the highest of: (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of offer of the share option to the Participants,
which must be a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on
which licenced banks are open for business in Hong Kong
and the Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in
securities (the "Business Day”); (b) the average closing price
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five Business Days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the share option to the
Participants; and (c) the nominal value of the Shares.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(iv) A share option may be exercised at any time during a period
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and
notified by the Board to each grantee the period during which
an option may be exercised and in any event, such period shall
not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which any
particular option is granted in accordance with the Scheme.

(v)  There is no minimum period for which a share option must
be held before the share option can be exercised unless
otherwise determined by the Board.

(vi)  According to the Scheme, the offer of a grant of share options
may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, HK$1
is payable by each of the Participants to the Company on
acceptance of the share options as consideration for the grant.
The share options to which the offer relates shall be deemed
to have been granted on the date of offer of such share
options.

As at 31 March 2017, the number of share options have been
granted and remained outstanding under the Scheme was
580,199,863 (2016: 216,341,589) representing approximately 9.56%
(2016: 3.82%) of the Company in issue at that date.

Details of share options granted during the year under the Scheme
are as follows:

BRESTEI(E)

vy BERENCEFSREBHRNBEEERE
EEAMSEREBREALTABZER
RERTTEBAMR E rp A T AT
MERT » FEHETSHEBIREZTE
PRESE A5 E R A 2 B EEH10%F -

(v BREFSRTEEIN  BEREBBRER
TITERT VAR A BRE 2 REHR -

(vi) BREZFE SR2RECRRBRES
BEF 28RN M AE 2 X TR ERA
RAXNVET - FRETHRE - BZE
THENBREREGSEE L ARER
BEADEERT -

RZZTE—+tF=A=+—0 ' REZFIEHRTY
BAREITE 2 BERESE £580,199,8631% (=
— N 1 216,341,58917)  IEAR RN E HE #
ITHERRIEHI9.56%( —F— N : 3.82%) °

FARBZEER N 2 BIREFIBOT ¢
Share

closing price
immediately

Date of grant Exercise Period Exercise Price before grant date
RERHAY

RHAH TES TEE ZBRHWHE
HK$ per share HK$ per share

BB FRET

7 February 2017 7 February 2017 to 6 February 2027 0.78 0.66
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The movement of share options under the Scheme during the

Review Year is presented as follows:

BT 8 ()
FERZHBIET 2 BREEH 25T -

Number of share options

BREHE
At Granted Exercised Forfeited At
1 April during during during 31 March
2016 the year the year the year 2017
R=ZZ—RF R=B—tHF
MA—H FARE FRITE FrRERK =A=+—H
Directors )
Meng Guang Bao HESE - 38,735,070 - - 38,735,070
Wu Jiwei RUE 26,386,371 38,735,070 - - 65,121,441
Guo Song EI 26,386,371 27,405,097 = - 53,791,468
Zheng Bailin EBFAR 2,638,637 3,873,500 = = 6,512,137
Shen Ruolei e E 2,638,637 3,873,500 - - 6,512,137
Pun Chi Ping &aF 2,638,637 3,873,500 - - 6,512,137
Sub Total /INEF 60,688,653 116,495,737 - - 177,184,390
Employees == 155,652,936 247,362,537 - - 403,015,473
Total MeET 216,341,589 363,858,274 - - 580,199,863
Notes: Biaz
(@)  The share options granted to directors and employees are vested (a) BFEERES ZBERENRDESENEES -

immediately upon granting.

(b)  The share options granted to Mr. Meng on 7 February 2017 was approved
and ratified on 16 March 2017.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the Scheme as disclosed above, at no time during the
year was the Company, any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-laws, although there is no restriction against such rights under
Bermuda Law.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SHARES

During the Review Year, the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the shares.
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USE OF PROCEEDS IN FUND RAISING

ACTIVITIES

The Company has conducted the following fund raising activities for

the year ended 31 March 2017:

Net proceeds

SERHMEREAR

RAREBEC
T’i'J%ﬁ/ﬁ@J

—tEF=ZA=t+ L FEEHET

Date of announcements Fund raising activities (approximately) Intended use of proceeds Actual use of proceeds
RNERH £47E9 FETEFRAMRN) FMERERERR FIERERR AR
30 May 2016 and Issue of convertible bonds HK$200 million Repayment of loans, general investment ~ All used as intended
8 June 2016 of an aggregate principal and working capital
amount of HK$200 million
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5July 2016 and 8 July 2016 Issue of convertible bonds of  HK$100 million Repayment of loans, general investment Al used as intended
and aggregate principal and working capital
amount of HK$100 million
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8 July 2016 and 28 July 2016 Placement of 397,900,000 HK$302 million (i) approximately HK$50 million for (i) HK$5.2 million used for
shares increase in the registered capital and increase in the registered
working capital of the Company's capital of the Company's
fund management subsidiaries in the fund management
PRC and overseas; subsidiaries in the PRC
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(i)

(iii)

BB ESERMBAR  EME
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approximately HK$20 million for a
potential acquisition of a company
which is a licensed corporation to
carry on business in type 1, type 4
and type 9 regulated activities under
the SFO;

HNBEBLAE-RAR 2 ERENR
B8 (RREERRARADITE
1818 FUBREEIAEEDL
Mf%‘i/il)

approximately HK$120 million for the
increase in the registered capital and
working capital of the Company's
fuels and chemicals logistic company
in Shanghai;
MNBEETREENARTR L
LB EACBRR AR EMER
REESS

approximately HK$60 million for a
potential project of the Company's
finance lease business; and
NORBATRIEARARERER
B2EEER R

approximately HK$52 million for
the general working capital of the
Company.
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Not yet utlised

HAZA

HK$120 million used as
intended

1208EETREBA

HK$60 million used as
intended

SOAERTE DA

HK$52 million used as
general working capital
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EEEHREE

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 39
to the financial statements.

STAFF

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had a total staff of 3,444 (2016:
3,527).

The Group provides employee benefits such as staff insurance,
retirement schemes and discretionary bonus and also provides in-
house training programmes and external training sponsorship.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of
the Company’s issued share capital as required under the Listing
Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2017 have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
Meng Guang Bao
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2017
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is pleased to publish its first “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”to share its progress in promoting sustainable
development with internal and external stakeholders.

This report, which mainly focuses on the key measures and activities
of the Group for the Review Year, is prepared in accordance with
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
(the "ESG Guide") under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and
satisfied the “comply or explain” and “recommended disclosures”
provisions of the ESG Guide.

The Group is committed to maintaining long-term and sustainable
business development as well as supporting environmental
protection and the communities where its operations are located.
The Group manages its business with caution and provides
premium products and services to customers based on reasonable
decision making. By keeping close contact with all stakeholders,
including shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, creditors,
regulatory institutions and the public, and through constructive
communication, the Group strives to strike a balance between the
views and interests of these stakeholders, thereby setting its long-
term development direction. The Board is responsible for assessing
and identifying the environmental, social and governance risks
of the Group and ensuring proper and effective operation of the
relevant risk management and internal control systems.

Dongguan New Island Printing Company Limited (“Dongguan
New Island”) is @ major subsidiary of Huajun Holdings Limited. The
company is principally engaged in the sale and manufacturing of
high quality multi-colour packaging products, carton boxes, books,
brochures and various paper products, which are all closely related
to environmental, social and governance issues. Therefore, this
report mainly describes the policies and performance of Dongguan
New Island in three environmental areas and eight social areas
during the Review Year.

EMISSIONS

In order to fully implement the State’s environmental protection
guidelines, policies, laws and regulations and to comprehensively
improve the standard of independent environmental management,
the Group has established a comprehensive environmental
management system in accordance with laws and regulations
including the “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC”, the
"Prevention and Control of the Solid Waste Pollution Law of the
PRC"” and the "Energy Conservation Law of the PRC".
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EMISSIONS (Continued)

Dongguan New lIsland has formulated and implemented the
“Environmental, Health and Safety Inspections and Measurement
Control Procedures” to handle the emission of waste gases and
greenhouse gases. Under such procedures, the administrative
department is responsible for carrying out regular air inspections at
sites which use chemical products, each workshop and kitchen on a
yearly basis. Analysis will be conducted on failed results and further
inspection will be arranged after improvement until the results are
up to standard.

Dongguan New lIsland has not used gas fuels such as coal gas
or LPG during the Review Year. Dongguan New Island owns 11
vehicles, which are mainly used by the management for picking up
customers or attending outdoor meetings and also by Hong Kong
staff for daily travel or business purposes. Emissions from these
vehicles include nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx) and
respirable suspended particulates (RSP, also known as Particulate
Matter (PM)); the total emissions are 1,113kg, 2 kg and 95kg,
respectively.

In order to regulate the operation, management and maintenance
of sewage treatment facilities, the Group has formulated and
implemented the”Environmental Factors Identification and
Evaluation Procedures” to ensure that the sewage treatment
stations are safe, stable, free from interruption and up to
the emission standards. Dongguan New Island has obtained
the”Discharge Permit” issued by Dongguan Environmental
Protection Bureau since 2011; its sewage emission meets the
national pollutants emission standards. Dongguan New Island has
also set up independent sewage treatment equipment, including
sewage treatment system and sewage treatment pool.
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EMISSIONS (Continued)

In the printing workshops of Dongguan New Island, the waste
gases generated from the production lines are treated after
passing through the independent waste gases pipelines for central
collection.

Concerning the handling of the hazardous wastes produced, the
Group has formulated and implemented the “Wastes Management
Guidelines” in accordance with the “Prevention and Control of the
Solid Waste Pollution Law of the PRC” and the actual condition
of Dongguan New lIsland to prevent wastes from polluting the
environment, reduce the amount of wastes produced and apply
innocuous treatment to treat wastes.

The management of wastes complies with the principles of “Sort
out and recycle, centralised storage and standardised treatment”.
The wastes of Dongguan New Island are categorised into the
followings based on their nature,: (i) hazardous wastes; (ii) recyclable
wastes; and (iii) general wastes. Through using raw materials, semi-
finished goods and finished goods in a reasonable way, wastage
has been cut down and the amount of wastes generated during the
manufacturing process has been reduced. The wastes produced
by each department during each stage of the manufacturing
process are stored in the relevant storage barrels according to their
categories.
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EMISSIONS (Continued)

With respect to the production of non-hazardous wastes,
Dongguan New Island has formulated and implemented the
“Wastes Treatment Working Guidelines” to maintain environmental
hygiene, promote environmental protection and regulate wastes
management within its industrial plants. The administrative
department separates wastes generated by each department
according to their categories and disposes of them at the rubbish
dumping areas. The administrative department will then notify
the wastes purchasers to collect the recyclable wastes with fees
based on different categories of wastes. For hazardous wastes, the
recycling process must be handled by qualified and professional
waste recycling companies arranged by the Environmental Safety
and Health Department. Each department of Dongguan New Island
is required to classify wastes and place them at the designated
areas at each time of disposal and is prohibited to mix different
types of wastes, in particular recyclable wastes, together.
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EMISSIONS (Continued)

As the harm of volatile organic compounds (VOC) is obvious, when
the concentration of VOC reaches a specific level, they would, to
a certain extent, affect human health. Hence, the Group intends
to launch its VOC Reduction Projects in the second half of 2017 to
reduce the impact on all employees and the ecosystem.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Review Year, there has been no material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations relating to waste gas and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes that have a
significant impact on the Group. In addition, no significant fine or
non-monetary sanction has been imposed on the Group due to the
non-compliance of laws and regulations during the Review Year.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group is committed to reducing the impact of its business
activities on the environment and supporting environmentally
friendly activities. Specifically, the Group launches various resources
conservation measures and enhances employees’ awareness on
energy conservation and emission reduction in order to encourage
them to use resources effectively. As described in the section
headed "Emissions”above, the Group establishes a range of
policies and procedures to ensure more effective use of resources
by the production lines and offices of Dongguan New Island with a
view to reducing consumption of resources.

In order to strengthen the management on reduction of
electricity consumption, Dongguan New Island has formulated
and implemented the”Energy Saving Working Guidelines”. This
initiative is to ensure that power equipment is operated safely
and efficiently and that electricity consumption and conservation
are well regulated to reduce total electricity consumption of the
equipment. Before the Review Year, the lighting systems of all
production lines and areas within the plants have all switched to
light-emitting diode (LED).
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USE OF RESOURCES (Continued)

The security guards of each region within the Dongguan New Island
workshops are responsible for switching on and off the lighting
and air conditioning. Their duty also includes trying to save energy
without any interruption to the normal working environment.
Moreover, they are responsible for switching off the lighting and air
conditioning promptly in regions without any users.

With respect to water conservation management, the cleaners
of each workshop within Dongguan New Island are responsible
for pipeline and plumbing leak check for the whole plant. The
administrative department monitors and prohibits acts of water
wastage.

Dongguan New Island implements measures to reduce the use
of papers. For example, documents and materials for internal use
in our offices must use double-sided printing and copying. The
administrative department conducts monthly surveys on paper
usage and reminds the departments identified for wasting paper to
control their consumption of paper. The department compares the
amount of paper applied by each department every month with the
figures of previous month and demands the relevant department to
explain the reasons for an increased application.

In order to strengthen the management of wastes, Dongguan New
Island has formulated and implemented the “Scrap Treatment
Working Guidelines” to ensure no infringement of customer
product rights while regulating the production of unqualified
products, materials provided by customers and the treatment
method of production wastes.
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group is committed to reducing the impact of the business
activities on the environment and supporting environmental
friendly projects. Moreover, the Group launches various resources
conservation measures and enhances employees’ awareness in
using the resources effectively.

The Group has formulated and implemented the”Environmental
Handbook”to put the principles of reducing resources wastage as
well as recycling and reusing resources into practice. The Group has
obtained 1SO14001:2004 Certificate of Environment Management
System Certification since 2008 and achieved success in several
key areas, such as using FSC®-COC Forest Stewardship Council
certified paper, using lead-free printing ink and controlling the
emission of cleaning solvents. Meanwhile, the Group has developed
the “Greentech” series, with the idea of improving existing design
to make the products more environmentally friendly by reducing the
usage of materials (such as glue, smart glue and simple packaging).
During the design process, the Group encourages the use of
recycled materials and discourages the use of plastic parts in order
to save cost.

The Group has established long-term environmental plans and
persisted in putting continuous effort in improving the standard
of environmental protection, hygiene and safety of the working
environment. The Group works hard on preserving the nature and
the working environment, hence ensuring compliance with laws,
regulations and environmental requirements of the relevant parties.

The Group has formulated and implemented the “Environmental
Factors Identification and Evaluation Procedures” to assess and
improve the environmental impacts brought about by the Group's
products, activities and services, including waste gases, sewage,
noise, wastes, energy, consumption of resources, hazardous
chemicals, etc.
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EMPLOYMENT
Wages and Dismissal

The Group has established and implemented the "Management
Procedures for Wage and Welfare” based on national laws and
regulations and its actual situation to ensure that employees are
properly remunerated and to basically guarantee the efficiency and
sustainable development of the Company as well as putting the
principle of aligning the interests of Dongguan New Island and its
employees into practice.

In order to maintain the competitiveness of employees’ wages in
Dongguan district and in the PRC's printing industry, Dongguan
New Island adopts the strategy-oriented approach through
emphasising on the competitive nature of wages. It assesses the
work ability of new employees and would extend the probation
period or dismiss those who cannot meet job requirements or are
incapable of performing their duties.

Recruitment and Promotion

The Group adheres to the "people-oriented”employment
philosophy by developing and implementing the “Management
Procedure for Human Resources”, which aims at attracting talents
based on the principles of openness, equality, competitiveness and
merit, and prescribes the specific procedures to achieve the above
principles.

In order to enhance the satisfaction of the employees and allow
them to play to their strengths, when there is a vacancy, the
department managers or supervisors would recommend candidates
who meet the requirements of the relevant positions and have
performed well or have relevant work experience or qualifications
from within their departments. After taking competency
assessments, the qualified employees could go to the personnel
department for transfer or promotion.
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EMPLOYMENT (Continued)
Working hours

The Group has developed and implemented the “Management
Procedure for Working Hours and Overtime” which requires
employees to work and leave in accordance with the prescribed
time, and prohibits any lateness, early leave or absenteeism, except
for statutory holidays, business trip, leave with reason or leave for
other legitimate reasons. Employees work five days per week and on
two shifts; the basic working hour is 8 hours per day.

Holidays

The Group cares about the proper balance between work and
rest of its employees and thus it has developed and implemented
the “Management Procedure for Working Hour and Overtime” to
strictly comply with the provisions regarding holidays under the laws
of the places where it operates. Besides, the Group also provides
personal leave, sick leave, work injury leave, paid marriage leave,
paid maternity leave, paid mourning leave and paid official leave.

Equal opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunity to the employees on welfare,
competition for post, evaluation, training and development. No
employee would be discriminated or deprived of the opportunity
due to his or her age, sex, ethnicity, nationality and region, religious
beliefs, political ideology, disease or disability. In order to allow
employees to reflect their opinions and feelings on work issues,
the Group has established several complaint channels (employees’
representatives, opinion box).

Diversity
The Group attaches high importance to the function of diversity in a
corporation, thus hiring employees with diverse backgrounds, such

as, different age, sex, ethnicity, nationality and region, religious
beliefs, political ideas and education backgrounds.
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EMPLOYMENT (Continued)
Anti-discrimination

In order to ensure no discrimination based on sex, nationality or
against ethnic minorities, the Group strictly complies with the
“Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Employment
Contract Law of the People’'s Republic of China” and the “Special
Rules on the Labour Protection of Female Employees”.

Other Treatments and Welfares

In order to motivate and muster the interest and passion of
employees towards their work, and to implement the employment
mechanism featuring selection, competition, motivation and
elimination, the Group has developed and implemented the
“Management Procedures for Wages and Welfares”. Overtime
payments of the employees of Dongguan New Island are calculated
based on their basic salaries. If an employee work overtime on
normal working day, resting day and statutory holidays, their
overtime payments would be made 150%, 200%, 300% of his or
her basic salary respectively. Dongguan New Island provides
allowances and subsidies to employees who perform any special or
extra services and are on a business trip and shift duty. At the end
of each year, Dongguan New Island would provide discretionary
performance reward to employees based on their conducts and
work performances. The dormitory rooms are equipped with basic
furniture with free hot water and drinking water. Recreation and
entertainment facilities in the living quarters, such as reading room,
table tennis room and video room, are regularly open for employees
to use. The Company has followed the requirements of the
Administration of Social Insurance Fund at the places of operation
to purchase social insurance for new employees.
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EMPLOYMENT (Continued)
Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Review Year, there has been no material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations related to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits
and welfare that have a significant impact on the Group. Besides, no
significant fine or sanction has been imposed for failing to comply
with the relevant laws and regulations during the Review Year.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group has always given the highest priority to the health and
safety of employees which could be reflected in all production
processes. Dongguan New Island has developed and implemented
the "Occupational Health and Safety Guide” and established
the corresponding rules to regulate the directions, objectives
and management policies on occupational health and safety
management activities based on the “Occupational Health and
Safety Assessment Series (OHSAS) 18001".

Dongguan New Island has received the OHSAS18001 Occupational
Health and Safety Management System Certification since 2009.
It has established comprehensive guidelines and rules to ensure
employees work in healthy and safe conditions. Dongguan New
Island has also obtained a valid “Certificate of Work Safety
Standardisation” issued by the Association of Work Safety of
Dongguan City valid until October 2017.

The highest decision-making authority on issues related to
occupational health and safety management in Dongguan New
Island is the Environmental Health and Safety Committee, which
comprises the general manager, occupational health and safety
management representatives, employees’ representatives,
safety officers, safety technicians and all department heads. The
committee held a regular meeting every two months to plan and
present performance reports and remedial measures, discuss and
summarise the progress of the health, safety and environmental
initiatives of the whole Group, point out the places that need
rectification, and to propose and implement rectification proposals.
Dongguan New lIsland cares about the occupational health and
safety of the employees and provides training on occupational
safety to the employees regularly.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY (Continued)

Dongguan New Island has formulated and implemented the
"Working Guidelines for Storage of Hazardous Chemicals” to
enhance the purchase, storage, usage and management of
hazardous chemicals by the Group and to prevent hazards like fire
disaster, explosion and environmental pollution. The departments
that use hazardous chemicals must provide necessary education on
the knowledge of hazardous chemicals to the users and keepers,
including employees who store and use hazardous chemicals. The
content of the training includes how to understand the safety points,
labels and the keys for operation of chemicals as set out in the
“Manual of Safety Information of Chemicals”. Regular trainings shall
be conducted once a year for relevant members of staff.

Dongguan New Island has developed and implemented the
“Procedures for Monitoring Environment, Health, Safety and
Measurement Control”. Under such procedures, Dongguan New
Island inspects the operation status of the environment, health
and safety management system, evaluates the performance on
environment, health and safety and provides the basis for improving
the environmental, health and safety management of the Group
through monitoring the key features of operations and activities that
may have a material impact on environment, health and safety. The
Quality Inspection Department would regularly monitor the Group's
environmental factors and key environmental factors, identify
environmental factors and evaluate results, and identify hazards
and evaluate results to clarify the targets, methods and period of
monitoring, etc.

Through health and safety training, the Group ensures that
the employees clearly understand the concept of personal
hygiene as well as cleaning and handling of equipment. Regular
announcements and guidance documents allow employees to
fully understand the potential risks of each task, the dangerous
conditions and risks arising from poor handling. Workers would be
disinfected according to strict procedures before entering the GMP
workshop.

Dongguan New Island provides the necessary protection
equipment at every production workshop or production line, such
as ear defenders and safety shoes, and equips such facilities with
different fire equipment or tools to protect the lives and safety of
employees. The Group inspects the working environment regularly
and any unsafe condition would be reported and investigated.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY (Continued)

REEZZ(E)

Dongguan New Island provides a comprehensive “Occupational
Health Check Report” to the employees once a year. The
report is prepared in accordance with the job positions of the
employees and focuses on the inspection of harming factors of
the positions, such as benzene, noise and dust. The check items
include blood pressure, thyroid, ear, 20 tests on blood samples,
electrocardiography, pure tone audiometry, lung function, etc.

Meanwhile, the Group encourages employees to strike a
balance between work and life and organises and holds
employees’exchange activities, such as employee’s birthday party
and sport competition, on a regular basis.

Complies with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Review Year, there has been no material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards that have a significant impact on the Group. Besides, no
significant fine or sanction has been imposed for failing to comply
with the relevant laws and regulations during the Review Year.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group has developed and implemented the “Management
Procedures for Human Resources”to improve the thinking and
working skills of employees, discover their potential, strengthen
the guidance on their career development and raise the overall
management level of the corporate.

The Human Resources Department develops the employees’
training programmes based on actual needs, which include, (i)
investigating and analysing the needs of employees’ training;
(ii) designs the employees’ training programmes and career
development plans based on the results of the analysis; (iii)
designing and developing the action plans; (iv) applying,
implementing and managing the employees’ training action plans;
and (v) tracing and managing the implementation of the employees’
training action plans.

During the Review Year, the vocational training courses for
existing staff held by the Group include but not limited to the
“Basic Knowledge of Fire Safety Training ”, “Safety Knowledge of
Dangerous Chemicals Training”, “Occupational Health and Work
Injury Prevention Training”,”Special Equipment and Machine Safety
Training”, etc.

LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group strictly complies with the “Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Minors” and thus it strongly opposes
all acts of recruiting child labour and forced labour. The Group
strictly complies with any laws and regulations on child labour
and forced labour. Meanwhile, the Group has developed and
implemented the “Management Procedure for Child Labour and
Minors Labour” to root out minor and forced labour. If any related
situation is found during the recruiting process, the case would be
reported to the related departments.

The Group has developed and implemented the “Management
Procedure for Non-Forced Labour” to protect the labour freedom
of its employees and let them work in a health, safe, jubilant and
self-willing environment which creates a good working atmosphere.
The Group forbids forcible labour policy and management and
establishes various complaint channels (employees’ representatives,
opinion box, etc.) to allow employees to reflect their opinions and
feelings on work issues.
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LABOUR STANDARDS (Continued)

As the Group attaches utmost importance to the development
of human capital, it provides competitive salaries, welfares and
treatments for the employees. The Group takes the personal
performance of the employees as the basis of assessing job
promotion opportunities and salary adjustments. Employees
could also enjoy many different welfares, such as annual leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, personal leave and employees’
medical insurance which abides by local regulations. The Group
has established a complete and comprehensive welfare system,
which provides all-encompassing support to our staff and aims at
retaining talents and taking care of the long-term development of
the employees. The Group has obtained the SA8000 : 2008 Social
Accountability Management Systems Certification since 2009.
SAB8000 is an international social accountability standard which
aims at encouraging organisations to develop, maintain and apply
socially acceptable behaviors in the workplaces.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Review Year, there has been no material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations on forbidding the use of child
or forced labour. Besides, no significant fine or sanction has been
imposed for failing to comply with the relevant laws and regulations
during the Review Year.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group strictly monitors and controls all of its purchase and
manufacturing processes. In view of this, the Group has formulated
and implemented the “Assessment and Management Procedures
for Suppliers” to ensure continuous assessment and standardised
management of new suppliers and processors after review and
delivery of goods. The Group determines whether a supplier meets
its purchase requirements based on comprehensive assessment
covering the management system, production scale, quality
assurance, control of hazardous materials, social responsibility,
environmental protection, hygiene and safety of food, prices,
services, punctuality in delivery, etc.

The Group also requires selected qualified new suppliers to sign a
"Compliance Statement” which is renewable every two years. The
statement requires suppliers to comply with various terms, including
but not limited to (i) social responsibility; (ii) environmental
protection; (iii) management and control of restricted materials; (iv)
GB9685-2008 (Food containers and Packaging Materials Additives
Health Standards); (v) commercial ethics; (vi) anti-terrorism; (vii)
health and safety; and (viii) FSC®-COC Policy.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group undertakes to develop and innovate continuously, insists
in producing safe products and gives top priority to quality during
the manufacturing process. It always adheres to safe manufacturing
standards of different production industries, such as the packaging
of toys, medicine and food. Dongguan New Island has established
GMP certified production workshops and laboratories to ensure that
its products and services are of the highest quality and standard.

The Group pays attention to packaging materials, exposure of
food, hygiene, pollutants and the protection of labels. During
the production process, it always considers the impact on
manufacturing such as the potential risks and factors out of its
control, including changes in environment such as unexpected drop
in temperature and fluctuations in humidity.

Dongguan New Island has obtained the C-TPAT Certification and
ISO9001: 2008 Quality Management System Certification since 2008
and 2009 respectively.

The Group implements its established “Management Procedures
for Products Recall”. If a customer receives a defective product, he/
she can inform the relevant department of the Group to promptly
initiate the recall procedures to ensure that the defective product is
identified and remedial measures are taken to avoid or reduce the
loss to customers and the Group.

The Group has formed the Products Recall Team which comprises
the general manager, Hazards Analysis and Important Control
Measures Team and the persons in charge of the relevant
departments. Recall of products can only be initiated with the
approval of general manager and the team will analyze the reasons
for recall and assess whether it is necessary to order an emergency
recall as well as the proposals for handling the recalled products.

The Group is well aware that customers’ information is highly
confidential and the relevant information is the Group's assets which
are protected by patent, trademark, copyright, business secret and
other regulations. The Group has formulated and implemented
the “Codes on Business Ethics”which provides that confidential
information is only for internal use by the Group for its business
activities and that all employees, agents and contractors shall
protect customers’ information. In order to protect the intellectual
property rights of customers, Dongguan New Island has installed
closed-circuit televisions in its production workshops to monitor
the production processes with a view to ensuring that customer
information is well-protected during the whole process from the
receipt of printed documents to the delivery of finished products.

154
-

'
"

-

= m et

EEAGETHERAFT MBS EERELRE
o WEAELAEREPIAEREERE - KAE
BERERTENLZEERE  NAKR  #
mBELRMEBE - REFMMRAEGMPRER
ENTESHRERERRNSE  SRENE
an MRS

o Bt

AEBIERENF  REEE &4 521D
REEOHERRE  EEEBRRED 85X
ERAMRFENRRMRTE  WRARE
MRERBLETIERRELENTE

HEfINR—_ZEENER-_ZTAEFRL  HHIE
E{SC-TPATEZ KRISO9001 : 2008 E £ &R 2 K

77 23
RRE ©

AEEGEL T CEMEYIZFIERF) - IRF
WA EMHER  BPAARMAEEA B
F - WARRMBEYIERRF - LRI ZENER
BESDT BRI MR - R HER P REEMNIE
%o

AEECRZYERBYNME - REBREAKRE -
BENNTEZEHE NENERAMBFHAEEA - O
W TEmARKIEERM T AIRE - NS ERNKIE
FRREZEERERESNT - FFERREERBE
=EWEEIWEMMEETRS °

AEBEAZEFPEMTIERE  HEEHES
BOME  BXEMN - B1F - REEKBEUES
ERHRE - ARBEHELHIT(RRBEITA
HED)  JIAREENRERIEEEANETHNE
XE® EMET  REBIAEEHSBARE
EFEHN - RREFFPHNAMBERE - R=ME
EEEREHEREMBERNEZEEERRE @ &
PRICUSZ ER 3 1 B 32 55 BB am B 2 (3@ A2 o &9
BRI IR

HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - g RERHE

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)
Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Review Year, there has been no material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations relating to the health and
safety, advertisement, labelling and privacy issues of the relevant
products and services provided and methods of redress that have a
significant impact on the Group. In addition, no substantial penalty
has been imposed on the products of the Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group strictly complies with laws and code of ethics to preserve
the vigour for its long term development. It has developed its own
norms to promote the corporate culture of fairness, justice, integrity
and honesty as well as respecting the people and laws of the places
where its businesses are located.

The Group has formulated and implemented the “Codes on
Business Ethics” covering matters such as bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering to strengthen its anti-corruption efforts in the
regions of business operation. It strictly prohibits employees and
directors of the Group from, directly or indirectly, bribing local and
foreign government officials or employees of companies controlled
by any governmental institutions as well as fiddling records.

The Group shall not, under any circumstance, receive money or
other equivalent properties. The Group prohibits its employees
from extorting or receiving gifts or presents from customers,
cooperating partners or suppliers. It also forbids employees from
giving any valuables which may be considered as bribe or other
illegal compensation.

The Group requires its employees to sign a “Supplemental
Provisions of Labour Contract” when they join the Group. The
provisions forbid employees to accept commercial bribes which
may be considered as serious violation of labour discipline for
which the Group is entitled to dismiss the violators with immediate
effect and without any economic compensations. If material loss is
incurred, the case shall be transferred to the judicial authority for
handling.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION (Continued)

The Anti-Corruption Policies explicitly specify the code of
conducts with which every employees have to comply. The Group
has established a dedicated hotline and email for informants to
report any illegal or fraudulent behaviors to the Board of Directors
in a confidential way. The Group pays efforts to protect the
whistleblower and the dedicated email (clai@newisland.com) is
available in the"”Supplemental Provisions of Labour Contract”. The
Group periodically reviews its business practices, anti-corruption
measures and relevant guidelines as well as investigating the
reported improper acts.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Review Year, the Group and its employees have not been
involved in any lawsuits related to corruption.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

During the Review Year, the Group participated in an internship
and exchange programme in Guangdong Province, offering the
chance for Hong Kong students to take part in 4-week professional
training and exchange activities in Mainland China. The internship
and exchange programme is the first of its kind in the printing
industry and aims at promoting the printing industry among
young people and developing their knowledge and interest in
the industry; through this program, Hong Kong students studying
relevant programmes can have the chance to visit Hong Kong-
owned printing companies in Mainland China, acquire practical
work experience and get to know about the manufacturing process
of printed products.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (Continued)

During the Review Year, the Group actively participated in charity
events; besides donating money to Ronald McDonald House
Charities, an organisation with the key mission of helping seriously
ill children, the Group also sponsored the Charity Golf Tournament
2016/17 of Ronald McDonald House Charities. During the Review
Year, the Group donated a total of RMB254,000 for charity and
community purposes.

.
RMHC®
Hong Kong
keeping families close

SPECIAL THANKS

With Compliments to
New Island Printing Co. Ltd |

THE DEDICATED SUPPORT TO
RONALD MCDONALD HOUSE CHARITIES
GOLF TOURNAMENT 2017
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (Continued)

“Drupa 2016” — dubbed the “Olympics in the Printing Industry”
— was held in June 2016. At this large-scale printing exhibition,
exhibitors from the industry passionately displayed a variety of
innovative products and advance technology. Mr. So, Conrad
Wah Sum, Vice-Chairman of Dongguan New lIsland, delivered an
excellent speech and shared his experience at the event. Besides,
Dongguan New Island offers the open space outside the factory
for children’s football training to support community health
development.
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The Group strives to be a positive power in the communities where
it operates; it also maintains close communication and interaction
with the communities to contribute from time to time to community
development.

As a responsible global citizen, the Group endeavours to improve
its social image and sense of social responsibility through
community investment as well as encouraging all employees to help
and support local communities and neighbours.
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
BAMRAIRE - g MEAWEIESIRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls
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Disclosure statement

29

Aspect A1: Emissions

EBmEA1 : HEHY

General Disclosure

—RIRE

Information relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste:
BREBERANMAERE

BEX
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(a) the policies; and
BUR ¢ &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the Group
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Environmental, Health and Safety Inspections and
Measurement Control Procedures;

Environmental Factors Identification and Evaluation
Procedures;

Wastes Treatment Working Guidelines; and

Wastes Management Guidelines.
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During the Review Year, there has been no material
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. In addition, no
significant fine or non-monetary sanction has been
imposed on the Group due to the non-compliance of
laws and regulations during the Review Year.
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPlIs
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Disclosure statement

29

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EmA2 : EREM
General Disclosure
—RWE
Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials. (Note: Resources may be used
in production, storage, transportation,
buildings, electronic equipment, etc.)
BRERERBIERIR - K REMRMEHE
BE - (GE: BRATAREE - #7F 86 12

F EBTRES )

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 : BRERARER
General Disclosure
—RWE
Policies on minimising the Group's significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.
BMEAEEHREMARERENENTED
R -

Aspect B1: Employment

[BEB1 : EfE
General Disclosure
— B E
Information relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare:
BT M EE BEREF - TERE - R
B FE#e - Lok - RIESUEREMFS
REHe -

(a) the policies; and

BR R

{
JRE b v =

Energy Saving Working Guidelines; and

Scrap Treatment Working Guidelines.

Please refer to the section headed “Use of Resources”.
BEREFAI TEIES| » RIMEEMEEIE TIEES| o

F2H [ ERERAIZESHAR o

Environmental Handbook; and

Environmental Factors Identification and Evaluation
Procedures.

Please refer to the section headed “The Environment
and Natural Resources”.

REBEFM MRREXRFHANEFERF -

FLHE RERRABERIZEHAR

Management Procedures for
Wage and Welfare;
Management Procedure for
Human Resources;
Management Procedure for
Working Hours and Overtime; and
Management Procedure for
Non-Forced Labour.
TEEEMNEERF
ANEBEREERER
THMMIEREREERF &
FFREMESEERRE

HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - g RERHE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPlIs

TREE  BH - - —REERARXAER

Disclosure statement

29

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group.
ETHASBEEEARENRBEER LRI

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EmEB2 : @EEZ2E
General Disclosure
— R E
Information relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards:

BRRHLZE2TERERREES BRI

fEEH
(a) the policies; and
B &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the Group
BTHAEEEERZENERER LRI

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

During the Review Year, there has been no material
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare that have a significant impact on
the Group. Besides, no significant fine or sanction has
been imposed for failing to comply with the relevant
laws and regulations during the Review Year.

RAFE  AEBRELERHAEBELEATEZLR
BN R - BIERE - TERRE - RERME - TE%
g Znlt REGEEREMENRFE2BERERZ
ERERERBR o I AFEERARBLERARETHRA
ERE MR RS R HIEER o

Occupational Health and Safety Guide;

Working Guidelines for Storage of Hazardous
Chemicals; and

Procedures for Monitoring Environment, Health, Safety
and Measurement Control.

BEEERZE2TM

feB2EkmfE T LIRS &

REREZ 2B EBEZHIERF -

During the Review Year, there has been no material
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards that
have a significant impact on the Group. Besides, no
significant fine or sanction has been imposed for failing
to comply with the relevant laws and regulations during
the Review Year.

RAEE  AEBRBEERUAEBELBTATEZS
AREZE2TIFREMRERERIBRET IERER
ZIEREREZRER I RFEERARBELERRETH
BERERMEIRNRE KA E BN -
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Aspect B3: Development and Training

EHEB3 : & KRIE
General Disclosure
—RWE
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities. (Note:
Training refers to vocational training. It may
include internal and external courses paid by
the employer.)
BRARTEERIT LIEBRE N AB R EEENK
5o M EEFES) o (FE ¢ FBAIERERE - 7]
BIEHEINENAINDRIE )

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EmB4 : 55 TR
General Disclosure
— R E
Information relating to preventing child and
forced labour:

BRAR FE TSR HSTITH -

(a) the policies; and
BER - &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the Group
BTHAEBAEATENERERE RO

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEBS : fEHEEE
General Disclosure
— R E
Policies on managing environmental and
social risks of the supply chain

EHEHERANIRE R SRR

{
JRE b v =

Management Procedures for Human Resources
Please refer to the section headed “Development and
Training”.

ANEBREBRER °

F2H [HERMBIIEHAR -

Management Procedure for Child Labour and Minors
Labour; and

Management Procedure for Non-forced Labour.
BTHEAKNFIEERF @ KIFREESBHEERRF -
During the Review Year, there has been no material
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
on forbidding the use of child or forced labour. Besides,
no significant fine or sanction has been imposed for
failing to comply with the relevant laws and regulations
during the Review Year.

RAFEE  AEBARZEERRITAEERMAEIN®RE
BE s BRERER ZEMBERERBR o LI - NFE
MARBERRETEBERER MBI KRBT RAGIRZ

Assessment and Management

Procedures for Suppliers

Please refer to the section headed “Supply Chain
Management”.

R A EIREFF

B2 [HERER | EHAR -
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EmB6 : EmEIE
General Disclosure

—RIRE

Information relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress:
BRMRHERNMBRBNERRERZ S  BSE -
BHERALBEEURBRTER

(a) the policies; and
BE R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the Group
B THASEEERTENEER RN

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

Management Procedures for Products Recall; and
Codes on Business Ethics.

EmEIESIRR

RERERITR/RE -

During the Review Year, there has been no material
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to the health and safety, advertisement,
labelling and privacy issues of the relevant products
and services provided and methods of redress that
have a significant impact on the Group. In addition, no
substantial penalty has been imposed on the products
of the Group during the Review Year.

RAEE  AEEARBLABHAEEELEATEZA
RiRtEMERBZEELRZE BE  RELLEEER
FEARBRIDEZ BRERER 2 EMERERIBNR
AN REENABEEEE TERPRKBIRZIE
T e
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
fBEB7 : RESS
General Disclosure
—RIRE
Information relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering:

BRABTLLRER - B - BGGFROLRER

(a) the policies; and
156 - SER)N
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the Group
BTHAEEEERTENEER RN
B

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEB8 : HERE
General Disclosure
—REE
Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the Group operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests
FRUMERERTRASELEMELRE
EANEREEBEEDEE B E T =8B

{
JRE b v =

Codes on Business Ethics; and

Supplemental.

Provisions of Labour Contract

FFBRITRARE : &

LS RN °

During the Review Year, the Group and its employees
have not been involved in any lawsuits related to
corruption.

RAFE  AEERHEEVEESEGUR S 2 ERDE
REMN -

Please refer to the section headed "Community
Investment” .

A2 [HRRE IZEHAR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BUZBERES

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED
EEERERLDT

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Huajun
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 81 to 259, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

=<

aking another century of impact
REEFE FAMFLT

7

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

=ED

BEEEZRERADNZEERR

EEZEBRBRAF
(REFERMRLGERRA)

=R

AR (A TEBEI MDD EFATNENENZE
259EMEFERABRARATEREERF L)
REWMBRBUATAME EEE]) NGRS MK
BER - MERAMBHRREER-_Z—tF=H
=+ HOERAMBRARREBEZR LFEDN
FAEakEMEZHEKER SeEagBHRM
RARSRER  UNEEMBERERME 8%
TESHHREE -

BPIRR  ZERAUBHRRERET B ST
RE([FEGHMIE DEMN(EBHBRSE
EADEEMPAHRRTEEENR _T—tF
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that as of 31 March 2017, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB172,399,000. In addition, the Group has capital commitments
of RMB634,435,000 as disclosed in note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements, The Group's ability to continue as a going
concern is dependent on the ongoing availability of finance to
the Group, including the credit facility from its immediate holding
company, banks and institutional investors. If the finance were
not available, the Group would be unable to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due. These conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

|
-

'
"

BRFEEENERTHRERE

HPEFE TIRFAMBHRERM T2 - HER
BE-_ZT—+F=A=+—B BEEEZRHA
BEERERBEENARE172,399,0007T - It
B - BAERE ISR M A8 AT IR EE - EEEN
BREER/ARE634,4350007T - EEBHFF
BRERNIANESEROHENGERE - &
BRAEBEEERAR - RITREBREERGE
EmE - WEZIERE  ERERTEEMNHE
FEMEEE - ZERERL A M B HmRM T
2Rz R FRB R FEANEHESEFERL
BZRENEFERERZERTHERE - M
WEFULIEERFINER

BRESE

MREFFEZRBERMNERHE - BAYHA
PG AR BRRNEFTRAEENER - BL=E
ARERMEFTBESAMBHRREAELAE
REETRIEN - HMATSHELETRIEHER
MER B [EAFECENEATHEER
E|-HFREENEEN  BARSTIERR
HETHRESETEE -
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BMXEEN RS S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BERESSE(E)

Key audit matter
HEETTER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMRERNAEERRETSE

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZ41E

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, combined with the management estimations
required in determining fair values.

BMIREDE 2 HEY RERETEETI BN E AR R
BREUBRERNEEN  MEBEEEAREITI A AAEIEY
hE -

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the investment properties of the Group
comprised completed investment properties of
RMB76,779,000 and investment properties under
construction of RMB4,629,394,000, of which are all
located in The People’s Republic of China ("PRC”) and
represented 40% of the Group's total assets. Fair value
changes on investments properties of RMB196,271,000
were recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2017.

WA E M BEMERWFI19MBEE  EEECREVMERRE
ERTIRENEARET6,779,000 REREILEMHEARKE
4,629,394,0007T * 2PN FEARKLME ( [HE]) -
WEEEEBEELI% - BREVENOABEEHARE
196,271,000t EREBE—_F—tF = A=+ —HLFEHNER
SRR EMEEERRAER

In estimating the fair value of its investment properties,
the Group engages independent qualified professional
valuers (the "Valuers”) to perform the valuation. The
management of the Group works with the Valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model.

EfFEEEREMENLAER  BEEEZEBIAER
EXAEM(EER])ETRE  BEEE 2 EEERGERM
ZEAEUSM A EEE @S R ER AR E AR -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
investment properties included:

B ERIREME 2 AERRNEF B

o Evaluating the Valuers’ competence, capabilities
and objectivity and reviewing their terms of
engagement with the Group;

O ML EEMCER I REBEETRIREXES
EHSH 2 FH -

o Discussing with the Valuers to understand
their valuation techniques, the performance of
the property markets, significant assumptions
adopted, critical judgmental areas, key inputs
and data used in the valuations to assess if they
were consistent with the requirements of HKFRSs
and the industry norms;

. HAEMARATREGERN  FHETSHX
B RANEARRR  SRHEES - HEMRED
WEZRABBEREE thESEEEREBEH
B E LB RITEBOIORE

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the key inputs
and source data used in the valuations by
comparing them, on a sample basis, to existing
tenancy profiles, publicly available information
of similar comparable properties and our
knowledge of the real estate industry; and

O RHEFR - EARNGENEZE A B RRRE
BEBAHEOMRT - BUR LY EH DR AT ER A
RBEMEFOETEN TR - UFHESET &

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BERESSE(E)

Key audit matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEARBJARNAEERRETEHR

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZI41E

As further disclosed in note 5 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements, the completed
investment properties were measured using the fair
value model based on the market comparison method
and the significant unobservable input was market
unit sale rate per square mater while the investment
properties under construction were valued either using
the residual approach or depreciable replacement
cost approach and the significant unobservable inputs
were market unit sales rate, monthly market rent,
expected developer’s profit margin and estimated
total construction cost to complete.

WIERE SRR TS RMF 19— T HE - B MR E
MERATSLBOEARR BRI E - EEXRTAIBRE
ABBERETHATSEMHEER  MERREVMERA
FIAT AT EEBERAAGE - EERTAHRH AR
BRMESEMHEER SAMSHES  EEBEHENE
RAGEHR TR o

o Assessing the appropriateness of estimated total
construction cost to complete for investment
properties under construction by comparing
the costs incurred to date against the budgets
provided by the Group and evaluating whether
the expected developer’s profit margins are
comparable to the market and the Group's
specific information.

J SEREEERKANEE REREMNTEEEITHEN
BEERREMENGTERERTRANEE L -
W HBERA ARG ERESRMERESEE K
SEERRT ©
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BMXEEN RS S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BERESSE(E)

Key audit matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEARBJARNAEERRETEHR

Valuation of properties held for sale

FELENYEZ1H1E

We identified the valuation of properties held for
sale as a key audit matter due to the significant
management estimations involved in determining the
net realisable value of properties held for sale.
BPSRFEHENDEZ HETABREAFEDARET
FIELENYE 2 IERFER P REANEEE GG ©

As disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had properties held for sale
with carrying amount of RMB1,120,494,000, which
included completed properties held for sale of
RMB661,381,000, properties under development for
sale of RMB408,113,000 and leasehold land held for
development for sale of RMB51,000,000, which are all
located in PRC.

BANARE SRR -  EREHEA B ELED
PEREE A AR1,120,494,0007T « EFRBIEC R TIEE
HEMMEARK661,381,000T * ERFHEMWEARYE
408,113,0007T & iF1EE B4 & 2 & 1 # A R ¥51,000,000
TC o B2EHAFE o

These properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value (the “NRV") on
an individual basis. NRV is estimated at the actual
or estimated selling price less estimated costs to
complete and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sales. If the actual NRV on properties held for sale
is less than expected as a result of change in market
condition and/or significant variation in the budgeted
development cost, material allowances for impairment
losses may result if the NRV is less than the carrying
amount.
FZERELEN MR BRI LA KAl #1RFE ([ AT 217
FEDBREEIR - AIR#RFEDRERKGFESER
EMFTEIR TR R A 35 E PR B B 5t (AT © fid
FIEHENYEZ BRI R FEET SR E S /K
EREAREHREAEE mMENRTEL - Al #35H)FE
ERBREME @ RIFT e BRENRER BRI -

Our procedures in relation to valuation of properties
held for sale included:

B BBARELENMEZ BERDNEF S -

o Evaluating the Valuers’ competence, capabilities
and objectivity and reviewing their terms of
engagement with the Group;

O FHEEEMER eI REBE - TRARERE
SEERZFEH

o Discussing with the Valuers on the valuation
process to understand the performance of
property markets, significant assumptions
adopted and data used in the valuation and the
management'’s critical judgmental areas;

O HEEMFNREEREFUATRYET S KRB - KA
ZERBREEETERBEE  URERE 2B
FlirEE

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the
methodologies adopted in the valuation models;

s  FHMEMERARBZIIEZAEML

o Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated
selling price used by the management with
reference to market prices achieved for
comparable properties, including an evaluation
of the appropriateness of the comparable
properties used by the management of the Group
based on our knowledge of the Group’s business
and the property markets in the relevant locations
on a sample basis, if applicable; and

U RERMEEEEER XA METISZ T #
RHEEE(ER)FEERELEAN L YEITE
MEAZEAEEZAEE  BETHEEEEEE
ERZAmEZEEN &

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) B ETSIE (&)
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Key audit matter
HAEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMRENRNAEERRETSE

Valuation of properties held for sale

RELENY R Z1H1E

As the properties held for sale are not located in first-
tier cities, the directors of the Company determined
the NRV by reference to the independent valuation
report prepared by the Valuers. No impairment loss
was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2017.
HRFELENMEL LR —FHT - ERARESEHZE
HEMGER B IHERENECAZREE BE_Z
—tF=R=t+—HILFEREERREESE -

] Assessing the reasonableness of the anticipated
costs to completion of properties under
development for sale by comparing the previous
budget costs to actual development costs
incurred, and checking to construction contracts
committed and relevant market information
showing the latest cost trend.

J RERCEENERNAEBENAERAETHLR
N HERPEEVENRTRINAHAEMNE - I
BEAENRETRES K R RS K AB 2 648
BhimER -

Key audit matter
BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BARETRNMEEBRETEE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables and interest

E SN KB R B R E A

receivables

We identified the impairment assessment of loan
receivables and interest receivables as a key audit
matter due to significant management estimation
involved in assessing the recoverability of these
balances and determining whether any impairments
are required to be recognised on the loan receivables
and interest receivables.

B9 S B R E W IR K N B e IR 2R E R T AR R E
SHEIRTARN AT A Z S MR 2 7] U & 7 TF B AU IEOR
RFASEKFEEERERATMAER P RERNEERE
flat °

As disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has loan receivables and
interest receivables amounting to RMB888,831,000.
As at 31 March 2017, loan receivables and interest
receivables amounting to RMB344,827,000 were past
due but not impaired. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is
necessary for these balances as all loan receivables and
interest receivables have been subsequently settled.
WMAERE MBS MER 23T B - EEB B ERERFIE
KRB W R IR A R #888,831,0007T - R —+F=A
=+— R0 - ERERFARFE EKFIE AR 344,827,000
TEBHRERARRE - EARESRE  ARMBEEREK
HIERAMBEWFIBEENERER @ T ELERZFER
e R B R -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of loan receivables and interest receivables
included:
A5 A B E R U SR IE & ) B W R IE 2 R E R IR Y
BFeE:

o Understanding the management’s basis and
assessment in relation to the recoverability of
loan receivables and interest receivables;

J TR E IR R B e WO TE I RIS FE R IE 2 BT
B4 2 B R 3T

o Testing the accuracy of the loan receivables and
interest receivables aging analysis on a sample
basis; and

. LA 75 =00R) 550 B SR8 W sk 18 I R B R WUk TE 2 BR e
DT LERENE - R

. Reviewing management’s assessment of the
recoverability of amount due from individual
debtors based on customer’s ability to repay
the outstanding loan receivables and interest
receivables by examining the subsequent
settlement from these individual debtors on a
sample basis.

S FRME S NBEERIEE AL REREFREYIE
EAMBRKFIENERL B EREREBEEFPEERR
1832 B 0P8 YR T T R B8 WK T 2 B 0 1 e s 1
BB AR Z AT Y1 2 5T -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appearing to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report the fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report in accordance with section 405 of the Companies
Ordinance (chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) that includes
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
whenever it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BUZBERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
fully responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BUZBERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lawrence Lam.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEBRmkAEMEER®ER

w3 Eﬁ:ll

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

2017 2016
—B—tF —E—REF
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
ftat ARBTT ARMBFTT
(Restated)
(f&E75)
Revenue B 6 3,313,992 1,374,919
Cost of sales and services $HE I AR AR AR (2,836,682) (1,150,488)
Gross profit ESAl 477,310 224,431
Other gains and losses Hib s R EE 8 (50,586) 11,597
Other income HAad A 9 10,239 19,148
Change in fair value of WEMEZ AR BEEE
investment properties 19 196,271
Selling and distribution expenses SHE DA AN (84,620) 43, 751)
Administrative expenses 1THE A (309,559) (187,778)
Finance costs B 755 A 10 (110,535) (216,119)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 20 - (232,670)
Share of profits from associates SAEEE N T T 26 6,028 3,178
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENEB QRS 45 - 448,187
Profit before tax [ F5 BT S5 A1) 134,548 26,223
Income tax expense s fim 11 (91,147) (50,712)
Profit (loss) for the year FEBHN(EHE) 12 43,401 (24,489)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEHM2HEWE (BxX)
for the year
Items that may be reclassified subsequently ATgE R EE EF H B EEEN
to profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences on translation to BREE2YEM 2 IEN =5
presentation currency (76,238) (94,866)
Change in fair value of available-for-sale At E([AIHEHE |)IEE
("AFS") investments NAEEE 8,151 (8,410)
Reclassification adjustment relating to AFS HER[HEHERE 2 EFHHIE
investment disposed of A 2,170 -
ltem that will not be reclassified to profit A& EHHEZT BN
or loss: ER : (65,917) (103,276)
Exchange differences on translation to BMRZIEB BN ERE
presentation currency 79,996 112,504
Other comprehensive income for the year & EH 2K 14,079 9,228
Total comprehensive income (expense) FEZHEUE (BIx)EH
for the year 57,480 (15,261)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeBREkEMAEEIRGER

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

82

2017 2016
—E—+F AN
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
et ARBTT AREFTT
(Restated)
(& &E5)
Profit for the year attributable: JEMSFZa M
Shareholders of the Company PiN/NG] LS 22,717 27,090
Non-controlling interests JEFE R AR R 2R 20,684 (51,579)
Profit (loss) for the year FERA(EE) 43,401 (24,489)
Total comprehensive income (expense) 2 (52 ) 4R FE e (1
attributable to: m
Shareholders of the Company VNN S 35,941 36,000
Non-controlling interests FEFERR AR BR i 25 21,539 (51,261)
57,480 (15,261)
RMB RMB
AR AR
Earnings per share BREF 16
Basic R 0.0038 0.0073
Diluted e 0.0038 0.0073

{
JRE b v =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 March 2017
R-FE—+F=H=+—H

At 31 March At 31 March At 1 April
2017 2016 2015
RZE—tF RZZT—RF WRZZE—AF
=A=+—H =A=+—8H mA—H
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Kt ARET T ARET T ARET T
(Restated) (Restated)
(&&E7)) (&=7))
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEENERE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥)2 « [BE K& E 17 1,048,945 1,058,091 198,151
Prepaid lease payments FEHEERE 18 199,505 202,853 13,583
Investment properties WEYE 19 4,706,173 73,578 515,920
Goodwill EES 20 63,084 63,084 -
Club membership S 21 1,868 1,743 1,674
Finance lease receivables BhE TR & pE Uk Fhoa 22 60,472 51,546 369,994
Loan receivables BRI FRIE 23 - 168,738 43,359
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE E 37 5,148 4,976 1,866
Deposits for purchases of a1
machineries and an EMEZZE
investment property 42,906 5,287 8,773
Deposits for acquisitions Wiz 24 500,000 80,000 -
Available-for-sale investments  AJ[{tHEKE 25 232,236 340,457 =
Interests in associates NI - 26 120,959 91,178 =
6,981,296 2,141,531 1,153,320
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties held for sale BIEHEMmE 27 1,120,494 711,947 =
Prepaid lease payments BN EZE 18 4,832 4,832 =
Inventories FE 28 391,766 224,119 85,002
Finance lease receivables BhE 0 & pE Uk FhE 22 210,888 201,454 33,006
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEWTIE 29 938,462 590,762 145,769
Loan receivables and B sRIE &
interest receivables T B FE U i 23 888,831 792,366 57,040
Tax recoverable A] Y& Bl 7 T8 329 308 269
Held for trading investments BIEBE 71K E 30 82,731 48,661 =
Pledged bank deposits RITHEAIF K 31 879,874 426,214 515,510
Bank balances and cash RITER LIRS 31 172,686 124,725 985,007
4,690,893 3,125,388 1,821,603
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBE
Trade and other payables B REHMEMZIE 32 932,662 761,864 353,882
Bill payables AN 33 2,375,438 114,749 =
Amount due to an associate JE < — R B 2 0 )
Z FRIE 26 21,372 - -
Amount due to immediate FET E R A A
holding company ZFRA 34 - 19,635 -
Tax payable FER R IE 73,664 52,808 9,414
Borrowings & 35 1,425,356 954,809 571,768
Financial guarantee contracts  BIS4ER &4 36 34,800 = =
4,863,292 1,903,865 935,064
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 March 2017
R-FE—+F=H=+—H

At 31 March At 31 March At 1 April
2017 2016 2015
RZE—tF RZZT—RF WRZZE—AF
=A=+—H =A=+—8H mA—H
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HtaF AR¥T ARBTIT ARETIT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&&E7)) (&=7))
NET CURRENT FRE(EEEE
(LIABILITIES) ASSETS (172,399) 1,221,523 886,539
TOTAL ASSETS LESS mEERRBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,808,897 3,363,054 2,039,859
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  3kRB& &
Long term deposits received DU R EIR S - = 17,500
Deferred tax liabilities FIETRIBAE 37 66,631 17,728 102,834
Amount due to immediate JE BRI R A
holding company Z A 34 999,321 = 840,228
Borrowings BN 35 1,695,000 370,000 1,300
Corporate bonds NAES 42 243,161 = =
Convertible bonds AR E & 43 278,937 = =
3,283,050 387,728 961,862
NET ASSETS FEE 3,525,847 2,975,326 1,077,997
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXL#E
Share capital R& 2 38 55,203 51,787 31,473
Reserves i 38 3,336,717 2,812,443 994,255
Equity attributable to AR BRI S
shareholders of the Company 3,391,920 2,864,230 1,025,728
Non-controlling interests JEE A% I SR A 133,927 111,096 52,269
TOTAL EQUITY R 3,525,847 2,975,326 1,077,997

BNENEDSIA AU BRRDEFTERN =
E—tFRNATN\BRELFFAEL - WHIA

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 259 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

June 2017 and sign on its behalf by: TEEREREE
Mr. Meng Guang Bao Mr. Wu Jiwei
BEEELE REEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BEF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

KOARRER
Convertible Attributable
Statutory ~ Exchange  Share-based Deemed bonds  Investment tonon-
Share Share surplus  translation ~ payment  contribution equity  revaluation Other ~ Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve resrve profits Subtotal interests Total
HRhRER TBREE FERER

Rs  BOEE EEBRGRE  ENEE  ZMRER REDREE  BEGR REEMEE  REEE  REMW N RREE ]
RMB1000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB1000 RMBI000 RMB1000 RMB000 RVB1000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

Balance at 1 April 2015 H-E-REMA-AZER 3413 46910 8217 (13729 2181 451 - - 5033 511,145 1025728 52,269 109
Profit loss)for the year EEETIEE) - - - - - - - - - 7090 7090 (51,579) (24.489)
Other comprehensive ncome~~~ FEEMRENE(Hx)

(expense] for the year - - - 1730 - - - (8410 - - 8910 38 9228

Total comprehensive income ERE2 AN FR)

(expense for the year - - - 1730 - - - (8410 - 70 36000 (51,261) (15.261)
Acauisiion of non-wholly owned :

subsidiary (note 43) S S S S S S S S S S S (105,344) 105,344)
Deemed disposal adjustments for -~ MBRENAARERES

change in ownership LRAERERR M

interest in a subsidiary (note 46) S S S S S S S S S (3.300) (3300 95,300 92,000
Issue of convertible bonds (note 43) 7 xF%Z%’i GZo - - - - - (107.220) U520 - - - 338005 - 338005
Issue of shares arising rom

conversion of convertible

bonds (note 43) 16813 15943 - - - - (445,225) - - - 1,168,011 - 1,168,011
Issue of shares for acquisition

of asubsiciary (note 43 3m 259016 - - - 114208 - - - - 376,503 - 376,503
Reversal of deemed contribution

from immediate holding

company of the Company

note 34) - - - - - (31761) - - - - (31761) - (31761)
Recognition of shere-based

payments (note 41) - - - - 17,944 - - - - - 17,944 - 17,944
Foreiture of share aptions hERE)

[note 41) - - - - (1,886) - - - - 1,886 - - -
Disposal of subsidleries (note 45) S S S S S S S S S S S 12013 1201
Dividend paid (note 13) - - - - - - - - - mam mam - ma
Exercise of share options (note 41) m B - - (1,160) - - - - - 0317 - 031
Transfer to reserve - - 1490 - - - - - - (1490 - - -
Balance at 31 March 2016 (Restated) 1=

51787 2,295,604 29,707 3,595 17,0589 13735 - (8410) 5,033 456,120 2,864,230 11,09 2975326
Profitforthe year Bl = = = - - - - - - M M 20,684 3401
Other comprehensive income EERpRANG

for the year - - - 2,903 - - - 10,321 - - 13,24 855 14,079
Total comprehensive income ERBAENG

for the year - - - 2,903 - - - 10,321 - 21 35,941 215% 57,480

Capite njection by a non-controlling. —FHBAFMFERRBRTE
shareholdsr of a subsidiary (note) ) - - - - - - - - - 1,292 1,292

3416 23,176 - - - - - - - - 266,592 - 266,592

Issue of shares (note 38) z
Expense incurred in connection with ﬁ 5

the issue of new shares (note 38) - (6932) - - - - - - - - (6,932) - (6,932)
Deemed contrloution from

acquistion of a subsidiary (note 49) - - - - - 182,189 - - - - 182,189 - 182,189
Recognition of share-based payments R34 172

note 41) - - - - 49,900 - - - - - 49,900 - 49,900
Transfer to resenve - - 5577 - - - - - e (5571) c e S
Balance at 31 March 2017 =% ti A=t+-R

Z 55,203 2,551,848 35,284 6,498 66,959 195,924 - 1m 5,033 473,260 3391920 133921 3,525,847

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group has established a non-  Mfif  HE-Z—+F=A=+—HILFE  AFEER
wholly owned subsidiary in the People Republic of China. The amount hEARAMBER L —HFEZEMNBRR - 8
represented initial capital injection by the non-controlling shareholder. EERBRINEAZE R ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-ﬁ/\iﬁlﬁlﬂbiéé

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

2017 2016
—E—iE “E-RF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
fifat ARETR ARETT
(Restated)
(B=5)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REIHRERE
Profit before tax BRI AR 134,548 26,223
Adjustments for: FE -
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets kRBBEZINEREE 94,535 48,517
Dividend income from securities investments BHEE 2 RBMA (9,044) (6,771)
Interest income earned on bank balances and RRITEBRRBITERTR
pledged bank deposits BRERZ FIB A (4,146) (11,892)
Interest income on deposits for acquisitions HRB%Z?Rﬁﬂ A (1,620) (5,520)
Interest income on loan receivables B EMEER B A (127,691) (29,491)
Interest income on finance lease receivables rﬂﬁ?ﬁh}iuﬁl LIEF BUA (32,746) (51,275)
Change in fair value of investment properties REMELAEE (196,271) =
Net foreign exchange gain SN W5 F 2R (473) (6,747)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME « BREKZE 2 (826) (259)
Change in fair value of held for trading investments FEBBECRECAAEE 13,326 (5,001)
Loss arising on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHNEREZER
investments 2,170 -
Finance costs BB 110,535 216,119
Bargain purchase gain SEUEE 45 - (155)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZKa 45 - (448,187)
Impairment loss of goodwill HERERE - 232,610
Loss on disposal of investment properties HERENMEZER - 447
Allowance for bad debt on trade receivables E%ﬁgﬁzﬂﬁ%ﬁ%Z}%ﬁ 1,589 118
Share of profits from associates DB DB G (6,028) (3,178)
Equity-settled share-based payments EREEURNAER 2HH 49,900 17,944
Financial guarantee contracts expenses HBEREDFHT 44,281 -
Amortisation of financial guarantee contracts PHERENZHH (9,481) -
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESEBYRILERENE
working capital 62,558 (26,438)
Increase in properties held for sale BELENYEEM (62,775) (1,764)
Increase in inventories FEEM (161,442) (57,051)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables f’f%&ﬁ‘rﬁlﬂﬂlﬁl KIBZ ()R (123,814) 412,393
Decrease (Increase) in loan receivables EEMERIE R (2 m) 186,965 (860,412)
Increase in held for trading investments M’F EZRE 25 (43,924) (43,660)
(Increase) decrease in finance lease receivables 2 éfﬁ S ME Y FRIE 2 (12 h0) 5 > (18,360) 150,000
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 REMEMFTIE LM 56,864 722,179
Decrease in long term deposit received Bl RSRS 2D - (17,500)
Increase in bills payables [RESE S 343,909 114,749
Cash generated from operations REEX7RS 239,981 392,496
Income tax paid ERFEH (22,065) (7,641)
Interest received on loan receivables B E FEYRIEF S 26,397 29,491
Interest received on finance lease receivables B E AR E R FERNS 32,746 50,009
Dividend income received from securities investments B WEFIRE 7 REWA 9,044 6,771
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETHEEZASTFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 286,103 471,126
]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-ﬁ/\iﬁlﬁlﬂbiéé

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

2017 2016
ZE—+F ZE—RF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
i3 ARETR AREFT
(Restated)
(B=5)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BAME - BERE (62,982) (460,158)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment HERE REREMGHE 3,862 2,955
Payment for purchase of investment properties BARENE AR (2,486,390) (2,638)
Acquisition of available-for-sale investments WP ERE (6,146) (348,867)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments & At 1 EREFTEFIE 147,144 -
Payment for prepaid lease payments SABEAEEFRE (878) (95,324)
Interest received on bank deposits BHERTERAE 4,146 11,892
Release of pledged bank deposits BARRTHEATER 336,837 515,510
Placement of pledged bank deposits FRBTERER (426,214) (383,916)
Payment for establishing/acquisition of associates R/ WERE & A R AR (23,753) (88,000)
Interest received from deposits for acquisitions Bl RS 2 FE 1,620 5,520
Refund of deposits paid for acquisitions qﬁl%iﬁZ&iLTA 60,000 -
Deposits paid for acquisitions WS 2R (500,000) (80,000)
Deposits paid for purchases of plant and equipment and B RE MR L — 18
an investment property REMESL Nz IRE (42,9006) -
Net cash outflow for acquisition of subsidiaries WENBLARZFRER 45 (1,018,596) (701,025)
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries HENBRARZFRERA 45 - 559,227
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEBEAZRSFE (4,014,256) (1,064,824)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Proceeds from borrowings ERFERE 2,643,728 2,015,739
Repayments of borrowings gD (1,104,870) (2,782,051)
Interest paid EARAIE (191,020) (228,866)
Proceeds from exercise of share options TEBRERTE A - 22,317
Capital contribution by non-controlling shareholders of ~ K& 7A Al FEE Hxﬂxﬁz/Iﬁ
subsidiaries 1,292 92,000
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BT RRATSIUE 266,592 -
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds %TTTWHXF%FW—%K 258,621 1,506,703
Proceeds from issue of corporate bonds BRI RRIERMGEE 276,250 =
Payment of transaction costs for issue of ordinary shares (T EERZ X %ﬁ)‘@$ﬁ%ﬁ\ (6,932) -
Payment of transaction costs for issue of corporate bonds BT R BlfEH 2 R FHMA 7 (39,397) -
Payment of transaction costs for issue of convertible bonds BT/ #k EH 2 R AR (3,453) (687)
Dividend paid BIRFRE - (79.211)
Advance from an associate RxE— %Hﬁy%)\Zﬂ 21,372 -
Advance from immediate holding company REERZRAF TA 5,891,136 3,709,949
Repayment to immediate holding company EBEEEE ”“T,Z (5,239,809) (4,531,327)
Advance received from bill payables BEERN R 2 2R 1,002,500 -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) MEZHEL(EA)2REFR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,776,010 (275,434)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND BeRBSEEMEMNCRD) FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 47,857 (869,132)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE ENRERESEEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 124,725 985,007
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash [EXRZE) IS IMNER ¢ &%
held in foreign currencies s 104 8,850
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE EXRASRESEEY
END OF YEAR 172,686 124,725
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GENERAL

The Company is a limited company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of business in Hong
Kong is 36/F, Champion Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong
Kong. As at 31 March 2017, the directors of the Company
(the "Directors”) consider that immediate holding company
of the Company is Huajun International Limited (“HIL") which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Huajun Enterprise
(Yingkou) (“Huajun Yingkou) Co., Ltd, which is established
in The People's Republic of China (“PRC"). Its ultimate
controlling parties are Mr. Meng Guang Bao ("Mr. Meng”),
who is the chairman of the Board of Directors and an executive
director of the Company and Ms. Bao Le, being the spouse of
Mr. Meng, held 97% and 3% respectively in Huajun Enterprise
(Yingkou) Co., Ltd..

The Principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) will be set out in the
note 6 and 51.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"). The consolidated financial statements in the prior
financial period was presented in HK$. During the year ended
31 March 2017, the directors of the Company considered that
(i) most of the investors are located in PRC; (ii) the Group
continuously invests in PRC’'s market and increases the
Group's transactions which are denominated and settled in
Renminbi (“RMB"); and (iii) the change in the presentation
currency could also reduce the impact of any fluctuations in
the exchange rate of the HK$ against the RMB, which is not
due to the operations and beyond the control of the Group,
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
enabling the shareholders of the Company to have a more
accurate picture of the Group's financial performance. The
change in presentation currency of the Company has been
applied retrospectively in accordance with HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates, and Errors, and the
comparative figures as at 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 and
for the year ended 31 March 2016 have been retranslated to
RMB and restated accordingly.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration to
the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that as of 31
March 2017, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by RMB172,399,000.

The Directors have performed an assessment of the
Group's future liquidity and cash flows, taking into account
(i) continuous financial support from immediate holding
company, including the grant of a credit facility with
an aggregate sum of HK$4,000,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,571,429,000) and not demanded for repayment of the
balance due to immediate holding company until 30 June
2018; (ii) the Group has unutilised banking facility amounting
to RMB1,446,921,000 to support its daily operation; and (iii) the
Group is in discussion with banks and institutional investors for
long term financing, including refinancing through pledge of
assets and issuing corporate bonds.

The Directors believe that after taking into account the above
factors, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
satisfy its present requirements for at least the next twelve
months from the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements. However, should the above financing be
unavailable, the Group may be unable to operate on a going
concern, in which case adjustments might have to be made
to the carrying values of the Group’s assets to state them at
their realisable values, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify its non-current assets and
non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities,
respectively.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Application of amendments to HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable
and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Investment Entities: Applying the
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012 - 2014 Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
performance and position for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and the new interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments’

HKFRS 16 Leases?

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions

and Advance Consideration’

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions'

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative*
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses*

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property’

Amendment to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle®

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or

1 January 2018, as appropriate
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group
are:

° all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investment that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contracting
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have
contractual terms of the financial asset that give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair value at
the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

° in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have a material
impact on the classification and measurement of the
Group's financial assets. The Group's available-for-sale
("AFS") investments will either be measured as fair value
through profit or loss or be designated as fair value through
other comprehensive income (subject to fulfillment of the
designation criteria). The change in fair value of the Group’s
convertible bonds designated at fair value through profit
or loss that is attributable to changes in credit risk could be
presented in other comprehensive income.

The Directors anticipate that the expected credit loss model
may result in early provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group's financial assets measured
at amortised cost. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 9 until the Group
undertakes a detailed review.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract.

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies

a performance obligation.

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS
15 in the future may result in more disclosures, However,
the directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the
timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective
reporting periods.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and are replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The
lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently,
the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments,
as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash
flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those
classified as investment properties while other operating lease
payments are presented as operating cash flows. Under the
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be
presented as financing cash flows.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether
the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of approximately RMB22,320,000 as
disclosed in note 47.

A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements
will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and
hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they
qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application
of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of new requirements
may result changes in measurement, presentation and
disclosure as indicated above. However, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the
Directors complete a detailed review.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
Specifically, the amendments require the following changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities to be disclosed:
(i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from
obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses;
(iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv)
changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

The amendments apply prospectively to the Group for
annual period beginning on 1 April 2017. The application
of the amendments will result in additional disclosures on
the Group's financing activities, specifically reconciliation
between the opening and closing balances in the consolidated
statement of financial position for liabilities arising from
financing activities will be provided on application.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
(Continued)

Except as described above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the other amendments to
HKFRSs and the new interpretation will not have material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions
and/or the disclosures to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution
of the relevant equity component, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS
39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised
in profit or loss as incurred. On the acquisition date, the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at the acquisition date. If, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction by transaction
basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a
business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
the financial assets and financial liabilities at the respective
fair values. The remaining balance of the purchase price is
then allocated to the other individual identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

For assets and liabilities acquired from controlling
shareholder, the difference between the purchase
consideration and the total fair value of the assets and
liabilities transferred will be recognised as deemed
contribution reserve.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e B HmAR N

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

FEFTBR(E)
DENEZ PES A PN

EAKBRBITEREFNEERARE
AR RIS SR R N e R P W B M 1 A
HAEERMEERE T RELEKE
BEERSANAREI RESREERS
BEE BEESFEMOEEEMER
ABREERAE EESKRENBER
HWEHARE ZRITEELHEN
AEUE W

RAEERRREBZEERBENS - B
EREBHECEBEENRBEZAABEARE
ZEBBERARRELERE -

]

;41

R RE —IAEBmES 2 BB RN B
EBE R (2R L& BOR) BEE KA
BERERRFRERBE (WA -

RERARMNE  BEEIEEEHKE
GEHRAYRERNAEBSTHEELS
f(RZEREELEMMAR)  HAKRE
RAREE B NAER  HERIEKFE
TEBE—EREDH -

HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash generating unit (or group of
cash generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets on a pro rata based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of cash generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence refers to the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial information of
an associate used for equity accounting purposes is prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group's share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

FTEETBR(E)

mE(E)

EoRBENREELEM(RBRTELE
AR B SFAERERNERRBRE
(IR gE HBURMERETTRIE o BN —(EH
SHRARBEENBEMNS @ ESEK
HMEzReELBN(REeEFEEME
A BRI E A RBTETTRERF o i
A EEEIREREE - B LD R
BER  UREKTDEEZEMNED
BmEREE  HEAREBEEU(IREELE
AR AEEENRMERLDEEE
I HAMEE

RHERBERSELEMMS - MEEN
SR AL EREE 2B

AEBEFBUBBREARMELZBEZ
BEREN T »
BENAER

4
Y

-]

e

ERRIRAKEHEAEEARENZ
B -EAFENNEASEAREHR Y
BREERRZEN - HMEZEBRY
72 ) 4 ML R4 LA o

i

\
L

22

BENRZRKEREERARAES S
BT AR A M B ®RE - EEE AR R
PRER A 2 Bt R Bl B A5 B R D R A B AR
SEBRBEBR THAURS RFHERA
MEFTERRE—HERE - REEDX
R—EBERRZRE NS ERAREE
MBMAKRER  YRERAERARE
Lz E ARz Ba kEM2 KRN
EHHE - EXRKEENE —HBERRZ
BRBLANEBNZBE AR 2 EE (B
BE IR TEENZEE R RIREFHE
—E D 2 EA RIS - REBK L
REFGE—FBE - EREAEEEESE
FERRETEE RERRZBLERAIX
NFHBEZERT - TEE—THERER -




104

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group's investment in an associate. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate and
the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss was previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate,
it would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities. The Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset (or
disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets (or disposal group) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described
below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed.

Sales of properties

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and delivered to the buyers. Deposits
and instalments received from buyers prior to meeting the
above evidence for revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Rendering of services

Service income (including that from operating service
provided under service concession arrangements) is
recognised when services are provided.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when

the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, with reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income

The Group's policy for recognition of revenue from operating
leases is described in the accounting policy below.

Financial leasing income

Finance leasing income, including handling fee income
and interest from finance leasing business, is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of
the leases.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal
or as an agent

The Group is acting as a principal when it has exposure to the
significant risks and rewards associated with the sale of goods
or the rendering of services.

Features that indicate that the Group is acting as a principal
include:

(a)

the Group has the primary responsibility for providing
the goods or services to the customer or for fulfilling
the order, for example by being responsible for the
acceptance of the products or services ordered or
purchased by the customer;

(b)  the Group has inventory risk before or after the customer
order, during shipping or on return;

(c) the Group has latitude in establishing prices, either
directly or indirectly, for example by providing additional
goods or services;

(d) the Group bears the customer’s credit risk for the amount
receivable from the customer; and

(e) the amount the Group earns is not predetermined.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of
the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset. Other than investment properties measured
under fair value model, such costs are measured as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals
arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lumpsum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land for own use (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as ‘prepaid lease
payments’ in the consolidated statement of financial position
and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified
as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including property under
construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any direct attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. All of the Group's property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are accounted for as investment properties and are
measured using the fair value model. Gains and losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Construction cost incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, other than construction-in-progress, are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, other than construction-
in-progress, over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

Club membership is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of club
membership, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Club membership is tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using weighted
average cost formula. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Properties held for sale

Completed properties, properties under development for
sale and leasehold land held for development for sale in the
ordinary course of business are included in current assets
and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost includes the cost of land, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy, and other attributable expenses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange difference arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, (i) the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into HK$; and (ii) the assets and
liabilities of the Group denominated or translated in HK$ are
then translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.,e. RMB), using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which
the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the shareholders of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial
assets and loans and receivables. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in net gains or
losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial

asset is either held for trading or it is designated as FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or
o it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments

that the Group manages together and as a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 44.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

FTEETBR(E)

SBMITAEE)
EHMEEE)
1S ESN

ERMEFERTDFAREES TAZBHKRAR R
EAERAREDFEBRAZITE - BERF
R R AR AR IR G WA (BEAA Tk
WEBRERERMNEZEBR « XHKUA
REMBERITRE)REFTAZBHE
REH - REGTHE(WER) BERITEK
VT HERREEFEZNE -

IEFTAME @ AEBRARERFXE
EHER - D BARAAEREREINEZ
EEREBEERIN - B BWART Az F
FRoEIE

BARERERIIRCEREE

HEMEERFKIFETEMBAMNEE /R
ARERBHEIE  MEREEDINES
BARERNERTIRR -

WA A TR - MEREESKIBF

#FEH:

e BAENMIZERNAREBKEE:
B9

s SRMEER/RAKESRSEEZERE

ERMTAZAAZ MO RAAR

TEREHEMNES @ %

TREE/AWEEZIINETAR

ABAREREHTA -

BRARERBRIIRZEMEERIZRAR
BFt 8 MEHMFEEL ZETARENE
BREBETER - NMESTER KK
BERFECRESREERIZ TABKRE
B - WEFA [Efb iz R EEEE -
NAERMTA4FT 2 7T RETE -

’* 17



118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c)
financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets and are traded in an active market
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary
financial assets relating to interest income calculated using
the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity
investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes
in the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve. When the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss
(see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and
other receivables, loan receivables and interest receivables,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or
o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
o disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, loan receivables and interest receivables, are
assessed for impairment on a collective basis even if they
were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group's past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the allowed credit period, as well as observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables and loan receivables and
interest receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade
receivable, loan receivables and interest receivables are
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss
to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial assets at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss of financial assets (Continued)

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation
reserve. In respect of AFS debt investments, impairment losses
are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase
in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEETTHE(E)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised costs

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
bill payables, amount due to an associate, amount due to
immediate holding company, borrowings and corporate
bonds) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Convertible bonds

(i)

Convertible bonds contain debt and derivative
components

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity
instruments or with settlement option is a conversion
option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and
derivative components are recognised at fair value.
In subsequent periods, the debt component of the
convertible loan notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The derivative component
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the debt and
derivative components in proportion to their relative
fair values. Transaction costs relating to the derivative
component are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the debt component are
included in the carrying amount of the debt portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Convertible bonds (Continued)

(i) Convertible bonds contain equity component

The component parts of the convertible bonds issued
by the Company are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated by measuring the fair value of
similar liability that does not have an associated equity
component.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loans are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loans using the
effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the
higher of:

()  the amount of obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangement

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payment reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share-based payment reserve.
For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium. When share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
payment reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

FTEETBR(E)

RGBERNSREZ

MR HE B AR D A ETET 3R T & 8 AR
TRAMZEETIRAZ ARERFE - RET
RAEEE AR RN R EPEE 2R
e REBHENERERRAEER
HEEEBE  RETAEE - WHEEEN
(AR BERZ MREHEE) - RER
EHIR - ARBEIERTH TR R A B
TAZE ZEE - ERIRAAAOTE (W
BINMERRER - < R RREERT
ZIREIN R AR ) R AT 2 A SRR E
HEFE HRERHARALINEB 2B
Pt By zBREZ ARELINNER

BIREEITEER - ERRUERN BERZ
R R 2 IR E R E A R R
RfE - EBREREE R HRER Kk
REIBBADRETE - RIEATRARD B
ER 2R ERTERZFAKBEARE

A o

BiIE
P8 B 5 2 H5 3R B R A TR TR BLR FE AR IR Y
A o

RARENRBERFNERDENTE < &
ARG N G AEE R E bR
Pz TBRBAEF TR - BRACTBER
Ho At 6 5 B FE SR 35 AT AR Y A Bk B X2
BARBARGETAIHBRIER - REH
HENMRE RN REHREERREE
LEEEABERGTH -




126

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
(Continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts
resulting from service cost, interest and re-measurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the Directors have
reviewed the Group's investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group’s investment properties are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring
the Group's deferred taxation on investment properties, the
Directors have determined that the Group has a business
model for its investment properties whose objective is
to hold all its investment properties so as to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
Accordingly, deferred taxation in relation to the Group's
investment properties have been measured based on the tax
consequences of recovering the carrying amounts entirely
through use.

Presentation of revenue from solar photovoltaic products

In assessing whether the revenue from solar photovoltaic
products should be presented at gross or net basis, the
Directors have reviewed (1) the business flow of the sale and
manufacturing processes; and (2) the business relationship
with the major customers and suppliers and concluded that
the Group has performed series of processing transactions
with certain related companies. Therefore, in determining
the Group's presentation of revenue from solar photovoltaic
products, the Directors have considered that processing
service income should be presented on a net basis. For the
gross amounts of each transaction with these related parties,
please refer to note 50 for detail.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(a)

(b)

Investment properties

Investment properties are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair
value of an asset, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. The Group engages
independent qualified professional valuers to perform
the valuation. The Directors works closely with the
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of investment properties. Note 19 provides
detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination
of the fair value of investment properties. The carrying
amount of investment properties as at 31 March 2017 was
RMB4,706,173,000 (2016: RMB73,578,000) as set out in
note 19.

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
sale

In determining whether allowances should be made to
the Group's properties held for sale, the Group takes
into consideration the current market environment and
the estimated net realisable value (i.e. the estimated
selling price less estimated costs of selling expenses). An
allowance is made if the estimated net realisable value is
less than the carrying amount. If the actual net realisable
value on properties held for sale is less than expected as
a result of change in market condition and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development cost, material
allowances for impairment losses may result.

The carrying amount of properties held for sale as at 31
March 2017 is RMB1,120,494,000 (2016: RMB711,947,000)
as set out in note 27.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

Impairment of loan receivables and interest receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise. No impairment is made for both years. As
at 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of loan receivables
and interest receivables is RMB888,831,000 (2016:
RMB961,104,000).

Impairment losses are assessed and provided based
on management’s regular review of ageing analysis
and evaluation of collectability. A considerable level of
management’s estimation is exercised by the Directors
when assessing the creditworthiness and past collection
history of each individual customer or borrower. Any
increase or decrease in impairment losses on loan
receivables and interest receivables would affect profit or
loss in future periods.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of trade receivables and finance lease
receivables

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
by the Group at the end of each reporting period to
assess whether there is any indication that an asset may
be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the assets is estimated to determine
impairment losses on the assets. Changes in facts and
circumstances may affect the conclusion of whether an
indication of impairment exists and result in revised
estimates of recoverable amounts, which would affect
profit or loss in future periods.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and finance
lease receivables are assessed and provided based
on management’s regular review of ageing analysis
and evaluation of collectability. The Directors have
assessed the creditworthiness and past collection
history of each individual customer or borrower. Any
increase or decrease in impairment losses on trade
receivables and finance lease receivables would affect
profit or loss in future periods. As at 31 March 2017, the
carrying amount of trade receivables is RMB411,960,000
(2016: RMB311,787,000) and the carrying amount of
finance lease receivables is RMB271,360,000 (2016:
RMB253,000,000).
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e)

(f)

EEERARAR | —F

Estimated net realisable value of inventories

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of inventories
at the end of each reporting period to determine net
realisable value of the inventories. The Group estimates
the net realisable value based on the current market
situation and historical experience on similar inventories.
A considerable level of management’'s estimation is
exercised by the Group when determining the net
realisable value of inventories.

The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 March 2017
was RMB391,766,000 (2016: RMB224,119,000) as set out
in note 28.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives and
residual values, if any, of the assets annually in order
to determine the amount of depreciation expenses for
each reporting period. The useful lives are estimated
based on historical experience with similar assets and
taking into account anticipated technological changes.
The depreciation for future periods would be adjusted if
there are material changes from previous estimates.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment

as at 31 March 2017 was RMB1,048,945,000 (2016:
RMB1,058,091,000) as set out in note 17.
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REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are: (1) sales and
manufacturing of solar photovoltaic products; (2) sales
and manufacturing of high quality multi-colour packaging
products, carton boxes, books, brochures and other paper
products (hereinafter collectively described as printing
products); (3) sales of electronic parts and devices; (4) sales of
oil, chemical and other related products; (5) sales of industrial
equipment; (6) sales of properties; (7) provision of finance
lease and related services; (8) provision of finance; (9) property
investments; (10) securities investments; and (11) provision of
medical management services.

Revenue represents fair value of the consideration received
or receivable from sales of goods or properties, interest
income from the provision of finance, rental income from
property investments and income from provision of medical
management services, net of sales tax, returns and discounts.

The Group's significant categories of revenue from continuing
operations from its major products and services recognised
during the year are as follows:
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HEH
AEEHEIBEBT  (OBERLEAS
BEARER QWERREREVEOR

Em- RAz BE IMrFREMER
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2017 2016

—E—tHF —E—RF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T R ARETT

(Restated)

(gE7)

Solar photovoltaic products KGR E @ 1,371,321 317,302

Printing products EN Rl & 544,748 537,587

Electronic parts and devices BEFEHRAEH 347,072 239,850

Oil, chemical and other related products A1t & H b8 Z= & 825,962 156,433

Industrial equipment TEXRE 32,616 21,585

Properties LIES 9,607 -

Finance lease income and related services &M E U A RIEERG 32,746 51,275

Interest income from provision of finance 1ZHEIE 2 R B UL A 127,691 29,491

Rental income from property investments #)¥i&& 2 & WA 5,696 7,625

Dividend from securities investments FHEEZIRE 9,044 6,771
Provision of medical management IR B A B IR AR A

services 7,489 7,000

3,313,992 1,374,919
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by different business lines. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to
the Group's Executive Directors, being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
identified the following five reportable segments.

° Printing: Sales and manufacturing of high quality multi-
colour packaging products, carton boxes, books,
brochures and other paper products

° Trading and logistics: Trading, logistics and supply chain
management

° Property development and investments: Property
development and investments

o Solar photovoltaic: Sales and manufacturing of solar
photovoltaic products

o Financial services: Comprised of provision of finance
through money lending services; provision of finance
through finance lease and other related services; and
investment activities in equity securities, funds, bonds
and assets management services.

In addition to the operating segments described above,
each of which constitutes a reportable segment, the Group
has other operating segments which include provision of
medical management services and sales and manufacturing
of industrial equipment in the PRC. None of these segments
meets any of quantitative thresholds for determining
reportable segments. Accordingly, all of the above operating
segments are grouped as “All other segments”.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the directors of the
Company has reassessed the development of the proposed
disposal of the solar photovoltaic segment and considered
that it should be reclassified as a continuing operation and
presented as a separate operating and reportable segment.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Following the expansion of the property development and
investments segment and solar photovoltaic segment, the
CODM reviews the businesses of provision of finance through
money lending services, provision of finance through finance
lease and other related services and investment activities
in equity securities, funds, bonds and assets management
services as a whole under “financial services”. As the
business of medical management services and sales and
manufacturing of industrial equipment are not significant,
they are aggregated under “All other segments” for reporting
purpose.

As a result of the above changes, certain prior year figures
have been restated to conform with current year presentation.

Year ended 31 March 2017

7. DEER(E)

ERAMELRIIKE DB RKEGEIR
8B fé BELERRER [ BIRS 1B
TEREHNEBHGRERERE B8
mﬂéfﬁf&ﬁ@*ﬁ%@ﬂﬁi}m{ tRRE R A

Erx A BEFNRELTHREEE
E@Hﬁ*—rin& F 0 B8 R B IR AR DA K 8
ERRETXRFENEBHRETER B
Ukt E B A G FTEEM D BB IET

ENNLEY  ETREFEHEFEES
IANBEARERZN2FIERT—B -

BE-ZE—tHE=A=+—HLEE

Property
development Reportable
Trading and and Solar  Financial ~ segments'  All other
Printing ~logistics investments photovoltaic ~ services total  segments Total
HEEE 508 &
OF  EARAR RRE AREXR  EREH gt E4Al a5t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR ARMTR  ARETR  AR¥TR
Segment revenue ABUA
Revenue from external customers — RESMIREHIMA 544,748 1,173,034 15303 1,371,321 169,481 3,273,887 40,105 3,313,992
Segment results S 15491 23659 175194 44814 136291 395449 (428 391,163
Unallocated amounts A8
Corporate administrative expenses  (S¥{THER (118,987)
Other gains and losses EbAERER (34,806)
Share of profits from associates ~ H{EBERAET 6028
Corporate other income BEEBKA 1,685
Finance costs BEER (110,535)
Group's profit before tax REENBRET 134,548
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEVER(E
Year ended 31 March 2016 BE-Z-—R"F=ZA=+—-HLHFE
Property
development Reportable
Trading and and Solar  Financial  segments’ Al other
Printing logistics ~ investments  photovoltaic services tota  segments Total
UELE q508 iR

J6  BHRME FRE  ABEAR  SRRE g5 EA¥ 5
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(restated) ~ ([restated)  (restated)  (estated)  (restated)  (restated)  (restated) (restated)
(@e5))  (@ER)  (@E5)  (RER)  (REj)  (HE)  (4ER)  (4E5)

Segment revenue ABUA
Revenue from external customers ~ RESNFREHRA SIS 396283 165 3L WIS 133 BN 13499
Segment results HH%E 2,145 12381 (2,860) 1,600 54,639 93,905 2,506 96,411
Unallocated amounts FALEE
Corporate administrative expenses R ¥/ RER (75,210
Other gains and losses EflaRER (183)
Impairment loss on gooduwill BERERR (232,670)
Share of profits from associates ~ H{EBE R AET 3178
Corporate other income BEEBKA 2691
Finance costs B%ER (216,119)
Gain on disposal of subsiciaries ~ HEMBAT 2 448187
Group's profit before tax KREBRRH A 2603
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

Year ended 31 March 2017

7. DEER(E)
H it 3 E Rt

BE—ZE—+tF=ZF=+—HIFE

Property
Trading  development Reportable
and and Solar  Financial ~ segments’  All other
Printing ~ logistics investments photovoltaic  services total  segments Unallocated Total
NERR 850 fi&
g5 E5RUR RRE  ABEXR SRER g RfAE AR it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR
Amounts included in the measure B3t AR HERHIHE
of segment profit or loss or ECitBeeE:
segment assets:
Depreciation and amortisation EnfEREY
for the year 30,212 8,605 3,562 42,098 168 84,645 6,101 3,789 94,535
Additions to non-current assets EmitEnEaE
during the year 15,885 1,697 4,361,932 31,543 258 4,411,315 6,615 570 4,418,500
Allowance for (reversal of) bad debt on & HEUZEERE 7
trade receivables B(RE) 1,622 - - - -8 (33) - 1589
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BERXE
plant and equipment b (826) - - - - (826) - - (826)
Change in fair value of RENELLAHEEY
investment properties - - (196,271) - - (196,271) - - (196.271)
Changes in fair value of held for HEEE REL
trading investments NN - - - - 13326 13326 - - 1332
Realised loss on AFS investment EHEREY
PEREE - - - - 2170 2,170 - - 2170
Interest income earned on bank RETERRFTER
balances and pledged bank deposits T AEILHEKA (13)  (823)  (989) (1088 (%48  (3,984) (113) 9 (4146)
Interest income from REEERERIGE
finance lease receivables LHERA - - - - (32,748)  (32,746) - - (32,746)
Interest income from loan receivables  REEFENFEL
HERA - - - - (127,691)  (127,691) - - (121.691)
Interest income from deposits REWERS ZFEHA
for acquisitions - - - - - - - (1,620) (1,620)
Interest expense arising from provision EIEBEEREL L
of financial business HERX - - - - 9553 9553 - - 9553
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segment without allocation of expenses arising from corporate

administrative expenses, other gain and loss of corporate,

share of profits from associates, corporate other income,

finance costs, gain on disposal of subsidiaries, bargain

purchase gain and impairment loss on goodwill. This is the

measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E)
Other segment information (Continued) HibhpHER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2016 BE-_ZE-—NFZHA=1+—HIFE
Property
Trading ~ development Reportable
and and Solar  Financial ~ segments' Al other
Printing logistics investments photovoltaic ~ senvices total  segments  Unallocated Total
NEER E i}
O5 EB5RmE  RRE ABEAK  2RRE g EHAY AR Eh)
RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR AREFR AREFR ARETR AREFR
(restated)  (restated)  (restated)  (restated)  (restated)  (restated)  (restated)  (restated)  (restated)
(@s5)) (@Ej) (@=3) (£35) (GE5) (@Ej)  (@E5) (4EN)  (BE))
Amounts included in the measure B3t ADBiEHE
of segment profit or loss or IREEBLER:
segment assets:
Depreciation and amortisation ERERSH
for the year 31,31 5,081 10 8,006 62 4530 1168 2819 48517
Additions to non-current assets ENEERRAE
during the year 28183 183,030 195,616 709,089 385 1,076,303 84,943 18162 1,179,408
Allowance for bad debt on BARNGARE  BG
trade receivables 13 - - - - 13 105 - 118
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BEREE
plant and equipment b (259) - - - - (259) - = (259)
Change in fair value of held for HEBEIREL
trading investments NN E) S S S = Booy 500 = = (5,001)
Interest income earned on bank RETERRETER
balances and pledged bank deposits  TEEIEFEZ F B A ) (318) (64 (19 031 (10149) oo (148 (1189
Interest income from finance REBERERYGEL
lease receivables HEMA S = = S (51275 (31,279) - - (51,275)
Interest income from loan receivables KB EFENEEZ
Hla - = = 5 (2491 (2949 - - (949
Interest income from deposits REWERS ZFEHA
for acquisitions S = = S S = 5 (5,520 (5,520
Interest expense arising from provision RS BRBEERELL
of financial services business flags S - - - 42,663 42,663 - - 42,663
Segment results represent the profit or loss of each operating DELEERELZLEBESIEWIEBLE TR

EXRECETHRER  RiERKERE

B oEsERREN

MIEEA - LB E D FRS

EEREMEA -
EEWRE

W REEREBE MY - DRFEEZ
AENAEFERKERRELZHBARRER

DECHMAE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEER(E
Other segment information (Continued) HibpHER(E)
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities AEBEZEERABRAZHOHED 2
by reportable segments: DA -
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTIT
(Restated)
(&=E3)
Segment assets PHEE
Printing EN Rl 522,385 411,522
Trading and logistics B 5 KR 752,906 472,356
Property development and investments PR NIRE 6,980,597 875,894
Solar photovoltaic IN TP AN 1,382,247 1,129,678
Financial services & RUARTS 1,551,940 1,941,384
11,190,075 4,830,834
All other segments P Efth 55 50 338,847 223,701
Unallocated assets A EE 143,267 212,384
Consolidated total assets IEE BB E 11,672,189 5,266,919
140 i HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

DERPER ()

Other segment information (Continued) HibhpHER(E)
2017 2016
—E—+HF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
(Restated)
(&=E3)

Segment liabilities PEEE

Printing ENfRI 472,707 127,952
Trading and logistics B 5 KR 893,240 445,528
Property development and investments PR NIRE 3,203,924 347,167
Solar photovoltaic IN TN 1,144,298 741,576
Financial services & B AR 129,748 243,625
5,843,917 1,905,848
All other segments P Eih o ED 416,796 57,316
Unallocated liabilities Ao aE 1,885,629 328,429
Consolidated total liabilities mematt 8,146,342 2,291,593

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than

corporate assets and interest in associates; and

- all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other

than corporate liabilities.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

REENBERARED T ZEERD

PMEEENTKELEDR  BXE
RN E R B Z RN - B

ERABIKELEDH Hr BXER
BEERSN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:-‘/T:llji%#&%ﬁﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2017

=

—E—+F=A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong, PRC
and the United States of America (“US").

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets is presented based on the location of the operations
of relevant group entities. The following table sets out
information about the geographical location of revenue from

external customers and non-current assets:

o ERER ()
e EE R

AEENKETESMHAESTE - HEME
NBERBE(TEE]) -

AEERBIMNBEFPZEFBEEMTIER
EPMMHEY c ARAREIERBEE
MERDEREHESEEBNRENESR
5l o TREINIKRBINBEP ZEFKERIE
MBEERMIBLEER

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets*

KB SR

BEEZE¥E EREBEE
2017 2016 2017 2016
“E—tF ZT—RF ZEB-tf ZE—R%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETRT AR%¥Tn ARBT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#==51) (i &%)
PRC A 2,731,076 1,023,021 6,667,772 1,557,606
The US e 196,029 192,866 30 20
Hong Kong B 272,249 82,509 15,638 18,188
European countries BUMBER 52,844 45,555 = =
Other countries HiBER 61,794 30,968 = =
3,313,992 1,374,919 6,683,440 1,575,814

assets.

Information about major customers

Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax

The Group's customer base is diversified and none of the

customers whom have transactions with the Group exceeded
10% of the Group's revenue during the years ended 31 March

2017 and 2016.

* FRDEETERERIAREEHIEE
B o

FHRXEEFNESR

AEBEHEEZTTIENERER  BE-F
—tFERZE-ARF=ZA=+—HIEHF
B BMERFHEASENR SEBRANER
EERR0% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

8. HittimREE

2017 2016
—EB—tF —E-R
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARETTT
(Restated)
(E751))
Financial guarantee contracts expense B R A R (K3E36)
(note 36) (44,281) S
Amortisation of financial guarantee B TS IEARG #OBE S (M 2E36)
contracts (note 36) 9,481 -
Bargain purchase gain BN ES - 155
Realised loss on disposal of MEREME 2B EIREE
investment properties - (447)
Realised loss on AFS investment AHEERE 2B 2B EE (2,170) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - KEREH W=
plant and equipment 826 259
Change in fair value of held for RHEEBEZREAAEEY
trading investments (13,326) 5,001
Exchange gain, net b Uk 2= /R 473 6,747
Allowance for bad debt on B 5 W GRIBZE IR B
trade receivables (1,589) (118)
(50,586) 11,597
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HA
2017 2016
—E—+tF —EREF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥F T ARETTT
(Restated)
(I &%)
Interest income earned on bank balances $R7T 458 K SR1TIEIR 7 ZBEEY
and pledged bank deposits ZFBUA 4,146 11,892
Interest income from deposits REWEIRE 2R BUA
for acquisitions 1,620 5,520
Others Hitb 4,473 1,736
10,239 19,148

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

10. FINANCE COSTS

. BBER

2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBTIT
(Restated)
(&&&E7))
Interest on bank borrowings and RITERERE —EEREE 2
borrowings from a financial institution B2 154,756 260,806

REEEERAG ZREMEK

interest free borrowings from ZIHEF B

immediate holding company - 2,995
Effective interest expense ARESEZ BEF B

Imputed interest arising on

on convertible bonds 28,992 2,153
Effective interest expense NAMEF ZERNERX
on corporate bonds 10,180 -
Other finance charges HEmi%ER 27,710 8,634
221,638 274,588
Less: interest expense recognised in B HE MRS AE R
cost of sales and services =N (9,553) (42,663)
Less: interest expense capitalised into W R BERZE BN ERER
investment properties under EME BRPEEWE
construction/properties under
development for sales (79,573) (15,8006)
Less: financial charges capitalised into B MBERAEEATNMEE
investment properties under ERIREYHE
construction (21,977) =
110,535 216,119
Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 10% (2016: fitat - BRKEIREFIFEI0%(ZF—RF : 10%)
10%) per annum to expenses on the qualifying assets. FUBRELEABREENRX ©
144 by = HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. EHExX
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT
(Restated)
(1&E7)
Current tax: BREATR IR
Hong Kong Profits Tax ERBMEHR 3,087 4,848
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EATSR 39,133 45,884
Other jurisdictions HAth el A= 201 134
42,421 50,866
(Over-provision) under-provision ANFFE 2z (BEEEE)
in prior year: BiETE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEFIEH (6) (8)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (b PTIS 18 -
12 (8)
Deferred tax IRAERIE 48,714 (146)
Total income tax recognised in B RS ATE
profit or loss 91,147 50,712
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) of B 78 RS Y 1R 6 M Ad BT P SR B e A BA
the estimated assessable profit for the year. 16.5%(ZF—7"F : 16.5%) KB RTH -
PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at FEMBARBARMNTECEMEH -
25% for the year (2016: 25%). FERNHERB25%( T — N4 @ 25%) °
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates Hith ADAAE R B IRIZ AR FLA R 2 3R AT
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. BMEGTE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

146

profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 1. RSB (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the FAMGHHAX A RESER MEMEE

W R TR R B PRI T

2017 2016
—E—+tF A=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETTT
(Restated)
(E7)
Profit before tax bR B A& 134,548 26,223
Notional tax on profit before tax, BB E N 2 BEMIE
calculated at the rates applicable to HERANB@EREER R
profits in the jurisdictions concerned HF Rt E 60,929 11,032
Tax effect of expenses not MRWBBOME - ARIHIE
deductible for tax purposes Bz a2 26,864 119,581
Tax effect of income not RBWERME - HERD
taxable for tax purposes WA ZBIER & (7,867) (13,630)
Tax effect of different tax rate applied on ¥ HEME R T ER TR
gain on disposal of subsidiaries MEZHIBTE - (76,407)
Tax effect of tax losses/deductible KREERZ HIEER TR
temporary differences not recognised ZERER AT E 12,076 10,346
Utilisation of tax losses/deductible EFANERER 2 FIAERE
temporary differences previously AR R E R
not recognised (867) (202)
Under (over)-provision in ARFERET R (BEEE)
respect of prior years 12 (8)
Income tax expenses FriSHiF 2 91,147 50,712

'
"
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

12. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 12. FE&HM(E8)
2017 2016
—E—+F TE—RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBTIT
(Restated)
(&&&E7))
Profit (loss) for the year is arrived after FREHEFER) &k G A)
charging (crediting): AT &IAIEIED :
Directors’ remuneration EEWE 30,598 16,046
Staff cost, excluding directors’ remuneration: E TAXA » TEIEEEME ¢
Salaries, wages and other benefits HE - TENEHMET 213,947 164,852
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  iEREFIFH 2K 26,303 19,036
Share-based payments ARG B ERE Z 32,626 14,361
Total staff costs 48 TR 303,474 214,295
Rental income from investment "EYMEZHSWA -
properties:
Gross rental income from KEWEZ BASIA
investment properties (5,774) (7,625)
Less: direct operating expenses W FAEERSRAZERE
incurred for investment MEZBELEERY
properties that generated rental
income during the year 407 381
(5,367) (7,244)
Amortisation of land lease premium + 3 FH B % (B £ 4,225 1,945
Auditor’s remuneration % E RN N
— Audit services —FH AR 2,581 1,878
— Non-audit services —FEBTETARTS 792 =
Cost of inventories recognised FERAER AR
as an expense 2,818,950 1,107,048
Depreciation for property, ME - WEMIEERE
plant and equipment 90,310 46,572
Operating lease rental on land T RBEYNKEHERS
and buildings 21,245 20,059
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Directors

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors and

the Chief Executive were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2017

13. B - FETHABREEZ
#r A

BS

TIRENUENEEERERTRAR
ZEEN -

BE-E—+tHF=ZA=+—HLEE

Retirement
Salary Discretionary ~ benefits Share-based
and other bonus scheme payments
Fee allowances (Note a) contributions  Sub-total (Note b) Total
Ukt
RER
HER  BEEL  BRAEA PATES
s HAfEE  (FF)  HEER Mt (WD) st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR
Executive Directors HEE
Mr. Meng iyt - 7142 - - 7,142 5,744 12,886
Mr. Wu Jiwei ("Mr. Wu") RERFE(R%E]
(Chief Executive Offcer) (i) - 4312 - 16 4,328 5,744 10,072
Mr. Guo Song PErk
(Deputy Chief Executive Officer) (BlfTHEs) - 1,467 - - 1,467 4,064 5,531
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV #4{72E
Mr. Zheng Bailin Janrk 129 - - - 129 574 703
Mr. Shen Ruolei TERRE 129 - - - 129 574 703
Mr. Pun Chi Ping BATRE 129 - - - 129 574 703
387 12,921 - 16 13,324 17,274 30,598

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors waived

any emoluments in the year ended 31

March 2017 (2016: nil).

{
JRE b v =

HE_Z2—+F=A=+—HBILtEE ¥
EXETRABRTAEERETH(=Z
—NEE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13.
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2016

Salary  Discretionary
and other bonus
Fee allowances (Note a)

ek BERM

we  EfpEE (fita)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETT  ARETR
(Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated)
(mg3)  (&F5)  (RES)

£F . IBTHABRESY
()
BEx(E)

BRE-FAFZA=T—AILEE

Retirement

benefits Share-based

scheme payments
contributions Sub-total (Note b) Total

Dl

BEN

T PATE
AR 1Nt (Hrztb) )

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AREFT ARETT ARETR
(Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated)
(m#5)  (g%5)  (@&F) (&5

Executive Directors #1EE
Mr. Meng ARk - 6,758 - - 6,758 1182 7940
Mr. Wu Jiwei ("Mr. Wu") REETE(REE])
(Chief Executive Officer) () - 4,082 - 15 4097 s 4097
Mr. Guo Song Ferk
(Deputy Chief Executive Officer) (Bl Es) - 1,202 - - 1,02 1478 2920
Independent Non-Executive Directors B ##/78%
Mr. Zheng Bailin B 122 - - - 12 41 363
Mr. Shen Ruolei TEERE 122 - - - 12 yI 363
Mr. Pun Chi Ping i 122 - - - 122 yl 363
366 12,082 - 15 12,463 3,583 16,046
Notes: Kz -
(a)  The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the individual (a) BN 2 E M EERAEE BRI
performance of the Directors and performance of the Group as a MEE °
whole.
(b)  These represent the estimated value of share options granted (b) HWEERBEAQREREFENESREHZ

to the Directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The
value of these share options is measured according to the Group's
accounting policies for share-based payments transactions as set out
in note 4.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

BREZ hEHEE - WEBREZEEE
RAEEERAARNDAERZIN AR ZNE
FHHCR (B HIEE4)5t 8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors (Continued)

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal
terms and number of options granted, are disclosed in note
41.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as director of the Company.

Employees
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in

the Group, there were three (2016: three) directors whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures above. The

13. E5 - FETHABREEZ
BN (&)

BEE(8)
HEEYRN 2 FE(BEMEEREZX
RIFFR BB ) RHI 41 EE -

ERRTEFEZHFHERSTREEARR]
RASENEBMIRER 2 REERE

FABTIFMITEE 2 HMEEEIERA
RAEFRHZREERM -

==

AEELEREFMALH  BE=2R(=

T—REF ZREF FENFHRLEX
WEE - HBMB(ZE—RF MB)AL

emoluments of the remaining two (2016: two) individuals were ZEBmT
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
(Restated)
(&=7))
Salaries and other allowances e R EAERL 2,642 2,247
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RKEFIETEI R 31 30
Share-based payments VARG A B R 2 5Pk 7,229 3,843
Discretionary bonus BETEAT 838 540
10,740 6,660
I [ =4 HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

13.

14.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following band:

£% .  FETRABRESY
i (48)
BE (&)

WEZHMWEMEATBENA

2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
AE ANEX
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 T2 4,000,0007% 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 752 4,500,0007% 7T - 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 T2 6,000,0007% 7T 1 =
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 T2 6,500,0007% 7T 1 =
2 2

DISCONTINUED OPERATION 14, BRI EETE

On 18 January 2016, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with Hareon Solar Technology Co., Ltd. (“Hareon
Solar”), a company established in PRC and its shares are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, pursuant to which
the Group conditionally agreed to subscribe and Hareon
Solar conditionally agreed to issue 629,629,629 new ordinary
shares of HK$1 each in the share capital of Hareon Solar in an
aggregate consideration of RMB1,700,000,000.

The aggregate consideration will be firstly settled by the
fair value of the entire 100% equity interest of a subsidiary
of the Company, Huajun Power (China) Limited (“Huajun
Power”), and its subsidiaries (collective as “Solar Group”) and
the remaining balance will be settled by cash (“Combined
Consideration”). The subsidiaries of Huajun Power were
acquired during the year ended 31 March 2016.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

R_ZE—XR"F—A+N\8  KEEEEH
HARBEBROHBRAB(DEEXK] - —
KRHPEKZ AR - EROR EGES
R EMGILRERZ - Bt - ~5E
BEMRERE  MEBLRERERE
2£17629,629,629 1% 8 B Y AR AF
BBz @EERD  BREBARKE
1,700,000,0007T, °

BREBEANRRTAMNBERARNERES
(FEDERRB([EZEN]) REAKE
RE(HHE [ REE ) 2 236100% M 42
ZRAEXN  BRBUARES M (A6
RE]) - EBENZMEBRARRBE_Z
—NF=ZA=T—HIFEBA -
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

At 31 March 2016, the assets and liabilities attributable to the
business carried out by the Solar Group had been classified as
a disposal group held for sale and were presented separately
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

On 4 January 2017, Hareon Solar proposed to revise the
subscription agreement, pursuant to which the consideration
for the subscription has been changed from the Combined
Consideration to cash consideration only. As the equity
interest of Huajun Power will no longer be a part of the
consideration in the subscription, the directors of the
Company considered that the Solar Group should be classified
as a continuing operation for the year ended 31 March 2017.

As a result of the change in consideration, the Group ceases
to classify the Solar Group as held for sale and the results
of operations of the Solar Group previously presented
as discontinued operations have been represented and
included in individual line item of income and expense for
the year ended 31 March 2017. Prior year figures have been
represented to conform with current year presentation.

On 11 May 2017, the parties to the subscription agreement are
certain that several conditions cannot be fulfilled on or before
the condition fulfillment date and it is uncertain as to when
such conditions can be fulfilled. After careful consideration
of all the circumstances surrounding the subscription, the
directors of the Company decided not to proceed with the
subscription for shares in Hareon Solar.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

14. CRILEEERR(EZ)

RZZE—RE=R=+—H RRKEEZE
BEEZEENBBEESBARKIELHEZ
HEEE  WEBRESVBIRRARAZE
5l) o

R-IZE—tF—AMAB - #ELREHEE
FIRBmE - B RBAEEHAHK
BEEREARERE BANEEENZK
FAESETBARBREZ D A2
REERABNRBE-_Z—tF=A=1+—
HIESE  AREBELSBEABBEERE
7 o

HAREEE  AEEKIEEEREESD
BABELE  MBEZI/EKRILEE
EB AR EEZL2ERECEIRRE
ET—+F=R=+—HIEFEFALK
ARHAXZEREE - BEFEHFEL
BHAEAFEN2INETF—B -

R-Z—+EHA+— B REREZLT
775 BT IR R TE IR ER B 85k
TR - R T (7B B S AL X
S IRME o ST B R T A R
% ADTEERERELTRBEER
2 R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

15. DIVIDEND

(a)

Dividends to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year:

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend and propose that the profit for the year be
retained.

Dividends to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the previous financial year approved and
paid during the year:

15.

FARARRRERBREGRE

EETHEBRERS  YEARE
FRER

FARAEIL R 5B R IBET B F
EORRREERRZE

2017 2016

—EB—tF —E-REF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

(Restated)

(&&5)
Final dividend in respect of the year HE—ZT—XF=ZA=+—H
ended 31 March 2015, approved and LEFJE 4 IR A B B AR
paid during the year ended 31 March Z=ZZ—RF=F=+—H
2016, of HK2.48 cents per share IFFEZRERE - BER

2.487%8 1 - 79,211

At the Board of Directors meeting held on 29 June
2015, the directors of the Company proposed a final
dividend of HK2.48 cents (equivalent to RMB1.98 cents)
per share for the year ended 31 March 2015, which
was estimated to be HK$79,319,000 (equivalent to
RMB63,455,000) at the time calculated on the basis of
ordinary shares in issued as at 31 March 2015. The final
dividend was approved by shareholders at the annual
general meeting on 18 August 2015. As a result of shares
issuance upon conversion of convertible bonds during
the period between 1 April 2015 and 18 August 2015,
the final dividend paid in respect of the year ended 31
March 2015 amounting to HK$97,033,000 (equivalent to
RMB79,211,000).

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

R-ZE—RFENA-_THILBEE1T2Z
EEggRl AQREFESEM
BHE_Z-—HE=A=+—HBI*
JEIRA R B &R 2.48 8L (B E
RARM1985) BERZ=ZZT—H
FZAZT+—BHNEHTEBERE
& ZE{EEr 579,319,000 7T (47
PN AR 63,4550007T) © R
RZZE—RAFNATN\BEITHR
REAFAKG FHERPRE - AR
AR EZZE—RHFNA—HZEZ
Z—RAFNA+/\HEHE RS R
BRESMETRY  BREBEE=Z
—HEFE=ZA=+—BLEFERMNH
RHEIAL B & %8 £ 97,033,000 7T (47
ERART79,211,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an (S ji%#&% Bﬁ'?

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the shareholders of the Company is based on
the following data:

16. ZREF

RRARRREEFRERNREERN TR
BEATEEAEMRS

2017 2016
—EB—tF —E-REF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
(Restated)
(&)
Earnings B2
Earnings for the purposes of basic and ARFTEEREARREERT
diluted earnings per share (Profit for the ~ ZAF|(AR B EEEFE
year attributable to shareholders of the wA)
Company) 22,717 27,090
2017 2016
—B—tF —EBRF
Number of shares KRG EE
Weighted average number of share for ARFTEEREARREERT 2
the purposes of basic and diluted B& (D hnteE 2 25 &5
earnings per share 5,938,283,921 3,735,795,032

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s share options or
conversion of the Company’s convertible bonds because the
assumed exercise and conversion would result in increase in
earnings per share for both 2017 and 2016.

AESREERNI TRRITEARRZ
E%Hﬂiéiiﬁ@zﬁ Az ;kES - RE
ABRRTENERES - E—LER-F
—NEMENTREAFIEM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. 9% - BEERE

Plant Furniture Computer
and and and office Motor  Construction-
Buildings machinery fixtures equipment vehicles in-progress Total
#ER ER
Y HEREE BEkE BAERE "E ERIE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
CosT HA
At 31 March 2015 R-E-1F=A=+-H 179,114 393429 11,048 42,457 6,840 - 633,488
Additions BE 251957 161,549 3993 3904 13,160 29,340 463,903
Addition through acquisition of ~ BBREHBAALE
subsidiaries (note 45) (Hiz245) 258,514 161,448 11,53 4574 704 9,023 445,799
Derecognition on disposals of REERBARETERED
a subsidiary - @ (19 29 (42 - (94)
Disposals k= - (15,265) 6 (@1 (49) - (15,361)
Exchange adjustment ERA% - 4872 166 485 115 = 5,638
At 31 March 2016 RZE-~EZA=1-H 690,185 706,029 26,718 51,350 20,728 38,363 1,533,373
Additions BE 8,568 14,533 4,700 6,94 13,572 19,955 68,269
Addition through acquisition of FRKEHBATEE
subsidiaries (note 45) (Wz45) 12,204 - 695 296 400 - 13,595
Disposals bt - (14,257) (108) (40) (2,735) - (17,140)
Exchange adjustment EH AR = 12,185 576 1,406 478 = 14,645
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tFzA=+-H 710,957 718,490 32,581 59,953 32,443 58,318 1,612,742
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ E3tH7E
At 31 March 2015 R-E-1F=A=+-H 101,370 285,878 6,588 37,485 4016 - 435,337
Provided for the year FRhEE 13,046 25423 2,644 3,039 2420 - 46,572
Derecognition on disposals of PYEHBARE
a subsidiary BUHEA - @ 0} 3 - - (12)
Disposals e - (12,596) @1 0 (21) - (12,665)
Exchange adjustment EAE = 5424 70 456 100 = 6,050
At 31 March 2016 RZE-AE=A=1-H 114,416 304127 9,254 40,970 6,515 - 475,282
Provided for the year FREE 26,521 49,878 3,975 5,516 4,420 - 90,310
Disposals il = (12,242) (107) (40) (1,715) = (14,104)
Exchange adjustment Eid% - 10,803 260 1,072 174 - 12,309
At 31 March 2017 RZE-+£=A=+-H 140,937 352,566 13,382 47,518 9,394 - 563,797
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tF=A=1-H 570,020 365,924 19,199 12,435 23,049 58,318 1,048,945
At 31 March 2016 RZF-~E=A=1-A 575,769 401,902 17,464 10,380 14213 38,363 1,058,091

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥1% - BERRE(E)
(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are i BEREEBEB TR EE MG
depreciated over their estimated useful lives and after taking FerBEENEGATEAFARNUAER
into account of their estimated residual value, on a straight- SERTERTE -

line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 20 — 50 years ey 20E50%F
Plant and machinery 10 — 15 years i Bs B e 28 10E15%
Furniture and fixtures 5-10 years FARBEEEE 5Z&10%F
Computer and office 56 years B ERAERE S5E64F
equipment
Motor vehicles 5-6years TE S5E6F
As at 31 March 2017 and 2016, all of the buildings are situated RZE—+ERZFE-RF=ZA=+—
in PRC and held under medium term leases. B FBEEEMHUAP R ARBREE
SR
Property, plant and equipment with a total carrying amount of RZT—+F=A=+—0 EELES
RMB726,455,000 (2016: RMB538,375,000) have been pledged ANEBT726,455000(ZF—RF : AR
to secure bill payables and borrowings of the Group as at 31 #538,375,0007) 2 W3 - BE RRED
March 2017 (note 49). ERZANEE 7 BN R B KA R (P 5E
49) o
18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 18. FAFHEMRIE
2017 2016
—E—tF —EB—ARF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARETT
(Restated)
(& E5)
Analysed for reporting purpose: BEREREMN IO
— Current assets —mEEE 4,832 4,832
— Non-current assets —JERHEE 199,505 202,853
204,337 207,685
At 31 March 2017, prepaid lease payments amounting to R-ZZE—tF=A=+—H BNHEEXR
RMB194,264,000 (2016: RMB155,817,000) have been pledged THE B AEARK194,264,00070 ( ZF—7X
to secure bill payables and borrowings of the Group (note 49). F: AR¥155,817,0007T) * EEALASE

B2 N R R A8 5k 2 AR (B aE49) »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWYE

Investment
Completed properties
Investment under
properties  construction Total
2% T T2
REW* REWE wat
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETTT ARETT AREFT
At 1 April 2015 M-Z-—REMA—H
(Restated) (&=&E5) 515,920 - 515,920
Additions e 2,638 - 2,638
Additions as part of ERLE—HKB AR
consideration received from FrU BB — 2B
disposal of a subsidiary ZIEE
(note 45) (Kfzt45) 10,578 - 10,578
Additions through acquisitions BB ENEB A REE
of subsidiaries (note 45) (K1zE45) 63,000 - 63,000
Disposals through disposals of BRI EH B ARG HE
subsidiaries (note 45) (Ktaz45) (515,558) - (515,558)
Disposals HE (3,000) = (3,000)
At 31 March 2016 R-T—RF
(Restated) =A=+—H(&E5)) 73,578 - 73,578
Additions HE 1,555 2,484,835 2,486,390
Additions through acquisition & BUEE —fEHTEB A 7)1
of a subsidiary (note 45) & (Hfat45) S 1,949,934 1,949,934
Change in fair value of BEME AR BT E
investment properties 1,646 194,625 196,271
At 31 March 2017 R-E—+F
—A=+—H 76,779 4,629,394 4,706,173

AEERBELHERAURDBERE
BRBEZHMBNEES AR BRI
EITRE - XDBRFTAREDME - B
AZEWREMX IR PEATHRERS -

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties. All of these
investment properties are under medium-term leases in PRC.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 31
March 2017 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out on the date by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited and Avista Valuation Advisory
Limited. The fair value of the Group's investment properties
as at 31 March 2016 had been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited. These valuers
are firms of independent qualified valuers not connected with
the Group and have the appropriate qualifications and recent
experience in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations.

In estimating the fair value of an investment properties, the
Group engages independent qualified professional valuers
to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of
investment properties.

In estimating the fair value of these investment properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s completed investment
properties carried at fair value of RMB65,418,000 and
investment properties under construction at fair value of
RMB4,629,394,000 have been pledged to secure bill payables
and borrowings of the Group (note 49).

None of the completed investment properties had been
pledged to secure borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2016.

There has been no change to the valuation technique during
the year.

As at 31 March 2017 and 2016, the fair values of completed
investment properties were arrived at by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in the
same locations and conditions.
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19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

REWE(E)

REBREMER _T—HF=A=1+—
HZRARENERPERTEENGRE
ABRRR RN EAFGHEABRAAR
EITHHNGHESE - AEEREVER
TE-RE-A=ZtT-RZAAETER
KMITRIEREBRARNMERE - %
EMEMREAEEMEREZBIA?
RAGERD - WA FBBEERIL S ER R
ZFAEMEBOHHERLR -

ERHARENENRAER - AREZRE
BIUAEREXGEMETHE - AKH
EEEREEMRZAE  ARZREAEZE
VABENBETERBAE - ARERA
MEETARRYFERATERINTS
BENBAE  NILR[FREVENRA

ERFZEREMELAER - WERE
BRENRE M&EERFH -

W-_ZE—+tHE=ZF=+—H A&EH
ZERIBENEDNRDIABARE
65,418,000 HIfR - MEERREDMENR
REBANREAL629,394,0007C © B AEAR
SEZENEEBERERZER(HE49)

RZZE—RE=R=+—H HEE%RT
REMEBERRBE 2 ERZER -

RERN - (EERID EEE) -

RIB—tFRZFB-—RF=ZA=+—
B ERIKRENEZAAEBETIZERR
— W RBEANBENERZTERHER
iER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REWE(E)

As at 31 March 2017, investment properties under construction
with aggregate fair values of RMB1,949,934,000 were arrived
at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for
similar properties in the same locations and conditions, taking
into account the accrued construction cost and professional
fees relevant to the stage of construction as at the valuation
date, the remainder of the cost and fees expected to be
incurred for completing the development and developer’s
profit margin. For the remaining investment properties
under construction with a fair value of RMB2,679,460,000,
the management reviewed the nature of the buildings and
structures of the subject investment properties and considered
that no market sales comparables were readily available.
Therefore, the fair value was arrived at by reference to the
market value for the existing use of the land, plus the current
cost of replacement of the improvements, less deductions for
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence
and optimisation.

R-EBE—+EFE=F=+—0 EZREY
¥ RAREBEEEAEARE1,949,934,000
T R ERR M RBERANEED
E¥EC2MBRBER UKEEREER
MM ERBRAEMNEAEERARSE
¥B8F  BHREKNEEEESTELD
E#RARERUAREREE SN RMmE
B MEBKEEREVEZAAEBEAAR
#2,679,460,0007t - EEECEMBH
BEMENEEMREBOEE - TRE
MEAEREATISEETELEER -
Al ZARBEDLELWIRBERERNT
B MmBEERERZERKANRYE
BREIBREFEHEEEANRELELT
E o

Details of the Group's investment properties and information RZEBE—tFR_FT—AR"F=ZA=1+—H
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 are REEREMERDRBRERMNFEN
as follows: T
Fair value
as at
31 March
Level 3 2017
R-ZEB—+tF
=RA=+—H
B=k ZRARE
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR¥ET T
Commercial units located in PRC MR Rz s N 4,706,173 4,706,173
Fair value
as at
31 March
Level 3 2016
RZE—RX
=H=t—H
E=M ZRfE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E=71) (&E7))
Commercial units located in PRC R B 73,578 73,578

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Recurring fair value measurement

The following tables give information about how the fair values
of these investment properties as at 31 March 2017 and 2016
are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which
the fair value measurements are categorised (Level 1 to 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

19. REWE(E)

KEMQARETE

TRITRNAEEZSERENENR_F
—tFRCE-RF=ZA=T—HHAR
BFRIZRANGHETE B ABE)
MER - URBEAREFEBABEDN
AESEEHRAEFENRAERER

ME—E=R) -

Relationship of
Fair value Significant significant unobservable
Property Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
EERIBEY EERLREE)
ES M DAERREH  GERE L8 ¢ SBRNAEBE
2017 2016
it
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTT  ARETR
(Restated)
(&271)
Investment properties under 2,679,460 A Level 3 Depreciated replacement Market unit sale rate per square Asignificant increase i the market
construction located at Minhang TER £=R costs approach meter of the land, after takinginto~~ unit sale rate per square meter
District, Shanghai, the PRC VEEETY account usage Ife, the location would resultin a significant

i 8 LENRTR L ERRENR

and size factors, at RMB19,616 per
square meter.

YRR LHTRENER  T2E
FRES NEREERZ  B§

ingreasg in fgjr vg\ue, agduvice versa
”?E%ﬁ%%ﬁ%@ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁ
RABAREN B2

FaRARESt6T
Investment properties under 1,572,000 N/A Level 3 Residual approach Monthly market rent at RMB120 per A significant increase in the monthly
construction located at the south- TER 528 Rt square meter for office use and market rent would result in a
eastern side of the junction of Titan RMB270 per square meter for significant increase in fair value,
Road and Zhongshan Road, retal use; and andvice versa
Shahekou District, BATRRSETARARS AT  BAMGHEARENMEHAAER
Dalian City, Liaoning Province, HARENRETARARS20T  BEN RoAA
the PRC fERERE: &
v EEEL REMPINERERE Asignificant increase in the estimated
RUERRR AR ERRENE Estimated total construction cost total construction cost to complete
to complete amounted to would resultin a sigificant
approximately RMB1,016,000,000  decrease in fair value, and vice
BT ERERTRTABARY Versa
1,016,0000007 i ARER AN REMAESA
AEREHS  RZTA
Expected developer's profit margin
at15% Aslight increase in the expected
ERERSANER1% developer's profit margin would
resultin a significant decrease in
fair value, and vice versa
ERERRENEEN LAEAL
BB R2A
i\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘l-ﬁ (=] ,ji%ﬁF&%Bﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REWE(E)

REMEQAAETEE)

Recurring fair value measurement (Continued)

Relationship of
Fair value Significant significant unobservable

Property Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

ERELREY EEEYS YL

E ME RMEXRGH HERE BAEE HEEMAECBE
217 16
Ttk I S
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR
(Restated)
(&271)

Investment properties under 377,934 A Level 3 Resiaual approach Market unit sale rate per square Asignificant increase in the market
construction located at No, Sanba TER £=8 Hat meter, after taking into account ~~ unit sal rate per square meter
Saquere, Zhongshan District, Dalian the location, sze factors, layout would result in a significant
City, Liaoning Province, the PRC and floor, at RMB21 046 per square  increase in fair value, and vice versa

fRhERES RETRIIE= RS meter; and BTRATREL EEARENEEY
RCRRRENR ﬂﬂm%iﬁ’i{“ BEEE.  DABAREN ROAR

HERZ FRRER AETH
ﬂ\ﬂ%‘? (I Asignificant increase in the cost
to complste would result in a
Estimated total construction cost signiﬁcant decrease in fair velue,
to complete amounted to and vice versa
approximately RMB76,000,000 I&*IMX MEEHL A EXER
[EHERERTHADRARY JiZ)T%
4760000007
Aslight increase in the expected
Expected developer's profit margin-~ developer's profit margin would
at15% result n & significant decrease in
BRARERNEAI% fair value, and vice versa
ERARMRNEEN RER0A
ERETH Rk
Commercial units located at the 11,361 10578 Level3 Market comparison method Market unit sae rate persquare— Asigificant increase in the market

basement of Xianghe Commercial
Building, Xiguan Community, Gaizhou

#=4 [t

meter, after t kmg into account
the location, sze factors, layout

unitsale rate per square meter
would result in a significant

County-level city, Yingkou City, and floor, at average RMB3 040 per  increase in fair value, and vice versa
Lizoning province, the PRC square meter (016: RMB2830per - EFXTRENEET A AN
fRPEEEEEOTENERTREL square meter), BERNAERREN R2HA

BANEANE BREN

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

SERATRENER HLENE.
HERE - BREER 8144
AR (575 §

THrARE28307) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Recurring fair value measurement (Continued)

19. REWE(E)

REMDAEFERE)

Relationship of
Fair value Significant significant unobservable

Property Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

EZRiBEY EZRLREE)

ES R LAERREH  fERY CD8 ¢ HERLAEZBA
017 2016
ZE-t TR
RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTT  ARETR
(Restated)
(271)

Commercial units located at Jincan 8,288 7000 Level3 Market comparison method Market unit sale rate per square Asignificant increase in the market
Garden, Xiong Yue Town, Yingkou 5o it meter, after teking into account unit sale rate per square meter
City, Lizoning provinc, the PRC the location, sze factors, layout would result in a significant

fRrEEELANHEEEAIE, and floor, at average RMBL,000 per  increase in fair value, and vice versa
-, square meier)(?(ﬂé: RMB33TT per BT pHmESEEELLEY

square meter). AR B TR
T e

HERZ FRRER STAK

THARB4000T(- %7 :

FARARE3IT) »

Commercial units located at Jinfeng 23,400 B0 Level3 Market comparison method Market unit sale rate per square Asignificant increase in the merket
Guesthouse, Sanjiazi Community, 54 HEH I meter, after taking into account the  unit sale rate per square meter
Bayuquan District, Liaoning province, location, size factors, layoutand ~ would resultin a significant
the PRC floor, at average RMB11,523 per increase in fair value, and vice versa

R Sl square meier)(ZO%: RUBY Sbper T pxTEEEBARENLER
ThyELEY square meter). AREREE - R
B AREN STRATRELER. HEBNE. MEAREN - R

HERE ARRER §VIK
THARK SBTL(_B-RE:
BFIRARRN 26m)

Commercial units located at the middle 37130 3000 Level3 Market comparison method Market unit sae rate persquare — Asigificant increase in the market
of Kulun Street, Bayuquen Distrct, 24 HEH I meter, after teking into account unit sale rate per square meter
Ligoning province, the PRC the location, sze factors, layout would result in a significant

HREEELGcBREAAEDE Y and floor, at average RMB5.932 per  increase in fair value, and vice versa
BREL square meier)(2016: RMBS80per ST A% EBAERNGEY

square meter). MBREEN B2
e e
HERZ FRRER STAR
FHARB (%7
FARARSUT) -
4,706,173 73578
There was no transfer among the three levels of the fair value BE-_ T+ ER-_E—RE=-A=+—

hierarchy during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

20. GOODWILL 20. &
RMB'000
AREFT
cosT R
At 1 April 2015 RZE—hFHA—HA =
Addition arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45)  FEUK &[T B A 7] i 18E (f17E45) 295,754
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 45) &M B AR (Hfat45) (232,670)
At 31 March 2016 and 2017 RZE—RFR
—2—+tF=HA=+—H 63,084
IMPAIRMENT R{E
At 1 April 2015 WZZE—RAFMA—H -
Impairment loss recognised in the year FRAERRRERE 232,670
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 45) &M B AR (Hfat45) (232,670)
At 31 March 2016 and 2017 RZF—RFR
—E—+tF=A=+—H =
CARRYING VALUES AREE
At 31 March 2017 R-F—tF=A=+—H 63,084
At 31 March 2016 R-FT—R"F=ZA=+—H
(Restated) (izEH) 63,084
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

20. GOODWILL (Continued) 20.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill have been
allocated to two individual cash generating units (“CGUs"),
comprising one subsidiary in industrial equipment business
and one subsidiary in the solar photovoltaic segment. The
carrying amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment
losses) as at 31 March 2017 allocated to these units are as

BE(E)

SURERRME - BEEDEEMIEER
ReELEM([REELEM]) B —
MIERBEE MBRR R —HKERE
RRDBZHMBRR - R-FE—+F=H
=t+—B BEZEEEGRRRERS
B)DRETHIER

follows:
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARBTT
(Restated)
(E751))
Industrial equipment — Zhejiang Linhai T3R8 — TR /S
Machinery Co., Ltd. (“Linhai Machinery”)  BR2a) ([ BE/S#W ) 57,238 57,238
Solar photovoltaic - Jiangsu Zhong Ke Guo A[Z8g Ik — T &k LB RE S 1K
Neng Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd. R BR AR ([FF])
("Zhong Ke") (Note) (Kta%) 5,846 5,846
63,084 63,084

Note:  All assets and liabilities of Zhong Ke was classified as assets held
for sale as of 31 March 2016. Details referred to note 14.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment of any
of its CGUs containing goodwill. During the year ended
31 March 2016, impairment loss of goodwill amounting to
RMB232,670,000 was recognised immediately upon acquisition
of Dalian Bao Xing Da Industrial Co, Ltd. ("Bao Xing Da”").
Details of the acquisition, goodwill impairment and disposal of
Bao Xing Da are set out in note 45.

|
-

'
"

KiiE: R-TE—XE=ZA=+—8 - vRzmE
BERBBIERABELNEZEE - 1B
ELBKTE14 -

HE-_Z—+HF=-A=1+—HBLEEE K
SEEEEREAMNALERENESE
FEMSERE BEZET—XF=A
=+—HLEFE RUBRERBLEEHE
ARAR([REGE |) & B EREERE
BB B AR232,670,0007C ° B YK
B mEREREEREEZFHE  #R1
fE45 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

20. GOODWILL (Continued) 20. iEHE(E)

The basis of the recoverable amounts of Linhai Machinery and
their major assumptions are summarised below:

Linhai Machinery

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group conducted
impairment review on goodwill attributable to the sale and
manufacturing of industrial equipment business at the end of
the reporting period and determined there was no impairment
of CGU containing goodwill. The recoverable amount of
this CGU had been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation and assessed that no impairment was necessary.
The impairment calculation used cash flow projections based
on approved financial budgets covering a 5-year period for
CGU, with pre-tax discount rate of 12% (2016: 14.39%). The
cash flows beyond the 5-year period were extrapolated using
a steady growth rate of 2% (2016: 2%) per annum. The growth
rate was based on the relevant industry growth rate forecast
and did not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry.

On 23 May 2017, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with an entity controlled by Mr. Meng (the
“Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Group has conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed
to purchase, entire equity interests in Linhai Machinery for
a consideration of RMB190,000,000. In the opinion of the
director of the Company, the consideration for disposal of
Linhai Machinery will exceed the recoverable amount of this
CGU and determined that there is no impairment of CGU
containing goodwill.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

MR TR EEEEERKETER
st

N2 7

BE_ZT—+F=RA=+—HIEFE K
SERMERARAIERBHERBEE
BREAEZBEETRERNLEES SR
ZNRSELBEUHERE - ZREELE
Bz A E e yiREREEFETE
BE - KRHEREEBEEHERE - RE
HAERAERRSELBEUCERER
ENFHRIMEREMEZRERE
A BATBER K B12%(ZF—RF
1439%) - A HABERZRERETIE
REF2%(ZFT—RF 2% NRELEE
EH  BRXTIREBHEBITRZEBREE
BAIEE - W ABBHERITEZ FIRE

RZFE—+tFRA=+=0 ~EEHE—
MERAEE(ER DES 2 BT RE
HEHE - Bt AEBBKGRELEE
MEFERGRERETEREHRMT 2R
- REA AR 190,000,0007T ° AR A
EERE HERGHRZARERBER
CEABNZAREBEETRERESES
BA(RERE)MERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

21. CLUB MEMBERSHIP 21. SFe%
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT
(Restated)
(F&E751)
Balance at beginning of year FHEATE 1,743 1,674
Exchange adjustment PE % 78 % 125 69
Balance at end of year FREREE 1,868 1,743
The club membership with indefinite useful lives is stated at EETEFREHcgReEUKRNEE
cost less impairment loss and is tested for impairment annually REBIEEY  HERETRE SR FiE
whenever there is an indication of impairment. The Directors TARENR - EELRXEMERRANE
are of the opinion that no indication of impairment loss was EBBIR -
identified with reference to market value.
22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 22. MEHERWIE
2017 2016
—E—tF —T-REF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
(Restated)
(#E5)
Current portion of finance A& T B e WK IE RN ERE
lease receivables 210,888 201,454
Non-current portion of finance lease R E R E WS IBIERNERE o
receivables 60,472 51,546
271,360 253,000
166 X l =4 HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)  22. &N ERKFIE(E)
Present value of
Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
RERENE REAERERE
2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-tf “E-RE ZE-tF “E-RF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E3) (E750)
Not later than one year —ER 228,505 219,585 210,888 201,454
Later than one year and not later than BB —FETRBRE
two years 68,955 57,705 60,472 51,546
297,460 277,290 271,360 253,000
Less: unearned finance income W AR BYE (26,100) (24,290) N/ATEA N/AT i@
Present value of minimum lease RERKHETERE
payments receivable 271,360 253,000 271,360 253,000
Less: Current portion of finance lease i, : Bi& T ERUMFBNHES
receivables (210,888) (201,454)
Non-current portion of finance WA ERWFAENSNS
lease receivables 60,472 51,546
As at 31 March 2017 and 2016, the finance lease receivables RZEB—tFR_FT—R"F=ZRA=+—
are secured over the leased assets mainly by machineries and B BERERWFEMERcEEEE
equipment. FERMBSRERE -

EEERBRAR | —T—tF#H ‘ 167
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collateral
of finance lease receivables in the absence of default by the
lessee. Estimates of fair value of collateral are made during
the credit approval process, by reference to the original cost
and the carrying value of the lease assets at the inception of
finance leases. All the Group's finance lease receivables are
denominated in RMB, the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The weighted average term of finance leases
entered into is 2.2 years (2016: 1.8 years) and all the leases
require repayment by instalments. In the event the lessee
breaches the lease contract, the Group has the right to use or
sell the assets leased and to call for full or partial repayment
of the outstanding balance of finance lease receivables. At
the end of the finance lease term, the lessee will be able to
purchase the leased assets at nominal price.

The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixed at the contract
date for the entire lease term. The average effective interest
rate is approximately 8.4% (2016: 12.2%) per annum.

Unguaranteed residual values of assets leased under finance
leases at 31 March 2017 are Nil (2016: Nil). The finance lease
receivables at the end of the reporting period are neither past
due nor impaired.

As at 31 March 2017, financial lease receivables amounting to
RMB 102,589,000 (2016: Nil) are due from a related company.
Details are set out in note 50(d).

154
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22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

BMEHERWEE)

EEBAREEONBERT - NEETA]
e BRI E S E W RE K
W BBEHEEECREXNANBERE
Mz EEERNEERILARE T EHIERG
ZAREETHE - AEBEZARER
ERBGRIEHUAAREE - ARKE AR
BEETRINEER  #ERE 2 NE
B A22F (T —/NF  1.84F) -
BFEHREE #E - BB AERA
4 AEEEREBXKEEEHAEE -
ERNASEEEREREPRBOEERE
HERKRBZREELH  RBEHE
HiR A AAGREEEERBEERESR
gg °

o

REEBEESENRN - HERNRAAR B HFT
BEEEAE - FHEBREMERLHE8.4%
TE—RF 1 12.2%) °

R-ZZE—+F=R=+—H mMEHEE®R
TEHHEEZARERRHKEERT(ZF
—NE T RBEHR  REMERK
FIEARBEARRE

M-_EBE—+E=ZA=+—HB ARK
102,589,000 (=& —"F:.T) 2 @mEM
EREWHRB T ER BB AR ZHIE -
B E T BT EE50(d) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES

23.

B REWFRTE K R S B YRKIE

2017 2016

—E—+HF —E—RF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

(Restated)

(&=E3)

Loan receivables B EIE 784,004 957,571
Interest receivables B e U F I8 104,827 3,533
888,831 961,104

Less: non-current portion R IERNERER Y - (168,738)
888,831 792,366

The Group's loan receivables, which arise from the money
lending business of providing personal loans and corporate
loans in Hong Kong and PRC, are denominated in either Hong
Kong dollars or RMB.

Except for loan receivables of nil (2016: RMB118,833,000,
which are unsecured, bearing interest of ranging from 8% to
16% per annum and repayable with fixed terms agreed with
customers), all loan receivables are secured by collaterals
provided by customers, bearing interest ranging from 9% to
18% per annum and repayable with fixed terms agreed with
the customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of
the reporting dates is the carrying value of the loan receivables
and interest receivables mentioned above.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

AEBZEFREREGEBNEERPBELR
HEAERXRRARERZ RE X MHE
£ ABTRARERERERL -

BREEFERFE(ZZE—XRF: AR
118,833,0007T * AEEA - TN F8%ZE
16%FF L BWARAREFZETENET
HARRAER) AN - AT B REWGRIBUL R
REMEIRRIERIER BN TI%E18%
FRERFBWERAELZTEMNETHR
WEE R EREEHIEBROTAEE
[R & A = SCFIT Il B R U SR IR K F) B R R
RIBMEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

23.

24,

LOAN RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2017, loan receivables and interest receivables
amounting to RMB344,827,000 (2016: RMB3,533,000) were past
due but not impaired. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary for these
balances as all loan receivables and interest receivables have
been subsequently settled.

23.

5 5B W R 0E K A B R UK TR

(&)

R-E—+F=A=+—H EFEKX
T8 R A B MR IR A R 5 344,827,000 7T
—ET—RF 1 AR¥3,533,0007T) 2 8 H
BRRBE - NAREERRANAEER
FEURIA R M B EMRIBE R ERAES -
BB ARZ S EREHRERE -

The aging analysis of these past due but not impaired loan %81 HA B AR 1B & 3R U TR B ) B R LR
receivables and interest receivables is as follows: BZEREOWAOT !

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARBTT
0 - 30 days 0£30H 240,000 3,533
31 -90 days 31290H 26,550 -
91 - 180 days 912180H 26,550 -
Over 180 days 180H LA E 51,727 =
344,827 3,533

As at 31 March 2017, loan receivables and interest receivables
amounting to RMB 260,340,000 (2016: Nil) are due from related
companies. Details are set out in note 50(f).

DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITIONS

MZE—+tE=ZA=+—H ARK
260,340,0007C(ZF —RNF:F) 2 EFER
FRIA K F) B UK 5k T8 TY e U BR B A R) 2 3K
18 o FEIBEHESI RS0

24. WERE

2017 2016
—E—tF A
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTTT
(Restated)
(&E5))
Deposits for acquiring: WA TSE 2 RS -
Wuxi Real Estate Development Group EETREMEREEEBRAG]

Co., Ltd (“Wuxi Real Estate”) (note a) (MEshmEHE]) (Hita) 500,000 -
Three forestry companies (note b) =EMERAE(FaEb) - 60,000
Yingkou Kunlun Real Estate Company ENEmEHERRAR

Limited (“Yinkou Kunlun Real Estate”) (Z20EmE1E])

(note ¢) (Ktatc) - 20,000

500,000 80,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

24. DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 2 March 2017, the Group entered into a non-legal binding letter
of intention with an independent third party that the Group agreed
conditionally to acquire 81% of the equity interest in Wuxi Real
Estate, which is a limited liability company established in PRC, for
a total consideration of not less than RMB1,000,000,000 and the
final consideration will be based on the assets valuation of Wuxi
Real Estate. Wuxi Real Estate is principally engaged in property
development and owns various residential development projects in
Wouxi, PRC.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has paid a refundable deposit of
RMB500,000,000 for the potential acquisition. As at the date of these
consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue, the
precedent conditions for the completion of the transaction have not
yet been fulfilled.

On 17 June 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party that the Group agreed
conditionally to acquire the equity interest in three forestry
companies for a total consideration of RMB160,000,000.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had paid a deposit of
RMB60,000,000. The deposit was interest bearing at 12% per
annum. During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group and the
vendor agreed to terminate the sale and purchase agreement with
immediate effect. The vendor had refunded the deposit together
with the accrued interest to the Group.

On 21 March 2016, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with two independent third parties that the Group
agreed conditionally to acquire Yingkou Kunlun Real Estate, a
limited liability company established in PRC. As at 31 March 2016,
the Group had paid a deposit of RMB20,000,000 as first instalment of
the purchase consideration. The acquisition had been completed on
13 December 2016 (note 45(a)).

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

24. Wi E (4)

Ffzt -

(a)

RIB—+F=RA_H AEEE-LBL
E-FRIVEERHNRNEME  ~EEE
BHREBERBESTEBE(—RRHERK
IMARDE)8I%ME  BEETLR
AE#1,000,000,0007C * &AL REHER
BETFEHECAEMERNE - BEHEH
EXENENERBITRNTEESERERE
FEHRIAR -

RZZB—tF=ZA=+—H ' X&EERE
TE U BE 2 1 A R #500,000,0007T AJ TR B 1R
T RULEGEMBRREERHBZAE -
TR 5 2 SRMGE I HAREK

RZZT—RFANATER  AEEH—-FH
NE=ZFFINEBRE Bt AEEAR
R E A B R EAR160,000,0007T U iE =
RRERR)ZARAE ©

R=B—AF=A=1-0  AREEXH
Ze AR#60,000,0007T - & TIHE12% 2
FHEHE - BE-F—LF=A=1—H
LEE - ARERES AL B
B EHBRSEFAMIHBRETAE
o

RZBE—XRE=ZA-+—8B AX&£EHEB
ZBUF-—HEIUEE D B A%
EERHRERBELEOERBHESGRD
A(—ARPBEKNIMERAR) - RZF
—AEZA=+—8B  AEEDIMAR
¥20,000,000TCIZ G EBERB2E—H 8
A ZWBER-E—XR"E+-A+=A%
X (M FE45(a)) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

25. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

25. AIMEHERE

Available-for-sale investments comprise: AHEERERR
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
(Restated)
(&=E3)
Listed bond investments, at fair value EWEFEERARER)
(note a) (Kizta) 91,854 215,457
Unlisted fund investment, at fair value FELTEEFREGRAAER)
(note b) (KtzEb) 140,382 125,000
Total #Et 232,236 340,457
Notes: Bt -

(a)

The effective interest rate of these listed bond investments is
ranging from 3.9% to 13.1% per annum (2016: ranging from 3.5% to
10.3% per annum). The basis of fair value measurement is based on
the reference prices provided by counterparty financial institutions.
The fair value is measured at Level 2 fair value measurement (as
defined in note 44(c)).

In March 2016, the Group subscribed HK$150,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB125,000,000) shares of China Huacai Finance Equity Investment
Fund SP (“China Huacai”), a private investment fund incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and managed by a financial institution listed on
the Stock Exchange. The investment objective of China Huacai is to
achieve capital appreciation through investing in funds, securities,
bonds, ownership interest and private equity investments offered
publicly or privately and in relation to energy and environmental
protection.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group further subscribed
shares of China Huacai at a cost of HK$6,883,000 (equivalent to
RMB6,146,000). As at 31 March 2017, the net assets of China Huacai
attributable to the Group represents approximately 33% of the
total net asset value of China Huacai. Pursuant to the offering
memorandum of China Huacai, the directors of the Company
considered that the Group has no significant influence over China
Huacai because the shares subscribed by the Group do not confer
the right to the Group to appoint either directors or investment
manager of the fund. The major underlying asset of China Huacai is
a prepayment for acquisition of power stations from Hareon Solar
amounted to US$58,051,000 (equivalent to RMB401,692,000). The
fair value of the unlisted fund investment is measured at Level 3 fair
value measurement.

(a) ZELTEFBREZEBEFNENTII%
B131%(ZF—R"F : FMENF35%F
10.3%) - AREFENEFH S BB IRE
BRIELERER - ARENRE-RIA
BEtE2H A (ERRMF44(0))ETE ©

(b) RZT—XE=A - A%£ERE150,000,000
77T (8% M A R ¥ 125,000,0007T ) B £
SRR EES ([FEEN] - —@AR
P2 BB MY B — R L
SREEEENLEREES)ORG - F
BEMMIRE B IZABBRIRENERLIRR
BENAESIALEES BEH - EF A
R RALARBISEEREALE -

REBE-_T—+F=-A=+—BLEFE &
EE B # — PR B EE 6,883,000 7T
(HERARES,146,0007T) BB D - K=
T+t F=-A=+—R0 AEEREEFEHE
EREAEFEGCTRENREEFEND
33% c BIBFRHEN 2 BHEZR - AARE
ERE ARASEERBHOROTETAS
EEmESFRESRELCENER  BA
CEHPEER S EEATE - PEE
2 X BIEEE E ARG SRR E 3 E R
2 FB{F 3018 58,051,000 T (HHERARE
401,692,0007T) ° FEMESREZ AAE
TRBE=R R R ETEN AT E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

26. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 26. REFERR 2=

2017 2016

—E—+HF —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

(Restated)

(#&=7))

Cost of investments in associates EBE N T Z AR 111,753 88,000

Share of post-acquisition profits DG EE 1% 5 T 9,206 3,178

Total #Et 120,959 91,178

Amount due to an associate (note) FET L R R IR (M RE) 21,372 =
Note: The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on Kiex: ZeEAEERA I BERBIRERE

demand. je
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

26. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of each of the Group's associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

26. MEE N 2w (4F)

REH

0
&

BERRRRESMRZFBOT

Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Country of place of ownership interest voting rights held
Name of entity establishment  business held by the Group by the Group Principal activity
L1 E2 RUFEER  TEEXLY AREFRRARREZ A AREFRGRABZAN  IERR
2017 216 2017 216
ZE-tF 3 ZE-tF 50
Liaoning Yinzhu Chemtex Group PRC PRC 49% 49% 49% 49% Engaged in manufacturing and
Co,, Ltd ("Lisoning Yinzhu") HE trading of nylon textile fibers in
RESRIGERARAA PRC
([BEHK]) EPE EERGRAGNREN
25
Liaoning Bei Fang Financial ~ PRC PRC 20% 20% 20% 20% Engaged in the transaction
Assets Exchange Co., Limited # H of wealth products, bond
("Liaoning BF Exchange") products, entrustment credit
EELHEHAERFPD right products and logistics
BRAF(EEL AR GHL) finance products in Liaoning,
PRC
EPERERERUER BHE
m REREREER NRER
EERNRS
Hareon New Materials PRC PRC 49% - 49% - Engaged in research and
Technology Development e development, manufacturing

(Liaoning) Ltd. ("Hareon

New Materials")
BEMMH(ER)BRAR(EE

#ite )

Summarised financial information of a material
associate

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
material associate is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial information prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.

All associates are accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

)
|

|
-

'
"

modified polymer composite
materials, automatically control
products, environmentally
engineering, energy products,
export and import trade

REMERY - HERANYER
AN BBEHER BRI
B whEn #HOE5

FEBEQNAMBERPE
AEBET2HERTNNBERM2ET

T o THMBERBEER S ARRE
BUBREEN ROV B ERIREHE

EUEEAMBRERT - FIABE QRS
RREEREAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

26. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material

associate (Continued)

26.

REENT 2B (E)

TEBREARAPBENBE(E)

Liaoning Yinzhu HER B
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2017 2016
RZZE—tF RZIZT—RF
=Z=A=+t—B =A=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETTT
Current assets RENAE 764,732 587,234
Non-current assets EMEEE 186,558 205,946
Current liabilities mERE (774,310) (611,808)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE - (10,790)
Since date
Year ended  of acquisition
31 March to 31 March
2017 2016

BE

—E—+tF BgHERREE
=A=+—H A=
EEE =ZA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETTT
Revenue EER 280,817 217,495
Profit for the year/period FR,ERERF 6,398 625

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

26. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 26.

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in Liaoning Yinzhu recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

REEE RN T 2w
AT R B

&)

FAMBHRERRN

BERR S EE@TEE’HTEEZZDT

As at As at

31 March 31 March

2017 2016

RZE—+tHF RZZE—RF

=A=t+-A =A=t+-H

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBTT

Net assets of Liaoning Yinzhu BERUZEEFE 176,980 170,582
Less: Assets of Liaoning Yinzhu not B EERKEES (L2

entitled to share BE (27,100) (27,100)

149,880 143,482
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBNEZERKEFAD

interest in Liaoning Yinzhu HAEERET LA 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest 4R A HEA AR EE R

in Liaoning Yinzhu in the consolidated BEERRAEERZ
financial statements BREE 73,441 70,306

Aggregated information of associates that are not
individually material

TEERERBHELATANGSEN

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2017 2016

BZE HE

—E—+F AN

ZA=+—-B =A=+—H

LHEE IEFE

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARMF T AREFT

The Group's share of profits REEDEHF 2,893 2,872
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s NS B 7t E 5 & A RIFT#E

interests in these associates 7 BERHEE 47,518 20,872
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wmm/tﬁ#&EMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2017

=

27. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

EEERARAR | —F

—E—+F=A=+—HIFE

27. FFHERNYZE

2017 2016

—E—+HF TE—RF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

(Restated)

(#E5)

Completed properties held for sale BIEHEME R TYE 661,381 431,000

Properties under development for sale BRPEEYE 408,113 229,947
Leasehold land held for development HIEERNGFE

for sale HE 51,000 51,000

1,120,494 711,947

Properties to be realised after one year B —F1B B 2 51,000 51,000

All of the above properties held for sale are to be sold as
part of the normal operating cycle of the Group thus they are

classified as current assets.

As at 31 March 2017, all of the above land and properties are

situated in PRC under long-term leases.

Properties held for sale with a total carrying amount of
RMB1,120,494,000 (2016: RMB93,291,000) have been pledged
to secure bill payables and borrowings of the Group (note 49).

—+tFR

A DR ENMERRAEE —R
@Aﬂ%WﬁE'.% Eaﬂﬁﬁm@
BE -

RZBE—+HF=A=+—H mEeELHAL
WRMEMNTE R ERABEOREE -

BIELENMEZEBLEAARE

1,120,494,000 T (ZF —RF : AR

93,291,0007T)  EERAAEE 2 ENEE
RABFZ IR (P 5E49) ©




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

28. INVENTORIES 28. 78
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—R
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBTIT
(Restated)
(&&&E7))
Raw materials R 125,272 70,566
Work in progress TERS 34,155 45,158
Finished goods B2IAK O 232,339 108,395
391,766 224,119
Inventories with a total carrying amount of RMB27,830,000 HEREE R AR27,830,000T(ZFE—X
(2016: Nil) have been pledged to secure bill payables and F E)NFEEERREEZENEERK
borrowings of the Group (note 49). fE sz AR (K3E49) -
29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 29. ESRHEHMEWTRIE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARET T
(Restated)
(& E5)
Trade receivables B 5N IE 414,412 312,612
Allowance for doubtful debts RAREBAE (2,452) (825)
411,960 311,787
Bill receivable (note a) FEN =A% (Frata) 119,775 19,704
Deposits and other receivables (note b)  1&& M E b FEUZRIE (K 7Eb) 112,878 91,693
Prepayments (note c) Tart A (K atc) 293,849 167,578
938,462 590,762
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 29. B REMEKRIRIEE)

(Continued)

The Group allows credit term to selected customers on a case-
by-case basis depending on the business relationship with and
creditworthiness of the respective customers.

Before accepting any new customer, the management would
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed from time to time. Allowances for doubtful debts are
recognised against trade receivables at 31 March 2017 and
2016 based on estimated recoverable amount determined by
reference to past default experience of the counterparty and
an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial position.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date which approximates
the respective revenue recognition date, at the end of the
reporting period.

AEBEZERBERLATFRETFNERS
BEMEEEE  AREEPREEES -

REMERFELR - BEEESHHERE
EPMEZER  URBEEFPHEEEFEER
B BTPMNEERBETE TUMT - R
RREDREBEEZDEYFER T —+EF
RZFB-—RF=ZR=+—BZMEtAkE
THRMER M REDERIESRYEF
FTHBEENCHEARHEF TREMB
ARRFTEDHTMESE

BEARBE TR AR E 2 B 5 M YRR BT H)
WERENELNEFER -

UTRERSHFR  BEEAMREEE
R B AR ) 270 H 5 AR £
S -

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
(Restated)
(&=7))
Trade receivables H 5 WA

0 - 30 days 0£30H 172,704 217,329
31 -90 days 31E90H 58,073 44,812
91 - 180 days 912180H 155,490 29,442
Over 180 days* HBiB1808* 25,693 20,204
411,960 311,787

S Included trade receivables of RMB16,237,000 (2016: RMB5,256,000) g B S M GRIAEAR 16,237,000 (ZF

related to retention monies receivable from customers in one year
after the invoice date.

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the
end of the reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is
set out in note 44(b).

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

—REF - AR¥ES,256,000T) HERNER
BB —FARKEFZRESER -

REEW AR F BT AT ER S -
RETE S 5 BURIAM AT @R - A&
BEZEREENRRLAPEEREHR

BHRWFBEEERZEMES - 58
SRR E A FE44(b) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 29. ESRHEMEBWFIE(E)
(Continued)
Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not BEMERRE 2 B 5 RIGRIERRER 2 1T 0
impaired: N
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTIT
(Restated)
(#&=7))
Overdue by: g Hp -
0 - 30 days 0&£30H 1,884 2,527
31 - 90 days 31290H 1,475 3,523
91 -180 days 91£180H 4,911 4,668
Over 180 days H#i®180H 10,344 11,909
18,614 22,627

Trade receivables which are past due but not impaired related
to customers that had good track records with the Group. It
has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the

BHEERBENE S REFUR RS B R
FROETECENTFAR - FEERY
REEBRZEE  ERDARKR/TEE

180

balances were still considered fully recoverable.

Yem e

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts: RERESEFWOT
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREFT
(Restated)
(re&51)
Balance at beginning of the year FAEER 825 6,199
Uncollected amount written off [ 1§ b N T - (5,741)
Provision during the year FREE 1,589 118
Foreign exchange adjustment (RS 38 249
Balance at end of year FARAEER 2,452 825
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 29. B REMEKRIRIEE)

(Continued)

At 31 March 2017, the Group's trade receivables of
RMB2,452,000 (2016: RMB825,000) were individually
determined to be impaired. The individually impaired
receivables related to customers that were default in payments
and management assessed that the receivables are not
expected to be recovered. Consequently, specific allowance
for doubtful debts of RMB2,452,000 (2016: RMB825,000) was
recognised. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

Trade receivables as at 31 March 2016 with a total carrying
amount of RMB3,475,000 had been pledged to secure bill
payables and borrowings of the Group (note 49).

Notes:

(@) The following is an ageing analysis of bill receivables presented
based on the invoice date which approximates the respective

M-ZE—+&FE=A=1+—HB A£EE
S EWFRIE AR 2,452,000 ( —ZF—X
F: ARM825000T) EEREE AR
BAE o BERIRE 2 FEU R IE B R A R
2EFEH TEBITZEEKZEA
TEHRR AT R E - B B HERR A B R AR BB
AR#2452,0007C(ZF—RE : AR
825,0007T) - AEBEWE N ZEBITE
R R -

RZE—RF=ZA=+—8 REAEAL
AR 3,475,000t E 5 K KRIBE 1E
BAEEZENERRERZER(KF
49) °

At :

(@) UTREZWMEDIR REFAH(EZE
RXERABAYEE) 2TINRURERE S

revenue recognition date, at the end of the reporting period. #r e
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ER-REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Bill receivables i e
0 - 30 days 0%30H 47,087 13,998
31 - 90 days 31&90H 51,583 5,054
91 -180 days 91£180H 21,105 652
119,775 19,704
As at 31 March 2017, bill receivables with a total carrying amount of RZE—LF=RA=+—H  #KEEARA

RMB90,696,000 (2016:Nil) have been pledged to secure bill payables

and borrowings of the Group (note 49).

R#90,696,0007T (=T —NF : T) AU
ZREEAREBZ ENRERERZIER

(PH7E49) »
(b)  Detail analysis for deposits and other receivables is as follows: b) REREMBERBZFASTAT

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T AR®ETF T

Consideration receivables on disposal HeE—RMEBAT 2 EWRE(F1345)
of a subsidiary (note 45) - 16,720
Other taxes receivables b U R 5K 31,697 23,055
Others Hih 81,181 51,918
112,878 91,693

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 29. EZRHEMBWRIA(E)
(Continued)
(c) Detail analysis for Prepayment is as follows: () TEHFAZ @O ¢
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Prepayment to suppliers, in respect of:  [AMtfER TN HITBEFIE - B -
- solar photovoltaic business supplies — KGN IREEA R 105,174 105,630
— oil by-products —AHEIER 130,152 54,913
— electronic products —EBTER 23,680 2,652
— others —Hfh 11,667 4,383
Prepayment to subcontractors for HRELEMEI NS BEN
property held for sale TR IR 23,176 -
293,849 167,578
30. HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS 30. KIEEEZRE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ET-REF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARBTT
Held for trading investments include: FIEEEZIRERIE
Listed equity securities listed in BB LMz ERAES
Hong Kong, at fair value (note a) (BRASERT) (KHita) 37,822 48,661
Listed equity fund investments, FTREESKRE
at fair value (note b) (B2 EE) (Meb) 44,909 -
82,731 48,661
Notes: iz
(a) The basis of fair value measurement is quoted price of equity (a) NAEFFEZEEERE AT T 2 IR

B - FHEEECRENAAERAE AR
REFEFEREM T2 RETE -

interest listed on the Stock Exchange. The fair value of the held for
trading investments is Level 1 fair value measurement based on the
quoted price from the Stock Exchange.

(b)  Asat 31 March 2017, the basis of fair value measurement is based on (b) RZE—+FE=ZA=1+—8 " AAEHEZ
the reference prices provided by counterparty financial institutions. EEDRBEHFHFoREBIRHEN2EE
The fair value is measured at Level 2 fair value measurement (as e RAEFRBAE_BAAENEFEAERE
defined in note 44(c)). BHiEa4(c)Et & -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

31. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED 3. MITHEBRRRE RITEAE
BANK DEPOSITS e
As at 31 March 2017, bank balances comprise of time deposits RZE—+F=A=+—H RITEREE
with maturity less than three months and carry fixed interest =& A R EI 8 & 2 1.50% % 3.90% & 7 4F
rate of 1.50% to 3.90% per annum. The remaining bank FIRFEZEMAFER - B TRITEBEN
balance carry interest at prevailing market rates which range FO%ZE1.70%( ZF—RF : 0%ZX0.42%)
from 0% to 1.70% (2016: 0% to 0.42%) per annum. FIRITHISHFEFERETE ©
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks RITERFEREEAREB CERNERK
to secure bill payables and borrowings to the Group. The BRZERmMMRTERZER - %5
deposits carry fixed interest rate ranging from 0.75% to 1.95% FERIENF0.75%E1.95% (=T —RF :
(2016: 1.69% to 4.7%) per annum. The pledged bank deposits 1.69%ZE4.7%) M EIFEFHEGF L o RITHE
will be released upon the repayment of relevant bill payables 017 5015 e 4B 8 FE 5 R 48 K fs BUEEE T I
and borrowings. Bl o
32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 32. EGREMEFFIE
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
(Restated)
(&&E751)
Trade payables B 5 ENFIE 344,869 293,144
Other payables (note a) H b B FRIE (Mt ata) 238,546 139,027
Other payables to non-controlling JFE RN B A BT &8 2 A
shareholders of a former subsidiary IEFERE S ER 2 H b 5k0E
of the Company (note b) (Ktztb) 119,989 120,000
Accruals T &M 31,902 28,137
Receipts in advance (note ¢) TEWRIE (Ftatce) 158,356 100,966
Deposits received (note d) Bz e (Katd) 39,000 80,590
932,662 761,864

EETRAERAR | —T—tF3k 183
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 32. E

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on

ﬂ]]u

B 5 RAEMENRK
ﬁ%%%v“%%ﬁ

g

RIE(48)

RIELEERAS

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. BRER D ATUOR o
2017 2016
—EB—tF AN
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
(Restated)
(&E5)

Trade payables B 5 RN IA

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 223,302 226,216
- 90 days 31290H 57,933 52,104
Over 91 days FRiE91 H 63,634 14,824
344,869 293,144

BEEYZFHERRNHR0HE - AEH

The average credit period on purchase of goods is

approximately 90 days. The Group has financial risk REMBRAREERE AUEZRMEZ
management policies in place to monitor that all trade ZENE IEE’WDFHHHW%:/% g

payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Notes: Bifat -
(a) Detail analysis for other payables is as follow: (a) H bR 2R I8 2 ST T
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E-RE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTFT
Amount due to Hareon Solar's related  JEfTS B ABEE AR 2 &5 (Kati)
companies (note i) 34,834 =
Amount due to a former shareholder of JEff—KWMB AT —ZRREZ L5
a subsidiary (note ii) (FtaEii) 66,188 -
Construction payables (note iii) FET 2 & B (K atiii) 43,711 -
Sundry creditor (note iv) IR FEN FRIE (K ativ) - 50,000
Others HAith 93,813 89,027
238,546 139,027
184 hs =1 HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand. More details about the related party
disclosures are set out in note 50.

(ii) The balance as at 31 March 2017 represents the amount due
to a former shareholder of a subsidiary, Yinkou Kunlun Real
Estate which was acquired by the Group in December 2016.

(i) The Group's construction payables based on invoice dates at
the end of 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil) all fell within the aging of
1 - 30 days.

(ivy  The balance of RMB50,000,000 as at 31 March 2016 was
received from a customer for guaranteeing its banking
facilities and subsequently repaid during the year ended 31
March 2017.

32.

E5 RHEMBNRIEGE)
e : ()

0] ZECHEQERER - TR ELRER
B8 - HRIBEN 7 2 B Z RBFHIEH
PAPHEESO ©

(iy BHBEAR_FT—tLF=A=+—8
BN —FKBAEER T —RF+ =
RSB ELREAR®mEHEDN
—HRABRZ &R

iy AEENENREBANDER=-F
—+tE=ZA=F+—RH(ZZT—X<F:
TIRRENBZEHEE - HERR
2EHA1E30H ©

vy RIZE-ARF=ZA=+—BHHRTEA
R #50,000,0007C SR A — & & P
DMERERITRENER - HERER
BE_Z—tF=ZA=+—HIHFE
EE -

(b)  On 30 March 2016, the Group disposed of its 80% equity interest in b) R-ZT—AF-A-+H KEEHEL20
Yingkou Wanhe (as defined in note 45) and its subsidiary at a cash A (TE B HEEA5) B E KB A F180%H ik
consideration of RMB480,000,000 and received RMB400,000,000 - B4 HR(E AR ARA480,000,0007T W H
from the buyer. The payables of RMB119,989,000 (2016: 75 U BL A R # 600,000,000 7T © FE < 28
RMB120,000,000) represented cash consideration received on behalf AR#119,989,000T( =T —<F : AR
of a 20% non-controlling shareholder of Yingkou Wanhe. 120,000,0007% ) 5 RIFH L OB A 20% 0%

R FEE R AR R EREY IR 2 (R AB -
(c) Detail analysis for receipts in advance is as follow: (© FEU 1B 7 AT

2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥TT

Receipts in advance from customers, REBFPHITEWKIE - B -

in respect of:
— property pre-sold —THEME 32,475 -
— solar photovoltaic business — KIZRENIRER 26,698 32,414
— oil by-products —AHEIER 85,667 6,492
— others —Hfh 13,516 62,060
158,356 100,966
(d)  Detail analysis for deposits received is as follow: (d)  BRBRESOFHAIFTNAT
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Deposits received from customers, in BERBBEENES B
respect of

— finance lease business —REFREEG 10,000 10,000
— provision of finance business — IR E X 29,000 70,590
39,000 80,590

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

<iSh

34.

BILL PAYABLES

The bill payables are issued by the banks in Hong Kong and
PRC with maturity up to one year.

An ageing analysis of bill payables based on the issuance date
of the bills at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

SEH

AL

ENZEREERDBENRITET
—FRBH -

DS

NTARENEBEERREHARZRELR
HiZ BRER DA

2017 2016

—E—tHF —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETF T ARETTT

(Restated)

(E7)

0 - 30 days 0&£30H 519,474 45,000
31-60 days 31260H 6,046 -
61-90 days 61290H 346,865 9,157
Over 90 days HB3E90H 1,503,053 60,592
2,375,438 114,749

All bill payables are pledged with the assets as disclosed in
note 49.

AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The carrying amount as at 31 March 2017 represents the
consideration payable of RMB999,321,000 for the acquisition
of HTJA Development (as defined in note 45) and is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 30 June
2018. On 30 March 2017, being the acquisition date of HTJA
Development, the directors of the Company assessed the
fair value of the consideration payable, taken into account an
effective interest rate of 6.5% per annum, and recognised an
initial fair value adjustment of RMB81,624,000 to the principal
amount of RMB1,080,945,000.

The carrying amount as at 31 March 2016 was unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand. During the year
ended 31 March 2016, all loans obtained from immediate
holding company in the year ended 31 March 2015 had been
early repaid. As a result, the Group had reversed deemed
contribution amounting to RMB37,767,000 as it was calculated
assuming the borrowings would be repaid in 18 months.

34.

AERNRE 2 EMEED RHE49H

= o

BN EEZER QT 2K

R_E—+F=A=+—HNEEERK
BEZELHE(TERWNFH5)NEMR
B ARM999,321,0007C © Z& 5 AEK
| AHBEAR-_ZE-N\EXA=1H
BE - RN_T—+tF=-A=1+HNERE
ZHRREZBBER)  ARREZRER
FHEOSBTHENNREZARE - &t
N4 5 A RH1,080,945,000 0 R A R #E
81,624,0007C 2 AR R EFAE o

MR- REF=A=1+—HEREEALRE
B T EBWEREREE -BE-Z
—NEZA=+—HILFE REE-Z
—REF=A=+t—HIEFEEBEEERA
RIESNAIAERCRENEE - At -
REBEBERETEARE37,767,000
T REABBTETIRREMERER8
ERREETE -

HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

35. BORROWINGS

35. &

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
(Restated)
(&)
Bank borrowings IRITER 1,520,356 1,324,809
Borrowings from a financial institution RE 2 BEE 2 fE5K 1,600,000 -
3,120,356 1,324,809
Secured AR 3,086,448 1,317,219
Unsecured 44 33,908 7,590
3,120,356 1,324,809
Carrying amount repayable based on RIRE R HAE R AR EE -
repayment schedule:
Within one year —ER 1,425,356 954,809
More than one year, but not exceeding —F LA BT BBEME
two years 15,000 150,000
More than two years but not more than ME EENBBRAF
five years 1,680,000 220,000
3,120,356 1,324,809
Less: Carrying amount repayable within 3§ : —FRER LI EKE
one year and do not contain a RESERIGHR 2 REE
repayable on demand clause (1,358,908) (948,243)
Less: Carrying amount repayable within B —ERNERMMEREK
one year and contain a repayable BPERZ BREE
on demand clause (66,448) (6,566)
Amounts shown under current liabilities  REBEE TARESEE (1,425,356) (954,809)
Amounts shown under non-current FERBEBHENI SR
liabilities 1,695,000 370,000

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

35. BORROWINGS (Continued)

The exposure of the Group's borrowings and the contractual

35. (L)

AEBEBFRRANZNA(REFTEH) Z

maturity dates (or reset dates) are as follows: R0
2017 2016
—E—tHF —ERF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
(Restated)
(Fe&51)
Variable-rate borrowings: FEFIREK
Within one year —F R 378,186 485,309
Fixed-rate borrowings: & & T EAE
Within one year —FR 1,047,170 469,500
In more than one year but not more —F U HETBAME
than two years 15,000 150,000
In more than two years but not more  FFA HEBTBETE
than five years 1,680,000 220,000
2,742,170 839,500

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as
follows:

REBMERZEENE(MERALHLFIR)
gFEWT :

2017 2016
—E—tF A=

Effective interest rate: BRFIR :
Fixed-rate borrowings & 7E F| R K 5.22-10% 6.56-10%
Variable-rate borrowings TFENFI R B 1.8-2.93% 1.85-6.18%

The weighted average effective interest rate on the
borrowings is 6.67% (2016: 5.99%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2017, certain banking facilities and loans
granted to the Group are secured by the Group's assets.
Details of the pledged assets are disclosed in note 49.

Certain banking facilities of the Group are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain financial ratios of
the Group, total equity and the amount of capital expenditure
incurred, as are commonly found in lending arrangements
with a financial institution. If the Group were to breach the
covenants, the drawn down facilities would become repayable
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with
these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management
of liquidity risk are set out in note 44(b). As at 31 March 2017
and 2016, none of the bank covenants relating to drawn down
facilities had been breached.

i
il

154
-

'
"

BRZMEFHERFRNERLTR(ZE
— N4 1 5.99%) ©

RZZE—+F=A=+—H AEEEX
METRITIEERERIARNEEEE(F
R - BRIEMREE ZF BRI A9 EE

nERRES MBI LB EHE -
SEAETRITHEEXNHEAEE S TH
BhHER  ERBEELREELEZEARX
HEHB L ZHBRR - MAEEERZ
# CHAMNCEBRAREXREER - AE
ETHERERETRERE - BHELE
BEEERERBESRBRZESFIBEHRNMH T
dhb) s RZFE—tFR_FT—F=A
—t+—H #MEERENEESHHEERE
ZERITH o
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

On 24 February 2017, the Group has provided a
corporate guarantee of RMB50,000,000 to secure a
banking facility granted to Liaoning Yinzhu, an associate
of the Group. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group has not recognised liabilities in respect of the
above guarantee issued because the fair value of this
guarantee was insignificant.

On 19 October 2016, the Group entered into a financial
guarantee in favour of Jiangsu branch office of China
Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. (the “China Cinda"),
pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide a
financial guarantee in respect of obligations and
liabilities of Hareon Solar and Jiangyin Hareon Solar
Energy Electrical Power Co., Ltd. (collectively referring to
as "Hareon Companies”) under restructuring documents
in the amount of approximately RMB383,361,000 (the
“Guarantee”). On the same date, Mr. Meng also entered
into a personal guarantee in favour of the China Cinda to
provide financial guarantee for the same obligations and
liabilities.

In order to protect the interest of the Group against
any loss which might be suffered by the Group under
the Guarantee, Hareon Solar entered into a counter
indemnity in favour of the Group pursuant to which
Hareon Companies agreed to, among other matters,
indemnify the Group for its liabilities and loss which may
arise from the Guarantee.

The Group has recognised a financial guarantee
liability of RMB44,281,000 at the date of providing the
Guarantee. The financial guarantee liability is amortised
over the financial guarantee period. The Group has
recognised an amortisation of financial guarantee
contracts amounting to RMB9,481,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2017 (note 8).

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

36.

HBEEE

(a)

R-ZE—+FE-_A=-+MHNHE  &x&
B2 EH A R#50,000,0007TEA
BR - UBRAEEMNEEQE)E
ERKER —BRTHE - REE
R AR ERNARELIESE
A AEBWEREL R ERT
BREE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued) 36. RERBE(E)

(c0  On 4 May 2016, the Group has provided a corporate (0 RZE—XR"FRAMA - AEEIR
guarantee of RMB22,990,000 to secure a banking facility AR #22,990,0007TE R BIER
granted to a subsidiary of Hareon Solar. Subsequently LARE R 8 B S AR BT BB A Bl —
on 19 January 2017, the Group further increased the HIRTTRE - BER T —+F—
maximum guaranteed amount to RMB77,000,000. At A+hB x&EEE—SREES
the end of the reporting period, the Group has not REFESZE ARYT77,000,0007T ° R #H
recognised liabilities in respect of the above guarantee EHR - AR LERO A EIL I
issued because the fair value of this guarantee is BXR - AEEVERED FRER
insignificant. MmigEREE -

37. DEFERRED TAXATION 37. EEBIE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for T RBELERIBE SR D - A B
financial reporting purposes: HRE
2017 2016
—E—tF —EB—ARF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARETT
(Restated)
(& E5)
Deferred tax assets RERIEEE (5,148) (4,976)
Deferred tax liabilities ELERAEAE 66,631 17,728
61,483 12,752
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

37. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following are the major components of deferred tax
liabilities (assets) recognised and movements thereon during
the current and prior years:

Accelerated
tax
depreciation

37.

Tax
losses

MRBERE REBS
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBT ARBTR

IESERL A (48)

NTAERRZEEHERE(EE) 2
SRR AREFER L —FE 2 8

Revaluation Impairment

of and
properties others Total
NEEHME BERE A -
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT

At 31 March 2015 RZE-RF=A=1—H 2,022 (252) 102,606 (3,408) 100,968
Exchange adjustments ERAEE (13) = = 36 23
(Credited) charged to profit 71825 (51 A)3Nk

orloss (494) = = 348 (146)
Acquisition of subsidiaries YR B A7)

(note 45) (Kit45) 132,126 - - - 132,126
De-recognition through ~ EBLENBAF

disposal of subsidiaries  FUHHEA(Hf7£45)

(note 45) (117,884) 252 (102,606) 19 (220,219)
At 31 March 2016 RZE-"¥=A=+—H 15,757 - - (3,005) 12,752
Exchange adjustments [E A% 17 = s = 17
(Credited) charged to EE&EF(GTA)

profit or loss Mk (165) - 49,068 (189) 48,714
At 31 March 2017 R=B—tF=A=+-H 15,609 - 49,068 (3,194) 61,483

At 31 March 2017, the Group does not recognise deferred
tax assets in respect of tax losses of RMB141,146,000 (2016:
RMB75,589,000) as it was uncertain that future taxable
profits against which the tax losses could be utilised would
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction. Tax losses
of RMB89,645,000 (2016: RMB48,887,000) do not expire
under current tax legislation and RMB51,501,000 (2016:
RMB26,702,000) would expire within five years from the year of
origination.

At 31 March 2017, temporary differences relating to
the undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries amounted
to RMB383,480,000 (2016: RMB226,902,000). Deferred
tax liabilities of RMB19,174,000 (2016: RMB11,345,000)
representing the tax payable upon the distribution of such
retained profits have not been recognised as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is probable that profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

R-E—+&E=A=+—8 BAREH
MEAZERETMNAERAKRBEIRK
MR RERREF 2T EEAE » K
EEWARFRIEEIE AR 141,146,000
T(ZZE—7RF : AR¥75,589,0007T) &
RELERBEE - BIBFBRTRE - FiE
BB AR 89,6450007T ( =T — /K4 ¢
AR ¥ 48,887,0007T) WA fEW A
R#¥51,501,000c(ZE—RF : AR¥
26,702,00070) SR MNBFERZ AFAE
o

RZE—+FE=A=+—8 - EFEHEK
BRAIZANE RN EH2EREZRES
% A A R#383,480,0007T (ZE— /K4 -
AR ¥E226,902,0007T) ~ IELEFRIBEEA
R#19174000 (=T —XFE : ARK
11,345,0007T ) 5 EAT 118 - FERBIR BB % F
AEHERRREARNRTIEHZEHBA
AIMBRERE  MZEEMEWEBEA
RERTEHE
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e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

38. SHARE CAPITAL 38. A
Number of shares Share capital
RPEE B
Ordinary shares TER 2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—tF —ZERF —E—tF ZERF
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER FHT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 R-ZZE-hFMNA—-A -
each at 1 April 2015, —E-~"¥=A=+—H
31 March 2016 and MZT—+%F
31 March 2017 ZA=+—H8kK
EE0.0178 T2 L@k 40,000,000 40,000,000 400,000 400,000
2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-RF —E—+tF ZERF
‘000 ‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000
TR & ARET R AREFT
(Restated)
(&E5)
Issued and fully paid: BEITRMR
At beginning of the PR E ER )
reporting period 5,669,020 3,198,348 51,787 31,473
Issue of shares (note) BT (BfaE) 397,900 = 3,416 s
Issue of shares arising BHRABRRESRM
from conversion of B11R G
convertible bonds - 2,044,286 - 16,813
Issue of shares for WE—KMB AR
acquisition of a subsidiary BIRMG 400,000 3,279
Exercise of share options B RE - 26,386 - 222
At end of the reporting period R REEKR 6,066,920 5,669,020 55,203 51,787
(Note): (KtaE) -

On 28 July 2016, a placement of 397,900,000 new shares at par value of
HK$0.01 each was completed. The placing price was HK$0.78 (equivalent
to RMBO0.67) per share. The difference between the placing price and the
par value of the issued shares of RMB256,244,000, after deducting of the
related cost amounting to RMB6,932,000, was recognised in the share
premium account. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 8 July 2016.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time and are entitled to vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

)
|

|
-

'
"

RZT—R"FtAZ+N\B ' THKEE397,900,000
BEREE0NABTZHRY - BEEAFTR0.78
BEIT(HERARK0L7T) - REEEDEITRG
E{E 2 585 AR256,244,0007C © HEHKBEE
BARE6,932,0007T 2 BEERA « I B IG5 5B
RHR - AHEFEHE2MARRIBHMAZZ —~F
+TANBZASE

EREFEAGRUBTRERNRE - X EEHE
ERRAARE LA ERKROKRE - A SER
EDEARRRBEETEEARSES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

38. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 38. BRA(42)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the prevailing PRC laws and regulations,
a wholly-owned foreign enterprise is required to transfer a
certain percentage of its profit after taxation to a statutory
surplus reserve until the surplus reserve balance reaches 50%
of the registered capital of the enterprise. The transfer to the
reserve has to be made before distribution of dividends to
shareholders. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to
make good previous years’ losses, and is not distributable to
shareholders.

Exchange translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve has been set up and will be
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for foreign currency translation.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve relates to equity-settled
share options granted under the Company’s share option
scheme. ltems included in share-based payments reserve
will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. Further
information about share-based payments is set out in note 41.

Deemed contribution reserve

The deemed contribution reserve relates to the deemed
contribution arisen from the interest free loans provided by
immediate holding company, Huajun International Limited,
and the deemed contribution by the controlling shareholder
through the Group's acquisition of BH Properties (as defined
in note 45) during the year ended 31 March 2016 and
acquisition of HTJA Development (as defined in note 45)
during the year ended 31 March 2017.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

BVaERZERXBRE-NLN\—FR
BUEPTIRE ©
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RIFPE B ATROERER  SINEBER
KBRS BR B M B E T E B FRREA
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AR D IR B AT AR o R E B R
BAARBHBEFEZBE  ETED
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B RERZ NRERAZIER ERES
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BT ERE
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TEARERBRRBEEAEEARBE T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

38.

39.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Convertible bonds equity reserve

The convertible bonds equity reserve represents the equity
component (conversion rights) of convertible bonds issued
by the Company. Item included in convertible bonds equity
reserve will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of AFS investments held at the end
of the reporting period and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies in note 4.

Other reserve

Other reserve was set up by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries
in accordance with their articles of association. The amounts to
be transferred to this reserve is determined by the respective
Board of Directors. They can be used to convert into paid-up
capital, and are not distributable to shareholders.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
CONTRIBUTIONS

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme,
which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
operated by the government of PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute specified percentage of payroll costs
to the retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
plan is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense of RMB26,319,000 (2016: RMB19,052,000)
represents contributions paid or payable to these plans by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans during the
year ended 31 March 2017.

38.

39.

N
T 42 B 1 34 M o

ABkEFREEFHEREANARET AR
BBz 2 s oy (HahAE) » FF A AT AR
BEEEEHFEBIRERERETEEN I

i85 ©
REEMHHE

REEMFEHEERBRERRAFAHRLE
REZ ARERFTEEFE - RBH T4
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Hi#EHEBAARNTEMEQFREA
AIERAAMRT - WAL FEEHEN SR
HHEEeET  EtREEVEAENE
K BRFDIK TR -

RKAERET B

SEMKETE

AEBERAETEAERERSERHIME
RETHE(REEFE]) - ZFrEIZE
EXTARHZESRKE  BAKEZE
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BrBRRERRABMNFEZKE - KB
N AR B AR F BB TE KA
BEBNLLERBNES - REBERRIK
A EI T M — BB REHEE MR -

HE_Z2—+F=A=1+—HILEE " K
EEBZ S ENBRAPIETEHED K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

40. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 40. EXREE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes bill payables, borrowings, amount due to immediate
holding company, corporate bonds, convertible bonds
and equity attributable to shareholders of the Company,
comprising of share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a continuous
basis taking into account the cost of capital and the risk
associated with the capital. The Group will balance its issue of

AEBEBHARURRAEBASER
TRHEEE - R RBECRTEES R
BERBE DRRAERS - AUEF
B AREZBEEBERTE -

AEBEZEARBEREGE  EhEREE
NRE X BENEEZERARZK
B ARESR - TREEFRAARBRR
FEfG s - BIERA RS -

REBEARANREAERRR - EFHF
BRI BEARRE - REBBRBEITHES
KEERBER < RBE T -

new debts and redemption of existing debt.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

41.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 28 September 2007. The purpose of the Scheme is to
provide the Company with a flexible means of giving incentive
to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to Executive or Non-Executive Directors including
Independent Non-Executive Directors or any employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of each member of the Group
and for such other purposes as the Board of Directors may
approve from time to time. The Scheme shall remain valid and
effective until 27 September 2017.

At 31 March 2017, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under
the Scheme was 580,199,863 (2016: 216,341,589), representing
9.56% (2016: 3.82%) of the shares of the Company in issue
at that date. The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company'’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued in
respect of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company's shareholders.

Option granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date of
grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option granted. There is no
minimum period for which a share option must be held before
the share option being exercised unless otherwise determined
by the Board of Directors. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

|
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41.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS 41. UBRHOAEBNHNRSZ (&)

(Continued)

ERBREERIMFEMT

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Number Vesting
Grantee of option Date of grant conditions Exercisable period Exercise Price
ARA BREZSE RUBH BEARE TED TEE
Executive* 26,386,371 22 May 2015 Nil 22 May 2015 to HK$1.00
TR A B* —E—FF i 15 February 2018 1.00% 7T
EA-+ZH —T-RF
AAZ + A
E2T-N\F
ZA+EHAH
Directors 26,306,412 30 June 2015 Nil 30 June 2015 to HK$2.00
g% —T-RF & 29 June 2017 2.00/ 7T
~NA=+A —E-RF
~A=Z+BE
—T—tF
~AZt+AhR
Employees 160,716,987 30 June 2015 Nil 30 June 2015 to HK$2.00
== —T-RF i 29 June 2017 2.00%7T
~NA=1+H —E-hF
/‘\ﬂ = + El ==
e
/\H —+j-LEI
Employees 247,362,537 7 February 2017 Nil 7 February 2017 to HK$0.78
== —E—+tF i3 6 February 2027 0.78%7T
—A+H T+
—RAtHZE
—E-tF
—H /N E
Directors 77,760,667 7 February 2017 Nil 7 February 2017 to HK$0.78
= —E—+tF " 6 February 2027 0.78%7T
—AtA T+
—AtHZE
T F
—ﬂ /\ E
Executive* 38,735,070 16 March 2017 Nil 16 March 2017 to HK$0.78
THRAB* —T—tF i3 6 February 2027 0.78%7T
=ZA+H —E—+F
= H —I_/\\ El ==
Tt
—ﬁ /N E
i The Executive option was solely granted to Mr. Meng, the chairman * THABBREERTARAESGEHER

of the Board of Directors and an executive director of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS 41. URHEAEEBNHNRS (&)

(Continued)
The movement of share options to the executive directors HE-Z—+FR-ZFE-—RF=ZA=1+—
and employees under the Scheme during the years ended 31 HIFFEREZAEE THRITEERES
March 2017 and 2016 are presented as follows: ZEREZHZ2|0T
For the year ended 31 March 2017 BE-Z—tF=A=+—-HLEFE
Number of share options
BREHR
Granted  Exercised Forfeited
Outstanding during during during Outstanding
Grantee at 1 April the year the year the year at 31 March
R=A
REA—H £ £ £ =t+-H
ERA i RAT BRI BTE 2R Y tef RATHE
Directors & Executive ESRIBAR 60,688,653 116,495,737 - - 177,184,390
Employees B8 155,652,936 247,362,537 - - 403,015,473
216,341,589 363,858,274 - - 580,199,863
For the year ended 31 March 2016 BE-—E—AE=-A=+—HIEE
Number of share options
RIxERR
Granted Exercised Forfeited
Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Grantee at 1 April the year the year the year  at 31 March
R=A
REA—H ER FR £R =t+-H
ARA HARITE [RE G g7t BRI HARTTHE
Directors & Executive EFRITBAR 34,382,241 52,692,783  (26,386,371) - 60,688,653
Employees BB 15,991,740 160,716,987 - (21,055,791) 155,652,936
50,373,981 213,409,770  (26,386,371)  (21,055,791) 216,341,589
198 N =4 HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS 41. URHEAEEBNHNRS (&)
(Continued)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share BIREEE KT HITEENT
options are as follows:

2017 2016
“E-tF ZERF
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options  exercise price share options
mETH TS
TRE IBREHAE @ BRREE A
HK$ HK$
B BT
Qutstanding at 1 April PEOA—BEARTE 1.77 216,341,589 1.00 50,373,981
Granted during the year (note a)  EREH (Hf3ta) 0.78 363,858,274 1.88 213,409,770
Exercised during the year FERTHE - - 1.00 (26,386,371)
Forfeited during the year (note b) E R U (Htib) - - 2.00 (21,055,791)
Outstanding at 31 March RZRA=+—HBHEEXTE 1.15 580,199,863 1.77 216,341,589
Exercisable at 31 March RZA=+—HA 6 1.15 580,199,863 1.77 216,341,589
Notes: ftat -
(a) The executive option was granted to Mr. Meng, the chairman of the (a) THABEREITN _Z—RAF_A+/,8
Board of Directors and an executive director of the Company, on BRIARREECEERATESLELE -
16 February 2015 but approved by independent shareholders on 22 AME—E—RAFRAAZ+ AT BB
May 2015, so it was accounted for as granted during the year ended ARERBLE - WS EERRE NS - HRE
31 March 2016 for financial reporting purpose. EE-AREZA=ZT+—BLEFEEAERAE
(b)  The relevant grant date fair value amounting to RMB1,886,000 have (b) HERE BB ZARERARK1,886,000
been transferred from share-based payments reserve to retained TCc EHAARTAKG AER 2 FREREE
profits of the Company. BERBHET -
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for HE-_T-—R"F=ZA=+T—HBLEFE B
share options (Executive option) exercised during the year TR (TTERA B RERRAE ) 1T B 3
ended 31 March 2016 was HK$0.89. Z IR (B /20.898 7T ©
The options outstanding at 31 March 2017 had an exercise RZE—EF=A=T—HHRTEEBR
price of HK$0.78, HK$1.00 or HK$2.00 (2016: HK$1.00 or HERTTHER0.78% 7T « 1.00/8 7T3,2.00
HK$2.00) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of BT (ZE—/NF 11.0087T52.00%7T) -
6.3 years (2016: 1.4 years). i nEEF AT E N FBA/K6IF(ZF
—RE 145 .
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

=

—E—+F=A=+—HIFE

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2017, share options were
granted to directors and employees on 7 February 2017. The
estimated fair value of the options on the grant date was
RMB49,900,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, share options were
granted to directors and employees on 30 June 2016. The
estimated fair value of the options on the grant date was
RMB17,944,000.

The grant date fair values of the share options granted were
fully recognised as share-based payments expense at the date
of grant.

The fair value of share options granted were estimated as at
the date of grant using a Binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model:

For the year ended 31 March 2017

41.

LR BERARNRZ (F)

REE-_ZT—+E=A=1+—BIFE -
RYEEZRREENBBREER =T —tF
ZREBREH - BREAKDL A BAMEE
DNAREEANREEA9,900,0007T °

REBEZZT—X"F=A=1+—RHLEFE
RYEEREENBEBREER =T —XF
NAZTHERERH - BREAE D B HNE
SRR ERARE17,944,0007T ©

EREBRERRLAHNIAEERE
A HIRBRER RARD BER 25K -

RELBHERO ZBRENZ AR
NG RRE - EEEBR OB IRK
KA o TR BZRN 2B ABIE

BE-_Z-tHF=-A=+t—-HLEHFE

Option grant

date
BRER L BB
16 March 7 February
2017 2017

—E—tF —E—tF

=A+7H —AtH
Grant date fair value of option (HK$)  BER#ENRHBHZAABEGERL) 0.172 0.153-0.172
Share price at the date of grant (HK$) REEBHZREGET) 0.66 0.66
Exercise price (HK$) TEEGET) 0.78 0.78
Expected volatility T”EE?@}EZEJJ? 43.56% 43.56%
Risk-free interest rate (%) % T2 (%) 1.76% 1.76%
Exercise multiple TT@‘J 2 2.8 2.2-2.8
Expected dividend yield TRHARR B % 3.76% 3.76%

{
JRE b v =
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS  41. URHBERARNX S (&)
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016 BE-_ZE—XE=ZA=1+—HILEE

Option grant

date

AR H
22 May 30 June
2015 2015
TR —ET—hF
AAZ+=H NAZ=ZTH
Grant date fair value of option (HK$)  BEREAFELEHI AREGET) 0.0533 0.1118
Share price at the date of grant (HK$) REHBEHZREGET) 0.49 1.30
Exercise price (HK$) 1TEECET) 1.00 2.00
Expected volatility FEH B = 62.60% 68.92%
Risk-free interest rate (%) ERRFIE(%) 0.78% 0.36%
Exercise multiple T fEE 2.8 22-28
Expected dividend yield TR EARR B 0% 1.91%

Expected volatility was determined using the historical
volatility of a number of comparable companies’ share price

over the previous 780 days.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value
of the options granted. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the Directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables used of certain subjective assumptions.

42. CORPORATE BONDS

The corporate bonds is interest bearing at a range from 6% to

42.

BHREBERTIRIEE TAIELBAR 2R
ER780H RN BERBEMETE -

“HEABRARRGHOREBREZ A
B RNAEBREZAAERMAZEH
RBRDEREE 2 REMF - BETIH
TE"“%?HTHE’J IS EREREEE
HIRE

ACIIEE S

TTE#}E’WJE'Ef‘J N F6%Z%6.5%

6.5% per annum, payable semi-annually or annually in arrear FEFE—FEINA—R - BEFAWT :
and repayable as follow:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZE-RF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARBTT
More than one year, but not exceeding —FA L ETBBMRE
two years 132,830 -
More than two years but not more than MEL EETNBBRAF
five years 63,218 =
More than five years AEFEE 47,113
243,161 -

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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42. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued) 42. NREH (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2017, transactions costs totalling BHE_ZT—+F=A=+—HLFE"
of RMB39,397,000 have been incurred for the issuance of the ERBETRARABRFELAGHARE
corporate bonds. The average effective interest rate of the 39,397,000t Z R G A o REIMEF KT
corporate bonds is 11.87% per annum. B ERFENER11.87% °
43. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 43. AIBRES
Detail of the convertible bonds issued by the Group during the REERBE_Z—tER_T—RF=
year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 are as follows: A=+ —BHIEFEETHARRESFE
LU
Maximum
number of
shares of the
Convertible bonds Company to
Date of issue Principal amount  Holder Couponrate  Maturity date Conversion price  be converted
LYY
8%
R
§7E8 AR TERESREA g% k] 10 RAHA

Forthe year ended 31 March 2017~ 2=5—+&

ZH-T-AIHEE
8 June 2016 “E-ERANE HK$200,000000  CCB International 10.0% 8 June 2018 HKS$0.78 256,410,256
200,000,000% ¢ Overseas Limited “3-)\F 07857
ERERSNERAE ~ANR
8 July 2016 ZE-RELANE HK$100,000,000  Central China 10.0% § May 2018 HK$0.78 128,205,125
100,000,000 7 International Investment ZE-)E 0787
Company Limited ANE

PHERREARAA

For the year ended 31 March 2016 2=5-71%

CHET-AIHEE
11 June 2015 ZE-RERAT-R HK$500,000,000  Huajun International 25 1June 200 HKS070 714,285,714
500,000,000 Limited and a company “3oEF 07087
controlled by ~AT-A
Mr. Wu Jiwei, the
chief executive officer
EEERERRAR
ThesRERRE
{24l BT
20 January 2016 “E-E-A=tA HK$1,330,000,000  Huzjun Interational 35% 19 January 2019 HKS100  1,330,000,000
133000000037 Limited ZENE 10057
EEERARAT -AthH
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43. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 43. ABRRES (&)

The convertible bonds entitle the holders to convert into
ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date
of issue of the convertible bonds and the maturity date at the
relevant conversion price (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments).
The conversion shares will be allocated and issued upon
exercise of the conversion rights. If the convertible bonds
have not been converted during the conversion period up to
the maturity date, the convertible bonds will be redeemed on
the maturity date at par together with the accrued interest.
Interest are being paid every six calendar months until the
maturity date.

The convertible bonds for the year ended 31 March 2017
contain two components, liability component and conversion
right with settlement option. As at 31 March 2017, the effective
interest rate of the liability component of these convertible
bonds is approximate 15% per annum. The conversion option
derivative is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

The convertible bonds for the year ended 31 March 2016
contained two components, liability and equity elements.
The equity components are presented in equity heading
“convertible bonds equity reserve”.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company received
conversion notices from Huajun International Limited and Mr.
Wu Jiwei for the conversion in full of the convertible bonds
issued on 11 June 2015 and 20 January 2016. As a result,
2,044,285,174 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company were issued upon conversion.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

ATRESE TRHA AN R AR R E
ZEVEIT A HMEE T A 1LY 5 R A
BAERERESFEBRKARRERR(Z
RESSTERS) - ERENGRTESR
RET AL 3 3817 - AR EFEE R
HNEEZHAEHRESR - AR BRES
B H B E R A A SR EERE -
NMEABAXN—RME - BEERFHHELL -

BHE_ZT—+F=A=1+—RHILFEZA
mEEFEamERRS - BNBES R
BERAEEEEE R_FT—tF=A

=B RETAREXEERHNE
I 4 K B4 15% « SR TAE T AT IR
DAEE - MARERBAAR N

7
N

BHE_Z-—REF=A=+—RHILFEZA
mEEFEaMERS - BIEERBRARK
2o BRARD R [ A EH RS R
TZHEZEES -

HE-Z—XR"E=ZA=+—RHAIEE K
AR BEZERAER AR N RERETE
WA HEREE BN _S—AF
ANAT—BERZZE—AR"F—AZ+ BT
Z AR ES o AL - 2,044,285,17488 &
NEIFREMECE L LB ML R
R BT o
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43. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The movements of the liability and derivative components of
the convertible bonds for the year ended 31 March 2017 were
set out in below:

43. ARES (&)

BHEZ—+F=A=1+—HLFE 7
@Hxﬁ%Z%ﬁ&ﬂiIﬂ*B D2 BB
FEnT

Liability = Derivative

component component Total

BEBD TEIARS et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARETRT ARBTT

At beginning of the reporting period R ¥R Hi 4]

236,095 19,073 255,168

Upon issue of convertible bonds REAT AR & 35

Interest charged B U EF B 28,992 = 28,992
Interest paid B A (13,911) = (13,911)
Exchange realignment FE H A 8,688 = 8,688
At end of the reporting period NEREEIR 259,864 19,073 278,937

The fair value of conversion option derivatives is measured at
Level 3 fair value measurement (as defined in note 44(c)).

The movements of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year ended 31 March 2016 were set out in below:

BEETETAZAABENERRE=ZHR
REFEECER RME4(C )Ef%

Eﬁ;“é:;f—ﬁifﬂf-i— RIEFE 7
BRERBEHRO 2EBHIIMT

RMB'000

ARETFT

(Restated)

(F&E51)

At beginning of the reporting period RIREEA =
Upon issue of convertible bonds BT IR ERE 1,166,609
Interest charged B HEH]E 2,153
Interest paid BARFE (751)
Conversion during the year FABEHER (1,168,011)
At end of the reporting period REREHRR -

For the year ended 31 March 2017, transactions costs totalling
of RMB3,453,000 (2016: RMB687,000) have been incurred for
the issuance of convertible bonds.

154
-

'
"

BE-T—tF=-A=+—HLFE"
B 5 # ﬁﬂﬁﬁxﬁ#fﬁim/\/\ﬁﬁ%
3,453,0007C (=T — "% + AR 687,000
L) AP o
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

44. €T H

a. Categories of financial instruments a. SEMIAZER

2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTIT
(Restated)
(&=E3)

Financial assets SRMEE
AFS investments A ERE 232,236 340,457
Held for trading investments BIEEEZRE 82,731 48,661
Finance lease receivables A T & e EE 271,360 253,000

Loans and receivables at LIRS A BRI B SRR B UL
amortised cost (including FE(BRERITEHREER)

bank balances and cash) 2,879,853 2,102,805
3,466,180 2,744,923

Financial liabilities =R
Liabilities at amortised cost HBENAARNEE 7,761,916 2,091,954
Financial guarantee contracts M EREH 34,800 -
Convertible option derivative BRESTET A 19,073 -
7,815,789 2,091,954

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
finance lease receivables, loan receivables and interest
receivables, AFS investments, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, held for trading investments,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, bill payables, amount due to an
associate, amount due to immediate holding company,
borrowings, and financial guarantee contracts, corporate
bonds and convertible bonds. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes in the
financial statements. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

TRABERBERBER

FEETFTEZeMTAREREEAS
FEURIR ~ B B MR K R B R
WHIE - AIHEERE EHREK
- e REMEWGR - FE
BEZRE  |RITEREFER - RIT
‘wHhkAe EHREMENRK
B ENRE - ENBERFK
B ENEEERABRZHE - &
K UARPBERELH  REES
RuBpESs  ZEeRTAZH
BRMBEHRR ZEBMERRE -
B FTERTAABZERERED
SRR (EERR - FXERKER
Rig) - FERRMEBESRER °
AL B e F R 2 BB T
X oo BIREE IR I B ARk T AL R
O BREBEBEEEE G -
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on listed
bond investments, held for trading investments, bank
balances and cash, pledged bank deposits, trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables, bill payables
and borrowings that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the operations to
which they relate. The currency giving rise to this risk is
primarily United States dollars (“US$"), Euros (“EUR")
and Renminbi (“RMB"). The functional currency of the
operations to which such risks relate is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$").

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group's exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate.

44, TRIT A (&)

b.

TREAREEBEREE(E)

BE# R

7R & B P AR 2 1B R\ R 0 3E 3F
NEBEBZEERtEZ L™
BHERE  FHIEEEZIRE - §]17
BHRRAE  RITEAEFEHR  EBEH
K B AR EWRIR ~ B 5 M E A E A
RIE - ENEBEAKRER - 315
EERBRZzEBIEREIT(IX
T BT RARETA
R¥E  E2ZFRBBAIEBEN
meesERET(ELD -

RO

TRAMASINAEERREHKRE
WIAREREER 2GR
BZOHEREEXREMAEZ
KRR -

A
% 2 58

\

Exposure to foreign currencies

REEHAR

2017 2016

ZE-tE 2R
RMB EUR usb RMB EUR usb
AR¥ E in ARE BT E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥TR AR®TR ARETT ARETT AR%ETR
Listed bond investments THERRE - - 91,854 = = 215,457
Held for trading investments HIEEEZRE - - 44,910 = = =
Bank balances and cash RITEHRAS 1,210 415 13,256 400 5,592 17,689
Pledged bank deposits RTEAER - - 86,507 10,228 = =
Trade and other receivables 85 REMERIE 34,463 48 13,256 = = 31372
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE (1,435) s (6,871) S = (6,779)
Bill payables EANESH o o (58,918) = - -
Borrowings &5 (1,924) - (304,507) - (235) (421,096)
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March, 2017, it is estimated that a general
appreciation/depreciation of 5% in the exchange
rate of EUR and RMB against HK$, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit for the year of
RMB1,359,000 for RMB and RMB23,000 for EUR (2016:
RMB521,000 for RMB and RMB264,000 for EUR). No
sensitivity analysis is presented for foreign currency
fluctuation between US$ against HK$ because Hong
Kong dollars is pegged to US$ and assumed that the
rate would not be materially affected by any changes in
movement in value of the US$ against other currencies.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate finance lease receivables, deposits
for acquisitions, loan receivables, pledged bank deposits
and borrowings. The Group currently does not have any
instruments to hedge against the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
arising primarily from interest bearing borrowings and
bank balances at variable rate at the end of the reporting
period. The Group's interest rate profile is monitored
by management. As at 31 March 2017 and 2016, variable
interest rate profile includes bank balances and bank
borrowings. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates
on bank balances and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
arising from the Group's Hong Kong dollar denominated
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2017 it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 (2016: 100) basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's profit for the year by
approximately RMB1,431,000 (2016: RMB2,724,000).

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

44, TRIT A (&)

b.

EREAREEBERBEE)

BXmEp(E)
BRE DT

R-ZE—+F=ZA=+—80 BR
FTEEMREKREEHIFTE - (H5T
BTEARBEBINERLE
FEBEES%  AEBHTRE
FHAREEEN B ARE
1,359,0007C * H BTG, H D
ARBE23000T (=T —RF : AR
A ARE521,000MB T AAR
#264,0007T) - AABTEETTE
0 EXLEATZEMNERFEIL
BEHGREDN  WREETR
HEENEREEEHTSHE
RAEREREATE -

FlEmB

AEEmEREEAREMEERKRK
BH-KBERe  BERERFE -
RITEME R AR B EF & 2
AAENEER - NEEREHE
ERT AP RABNE

RBEHR  AKRETHBERESR
ENERR  TBRENFHH X
FERBERNRITER - AEEF
ERABEREERER - R _F
—tERZFB-RF=ZA=+—
B 2BMEEREBRRITERR
RITER - AEENHESREN X
[\ B BIRNIRIT R 2 F R KB
RAKBEZETLERELEZEER
TREHRE -

BRE DT

R-E—+F=F=+—08 - &FF
EEMEBERFBIAENERLT © H
TR REGEEE NS 1001 (=
T—RF 1001E) EE - AEEH
FRBFESEM RO OARE
1,431,000 (ZE—RF : AR
2,724,0007T) ©
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2017, other than those financial assets
whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group arising from the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees provided by the Group is
disclosed in note 36.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has monitored the determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable,
loan receivable and finance lease receivable at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is maintained at a satisfactory level which the
Group does not have material irrecoverable debtors in
the current and prior years.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of the industry and country in which the
customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group has a concentration of credit risk as 3% (2016: 9%)
and 20% (2016: 13%) of the total trade debtors were due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
trade customers respectively.

44, TRIT A (&)

b.

TREAREEBEREE(E)

=B AR
BE_T—tF=A=t—H K

HEEESERRESEERBRZ
TREEI Hﬂﬁ@($‘ilﬁﬁii§
RZAREBRSEERRIAME
36?ﬁ&?§ﬁ%§$%lﬂjﬂz,ﬁ?fﬁ%
RZIXBEREBESREL -

REEERREERE  AEEE
@EE%%P%%FW#E‘E

EHREMEERE  UBERDSRK
RESETHREEBHES - It
Sh - AEERBERRRF BHE
RIE 5 EWERIA - B FEWRIE &
BEMEREWFRNATKE SR
FEGR LT AT Uk Bl 9 £ BB AR h B E R
EER-FUEME  ARAEER
REAKBEZEERRBRESRS AR

BHIKF ZK%I?F"EEHI Ko LA 1 4R
FEHTA g m R IR B A&
NG
AEBMAXNEERRIERS

EERMENSEBMEE XPEE
FTEERM P B R 09 32 4 [ B th & 4
EERRBKRKTE  EBEXENIRE
B - M%ﬁ%,ﬁﬂﬂi AR A K E &
K%ﬁ*ﬂﬂkﬁﬁﬁ'}ruﬂl%lﬁﬂ
AR E S EWRIBEFER3% (=

— N 9% ) K 20% 72—/\5
13%) - At AL B HIRE & =S
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For finance lease receivables, the Group has a high
concentration of credit risk as all receivables were due
from four parties as at 31 March 2017 (2016: two parties).
These parties are well-established private companies
engaging in manufacturing, dolomite processing,
wholesale of steel and mining parts business and hospital
operation business with no history of default.

For loan receivables, 16% and 77% of the loan
receivables were due from the Group's largest and five
largest borrowers as at 31 March 2017 (2016: 13% and
63% of the loan receivables were due from the Group's
largest and five largest borrowers). These borrowers are
100% of the private companies engaging in industrial
business and hospital operation business or individuals
with no history of prolong default and with subsequent
repayments. Therefore, the Directors consider the credit
risk on loan receivables is limited.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high
credit ratings and those mentioned above, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of
credit risk. Trade receivables consist of a large number
of customers, spread across diverse industries and
geographical areas.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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b.

TREAREEBEREE(E)

=EmpR (&)

R-ZE—+F=ZA=+—8 BHR
W RIEEHREMNEEBE (=T
—NFWEEEF) AEEBH
mERERKFBEZFERRRE
b oo WEAAR T T IER K AL
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BER - WEELRE -

RZZE—tF=A=+—B " HR
EREUHE  AKRENZARA

KERADAE16%RT7%( ==
—NF o BREWEIEN13%K%63%
TERASEENEARARERA
RIZRIE) - IWEEBRAY B BT E
NEREEXFNLERRHMEA
BE O BERBEBOCSHREED
EERE Al  E=ZRAEFE
WHIBREERBRAR °
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TREBREAFAERBIERS
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed bond investments and held for
trading investments. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. Majority of the Group's equity investments
are listed on Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted
market prices as at the reporting date. The bond
investments are listed on various bond markets and are
valued at quoted market prices as at the reporting date.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity and debt
instruments had been 1% (2016: 1%) higher/lower:

J the Group's profit after tax for the year ended
31 March 2017 would increase/decrease by
RMB691,000 (2016: loss after tax would decrease/
increase by RMB406,000) as a result of the changes
in fair value of held for trading investments; and

o investment valuation reserve would increase/
decrease by RMB919,000 (2016: RMB2,154,000) for
the Group as a result of the changes in fair value of
listed bond investments.

44, TRIT A (&)

b.

TREAREEBEREE(E)

EE R

AEBRKE EWEFRERSE
BEEZREMAZBAERRER -
EEEREGFTRERNKER
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EEBEBRARERITAEZER L
T/ THI%(—F—NE 1%) : 8

s AEERHBE_ZT—LF=
A=t —HLEFENKRHRR
HEABEFEEE2REZ
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management also monitors the
utilisation of banking facilities and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

Liquidity risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 44. THITRE(E)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. E¢REAREEZEERBE(E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBELEE(E)
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. ZERRBRBEENENMEAERENR
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the 2 BB REDIRFEF KL
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the - ARMEBESBHARSHRL
end of the reporting period. FIEGHEMK -

At 31 March 2017 R-ZE—tHE=A=+—H

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

SORARRRERE
Weighted Carrying
average  On demand Total amount
effective or within undiscounted asat
interest rate Tyear 1-2years 2-5years  >5years  cashflow  31.3.2017
R-B-tF
nEYS  EERER BR¥H ZR=t1-8

BBAZE g0 -FERE  WBEELE hER REnE Raf
% RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTZ  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

Trade and others payables B REMERTEA = 742,404 = = = 742,404 742,404
Bill payables ERZE - 2375438 - - - 2375438 2,375,438
Amount due to an associate N A = 21,372 S = S 21,372 21,372
Amount due to ENERERATZ SR
immediate holding company - - 1,080,944 - - 1,080,944 999,321
Corporate bonds AAES 11.87 18,082 165,122 86,107 63,223 332,534 243,161
Convertible bonds AaRES
- liability component -BR¥S 15.00 33,439 272,089 - - 305,528 259,864
Borrowings B 6.67 1,615,631 176,844 1,940,099 - 3732574 3,120,356
Financial guarantee contracts (note) B ERAH(Hf3#) = 510,361 - - - 510,361 34,800
Total A 5316727 1,694999 2,026,206 63223 901155 7,796,716
Note: The amount included above for financial guarantee contracts Bt b AMBEERAONESEANE
is the maximum amount the Group could be forced to settle BEENMERSSHTRRAELEN
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if BN TARESS RS EREEATaes
that amount is claimed by the counterpart to the guarantee. AEENRSSE o A - WLIEMRET
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the BEZ S FREEREL BRYT
probability of the counterpart claiming under the guarantee LM TA TR MESSEER
which is a function of the likelihood that the financial HEERSRENSIAS FEEIBL
receivables held by the counterpart which are guaranteed BOTT AL ) (B -

suffer credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 31 March 2016

44, TRIT A (&)

b.

TREAREEBEREE(E)

nBELEE(E)

R-EBE—-XE=A=+—H

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

AOLEARARERE
Weighted Carrying
average  On demand Total amount
effective or within undiscounted asat
interest rate Tyear  1-2years  2-5Syears > 5 years cash flow 31.3.2016
R-F-rE
nEH  RERER 85 =R=1-8
ERME  d-FRm -FEME MEELE nfk FERE A

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

Trade and others payables ESREMERTE - 632,761 - - - 632,761 632,761

Bill payables EREE - 114,749 - - - 114,749 114,749
Amount due to ERERERAR £

immediate holding company - 19,635 - - - 19,635 19,635

Bank borrowings Rl 599 1,000,868 179,592 21,333 - 1407793 1324809

Total it 1,768,013 179,592 227,333 - 217493 2,091,954

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or within 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2017
and 31 March 2016, the aggregate carrying amounts of
these bank borrowings amounted to RMB66,448,000
and RMB6,566,000 respectively. Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the Directors do not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The Directors believe that these bank borrowings will
be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

B A5 42 B SROE BUR R IR 1T IE 3R
AL BB DT R P (R BIEHR K
—FUR] - R=ZZE—tF=A
—t+—BER-ZE—A"FZA=1+—
B %SROTEIEERELEY
Bl A R # 66,448,000 7T K A R
6,566,0007C ° &= EAEB 2 B
Mo - EERABBRITRIAAGETE
HEBENERTNER - EFER
BLSRTERSERERB R

SEERAHES o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's aggregate
principal and interest cash outflows for bank borrowings
without taking into account the repayment on demand
clause. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from weighted
average interest rate at the end of reporting period.

44, TRIT A (&)

b. THEAREEZEEREEK(E)

nBELEE(E)

TRAMARALEBRITERNHE
THRBLANBRSRE - ERF R
B 42 B RE RIERE - HRBIR
BRI RFE - AIRBRS
B Y AR HIR & I SF B R R &
CRIP

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

SORARRRERE
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective or within undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tyear 1-2years 2-5years  >5years  cashflow amount
nEYS  EERER RBAER

ERAE  d-FUR
% RMB'000
ARRTR

-FERF  WEEEE ifk  ReRE REE
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETR  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARETR  ARETR

Secured bank borrowings with HEREXEREANE

repayable on demand clause: ERBORR:
As at 31 March 2017 RoB-tf
ZB=1-A 2.52 68,122
As at 31 March 2016 (Restated) KRB
=R=1-H
(@83 217 6708

- - - 68,122 66,448

- - - 6,708 6,566

The amounts above included certain variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
is subject to change if change in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

{
JRE b v =

ERBREBMK - FHNEEEHEH
RETEEMMBEFE - Al Ll &%
(BRETEBF R ENIRITE
TREBETR)STIARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date.

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

- Level 3 inputs are inputs that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Details of the recurring fair value measurement of the
relevant assets are set out in respective notes to these
consolidated financial statements. During the year
ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, these were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, nor transfers into Level 3.

The Directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values at the end of the reporting period.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

AREFERBAREFEZHA
BEABREERAAREFEZS
ABEHERB I EZUNERSE
— B RRE=R - FBWET

- B LBARBREBNGE
EHAREZHREESRA
BERERMS ZRECREH
).

- E_RBABEBRMEEXA
EEZ(AER)KHEE(AIH
ERSIfRmA) TR Z2EA
BE(E-—RARBZHRER
e

- FE-RBABBRAFEENT
BIEmBEEZHABIE(T
AERBABE)

FREENRKELAAENEFE
BNARE M BRI E - 1
HE_Z—tFR-_ZT—RF=H
ZSt—BUEFE  FENE-R
ZEAEER  TEBAZFE=R
BB

ARARIEERS  RWEHR - N
AR B M ISR IR B AR AR
ZEREERSBRABNKRAESR
HARERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group
continued to actively seek for investment opportunities
through acquisitions and has completed several acquisitions
of subsidiaries. Meanwhile, the Group also disposed of
several subsidiaries to concentrate on its core businesses. The
following tables summarised these transactions:

a. Acquisitions

For the year ended 31 March 2017

45.

W BB I &S K S A F

HE-_Z—+FRER-_ZT—R"F=ZA=1+—
ALLEE  AEBEERBKREEEREG
SXRLERE  WEEKWESETHER
Al AR AEBTHERTHBARM

HERZOER - TRAA

a. kg

2ERXHIHE

BE_—_F—+tF=F=1+—HIF

E
Percentage Fair value
Name of of interest of purchase Date of Nature of
subsidiary acquired Vendor acquired Principal activity ~ consideration completion acquisition
Wiz RE
KEZWEARER &F ARl TEEH BERBARE SRk B KM E
Yingkou Kunlun Two independent 100% Property RMB10,000,000 13 December  Acquisition of
Real Estate third parties development AR %10,000,0007T 2016 assets through
SOE®mBUHE MEBILE=FH MERE e N:S acquisition of
+ZA+=8  subsidiaries
BRWENEAR
WEEE
Hua Tai Jun An An entity controlled by 100% Property RMB238,376,000 30 March 2017 Acquisition of
International Mr. Meng development AR%238,376,0000 —E—+F assets through
Development ~ ZEERHIZEE MERE —ZR=1H acquisition of
Limited ("HTJA subsidiaries
Development”) BBKEHRBAR
ERERARER WEaE
BRAR(TER
BRER])
: HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WIER HEWB LR (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
a. Acquisitions (Continued) a. WEE(E)
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of RUKEANBzEERFRIEEE
acquisition
Yingkou Kunlun HTJA

Real Estate  Development Total
EOEREME EZRERTRRE @E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T ARETTT

Property, plant M - BB MRS
and equipment 346 13,249 13,595
Investment properties EYE = 1,949,934 1,949,934
Properties held for sales BIERENE 244,222 = 244,222
Trade and other receivables &5 & H b fE W FRIB 247,586 685,704 933,290
Pledged bank deposits RITIIRF R - 364,283 364,283
Bank balances and cash IRITERRAS 63 396 459
Trade and other payables BHREMENFRIA (69,737) (78,721) (148,458)
Amounts due to vendors FENE F R IB (190,000) (1,600,000) (1,790,000)
Bill payables ER & - (914,280) (914,280)
Borrowings &3 (222,480) - (222,480)
10,000 420,565 430,565

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

45. WRER HENB AR ()

a. Acquisitions (Continued) a. WEBE)
Fair value of consideration transferred EEEREZALE
Yingkou Kunlun HTJA
Real Estate Development Total
ENERmEHME HERERER oy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT AREFTT
Cash R4 200,000 839,055 1,039,055
Amounts due from U E T 2

the acquirees (note) RIE(HfaE) (190,000) (1,600,000) (1,790,000)
Deferred consideration EERE - 999,321 999,321
10,000 238,376 248,376

Note: The amounts represent additional consideration for assigning
the vendor’s amount due from the acquiree to the Group.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, because
the acquisition of HTJA Development is a transaction
with an entity controlled by Mr. Meng, the controlling
shareholder of the Group, the most appropriate measure
of the fair value of the acquisition consideration at the
date of acquisition is the fair value of the assets acquired
and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition.
The excess of the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities recognised over the consideration transferred
measured at fair value of RMB182,189,000 is treated as
deemed contribution by the controlling shareholder.

ftat - e BERAEEERT T 2 BK
WUEET 2 RIBZ BBIMRUE o

RARRMESERE  BARBBESR
ERBERA—HEALSERRKBRR
AEERFIZERBORS - RIE
HEKBREBEZARERAEMN
EARKBEAHCREEERD E
REBENARE RAAENE
ZERELEERCHRABED
EZERENAABEEZEEAARE
182,189,0007T * tE AR RE 215
EEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WIER HEMB AR (HF)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
a. Acquisitions (Continued) a. WEE(E)
Net cash inflow (outflow) on acquisitions of subsidiaries B —_E—tF=HA=1+—HILF
for the year ended 31 March 2017 EWERBLAGZRERA (L)
Yingkou Kunlun HTJA
Real Estate Development Total
EOERREILE ERERER st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETTT ARETT
Consideration paid at RZZE—tF=H
31 March 2017 =T-HINZRE (200,000) (839,055) (1,039,055)
Less: Bank balances and R BUSERITAEER I
cash acquired Be 63 396 459
Deposits paid in prior year PBEFEXNCES
(note 24(c)) (FtzE24(c)) 20,000 = 20,000
(179,937) (838,659) (1,018,596)
The above acquisitions were made to expand the UNEKRBEETEREREENYERE
Group's property development and investment portfolio. RIEEHEE - WHEEODERREE
There is no material acquisition related costs were NEZFBEZERUEEEERNNRE
incurred in the acquisitions of Yingkou Kunlun Real AR N o

Estate and HTJA Development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a.

Acquisitions (Continued)

45. WRER HENB AR ()

a. WHE(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2016 Bz _ZFT-—-XXF=ZF=1+—HI
FE
Percentage
Name of of interest Fair value of purchase Date of Nature of
subsidiary acquired Vendor acquired Principal activity consideration completion acquisition
Lt et

WEzRBAREE EA Aol FEEH BEREAAE TR AH WRHE

Linhai Machinery Two independent third 100% Manufacturingand ~ RMB187,524,000 3August 2015 Business

R parties sale of turbines and AKH187524000r —Z-RE combination

MEBEIE=F torque converters N\R=H ERAH
and other industrial
equipment
RERHERER
BREBARNE
IXRE

Dalian Bao XingDa ~ One independent third 60% Land consolidation,  RMB40,000,000 18 August 2015 Business
Industrial Co., Ltd. ~ party parkingservices  ARH60,0000000 ZE-RFE combination
("Dalian Bao Xing —&EUE=H and lease of land NBTNB A
Da") (Note) THTE - REGRE

RERBEEE MLAE
RRRA(TAER
Bz )) (M)

Jiangsu Zhong Ke Guo Two independent third 100% Production of RMB 11 December ~ Business
Neng Photovoltaic  parties photovoltaics AREITL 2015 combination
Technology Co., REBUE=F products 1% EBAH
Ltd. ("Zhong Ke") EEXRER TZA+-H

TEHTREE R KRR
ARARA(HRE)

Changzhou Two independent third 100% Production of RMB1 30 December  Business
Jintan Ruixin parties photovoltaics AR 2015 combination
Optoelectronic ~ MEBUE=H products —E-TE LA
Co., Ltd. (Jintan EERRER +-A=1H

Ruixin")
ENTEERMAE

BRAR

([&B%m])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
RER

upr e Ey

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a.

Acquisitions (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Continued)

45. WEER HEWB AR ()

a. WE(E)

Bz _ZFT—-XXF=ZF=1+—HI

FE(E)
Percentage
Name of of interest Fair value of purchase Date of Nature of
subsidiary acquired Vendor acquired Principal activity consideration completion acquisition
WiE 2 RE
WRzKEARER &R Bl TERH BERELNE T AH WEKE
Jiangsu Zhong Xiang  An independent third 100% Production of RMB 30 December  Business
Energy Co., Ltd. parties photovoltaics AR 2015 combination
("Zhong Xiang")  —ZBUE=H products —Z-1fF ERAH
THER A RARAT EERNER TZA=tH
(Tl
Yingkou Xiang Feng  Two independent third 100% Property development RMB212,791,000 24 August 2015 Acquisition of
Properties Co., Ltd.  parties nERE ARE2127910000 —E-1F assets through
("XF Properties”) WABUE= NAZ1+mA acquisition of
ENMEERARAR subsidiaries
(FMEE%)) BRKEHEAR
WEEE
Jurong Haofung An independent third 51% Property development RMB10,200,000 31 December  Acquisition of
Properties Co., Ltd.  party mERE ARH#10,200,0007C 2016 assets through
("JR Properties”) —ZEHIE= “E-RE acquisition of
(Note) +ZA=1—8 subsidiaries
DREEEXERAF pibeliC-tnl - VNG
([aREX (i) WEEE
Liaoning Bao Hua  An entity controlled by 100% Property development RMB3,052,000 29 March 2016 Acquisition of
Properties Mr. Meng NERE ARB30520000  ZF-1F assets through
Development DRARS ERE =A-thA acquisition of
Co., Ltd. ("BH subsidiaries
Properties”) BEUBHEAF
REREFHERY WEEE

BRAA(RERE
WE])

Note: Dalian Bao Xing Da and JR Properties were subsequently
disposed of during the year ended 31 March 2016. Details of
the disposals are included in note 45(b).

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

ffet - REREERARBXERNBE=
E-RNFZAZT-RALFEHE -
BRI E M FHIBH I RE45(b) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
llﬁﬂ/ji%#&%ﬁj-?

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a.

Acquisitions (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition

Dalian Bao
Linhai Machinery XingDa  XF Properties
EEER  ABREE ARER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AEETR

45. WIER HEWB LR (&)

Wi ()

BE-F-ANF=ZA=1+—-H1I
FE &)

REBHEBz2EERAEZ2EE
JR Properties  BH Properties Others Total
9RE%  RERME A o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

Property, plant and equipment 1% BERHE 13,892 93 = = 90,700 341,114 445799
Investment properties RENE - - = S 63,000 S 63,000
Deferred tax assets EERELE - - - - - 2575 2575
Properties held for sale BIERENNE = 1,900,000 21219 32,864 482,000 = 2,627,655
Prepaid lease payments BEARERE 40,800 S s S S 60,004 100,804
Inventories 7E 46,030 = S = = 36,036 82,066
Trade and other receivables 2o REMERTE 31,835 47863 = = = 500,674 580,372
Pledge bank deposits BIRAER = = = = = 25002 25002
Bank balances and cash RTEBIRS 26,605 79 = 3 5,784 1736 34,207
Trade and other payables B REMERZE (14,887) (79,697) S (6,378) (6,784) (570475) (678,221)
Amount due to vendors ERERRZUR S = S (6,520) (517 440) S (523,960)
Borrowings B - (2,023,220) - - - (399,500) (2,422,720)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAE (13,989) (117,855) S S S (2.857) (134701)
Long term payables REERZE S (15,046) = = = = (15,046)

130,286 (287.783) 12,191 19,969 117,260 (5,691) 186,832

The trade and other receivables acquired in the
transaction carried a fair value of RMB580,372,000. The
gross contractual amounts of those receivables acquired
amounted to RMB580,372,000 at the date of acquisition.
None of the contractual cash flows are not expected to
be collected at acquisition date.

1111
i’ fe

REZSHUWEHE 5 K H b FE YK
B2 At B A A R 580,372,000
ToRKBEBEH BWRENZKSE
JERFIEBHNBENCEAARE
580,372,000t ° T8 BRF Y B B 254
FEgREEREHRSRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

45. WEER HEWB AR ()

Weig (48)

a. Acquisitions (Continued) a.

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Continued) HE-ZE-XNF=ZHF=1+—H1

FE(E)
Fair value of consideration transferred CEEREZAAE
Dalian Bao

Linhai Machinery XingDa  XF Properties  JR Properties ~ BH Properties Others Total

EE RERRE HeEE 7REE RERHE ) it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTIL ARETTIL ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Cash consideration BeRE 187,524 60,000 212,191 16,720 258,197 - 735,232
Amounts due from the acquirees  TENTRE S 2

(note) TR - - - (6520) (517,440) = (523,960)
New ordinary shares of ARAREH

the Company issued TERER - - - S 262,295 = 262,295

187,524 60,000 21279 10,200 3,052 - 473 567

Note: The amounts represented additional consideration for
assigning the vendor's amount due from the acquiree to the
Group.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, because
the acquisition of BH Properties is a transaction with
an entity controlled by Mr. Meng, the controlling
shareholder of the Group, the most appropriate measure
of the fair value of the acquisition consideration at the
date of acquisition is the fair value of the assets acquired
and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition.
The excess of the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities recognised over the consideration transferred
measured at fair value of RMB114,208,000 is treated as
deemed contribution by the controlling shareholder.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

ffet - ZeRENAREEREET 2K
WIETT 2 IR BIMRE -

ARAEERAL  FARBRES
ER-RERASEERRRELE
ERzERBNRS  RUE BB
BREZAAERAENTER/RN
WERHCKBEERCHARE
MARE - BAREBEHEZENE
BEENMEHRBEECERREDN
DR EETEAR®114,208,0007T
ERERBRR 2 RIETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a.

Acquisitions (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Continued)

Goodwill (bargain purchase gain) arising from
acquisition of subsidiaries

45. WRER HENB AR ()

Wi ()

Bz _ZFT-—-XXF=ZF=1+—HI
FE(E)

WERBLARELE2HE(BERSE
W)

Dalian Bao

Linhai Machinery XingDa  XF Properties  JR Properties ~ BH Properties Others Total
EE RERRE HeEE AREE RERHE ) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Fair value of BEERELAE
consideration transferred 187,524 640,000 212,791 10,200 117,260 - 587,775
Net assets acquired BlEFEAE (130,286) 287,783 (212,791) (19.969) (117,260) 5,691 (186,832)
Less: non-controlling interests W EERREES = (115113 = 9769 = = (105,344)
51,238 232,610 - - - 5691 295,599

Classified as: DEEE

Goodwill BE 57,238 232,610 NANEE NATEE N/ANER 5,846 295,754
Bargain purchase gain SENBRE - = N/ATER N/ARER N/ATER (155) (155)
51,238 232,610 N/AMER N/ARER N/ATER 5691 295,599

The goodwill arose in the business combinations of
Linhai Machinery and Zhong Ke (included in others
above) is to allow the Group to diversify its business
portfolio and provides a new source of income for the
Group. These benefits are not recognised separately
from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

As Dalian Bao Xing Da and its subsidiary’s assets mainly
comprises land parcel for sale, which are already stated
at their fair value, as such it is considered that there is
no further value-in-use to support the carrying amount
of the goodwill. Full impairment is made in respect
of the goodwill of RMB232,670,000 immediate upon
acquisition.

None of the goodwill arising on these business
combinations is expected to be deductible for tax
purpose.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a. Acquisitions (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Continued)

Net cash inflow (outflow) on acquisitions of

subsidiaries

45. WEER HEWB AR ()

Weig (48)

Bz _ZFT—-XXF=ZF=1+—HI
FE(E)

WENBARANRERA(RE)
R

Dalian Bao

Linhai Machinery XingDa  XF Properties  JR Properties ~ BH Properties Others Total
BEKE  KEREZ AREX AREX  RERME A Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARBTR

Cash consideration paid at RZF-7E=ZA

31 March 2016 =+-RAEfM
BeRE 187,524 60,000 22191 16,720 258197 - 735,23

Less: bank balances and W BMB RS

cash acquired k#e (26,609) 19 - 3 (5,784) (1,736) (34,207)
160,919 59,921 212,191 16,717 252413 (1.736) 701,025

Acquisition related costs amounting to RMB3,762,000
have been excluded from the consideration transferred
and have been recognised as an expense within the
administrative expenses line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

Revenue and profit or loss of businesses acquired

BWEEE IR ASEAEARRE
3762000 tE R EEEEREZ
S BERGABZREME2EEK

BRAERS—BERLIIRITH
EMEE -

BE-ZE—-—AE=ZA=+—-BL#E

contributed to the Group for the year ended 31 ECUBEXEBRALTEEELEZEX
March 2016 BErER
Dalian Bao
Linhai Machinery Xing Da Zhong Ke  Jintan Ruixin
(Y3 11 REREE R SEHM
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT N S
Revenue 2EB 21,585 - 144,924 196,117
Profit (loss) for the period from HEE A e 2 BRI AR
the date of acquisition Rl (E8) 4614 (311,041) 330 5,462

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WEER HENB AR (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
a. Acquisitions (Continued) a. WEBE)
For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Continued) HEr_—_ - NF=Z=HF=+—H
IEFE(E)
Pro forma financial information for businesses EWBEEEZEERBEER
acquired
If each of the business combination has been completed WMEXBEHER_ZE—HFMOA
on 1 April 2015, the pro forma results of the Group for the —BRK BE_Z-—XF=A
year ended 31 March 2016 would have been as follows: ST BLEFEEAEEZBEER
AT AR
Dalian Bao
Linhai Machinery Xing Da Zhong Ke  Jintan Ruixin
[yt 2 REREE R SEEMR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Revenue B 1,386,333 1,374.919 1,633,205 1,578,373

Profit (loss) for the year FERa(ER) (28,059) (56,650) (31,862) (30,190)

The above pro forma financial information is for FHlEZMHERERSZERR
illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily an WA EBREBAHRN -
indication of the results of the Group that actually would —HFMNA—BEKEMITEED
have been achieved had the business combination been EECZHETEER  THEERKK
completed on 1 April 2015, nor is it intended to be a EERTER -

projection of future results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:-‘/Tcl/ji%#&%ﬁﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WEER HEWB AR ()
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
b. Disposals b. HE&
For the year ended 31 March 2016 Bz _ZFT—-XXF=ZF=1+—HI
FE
Percentage
Name of subsidiary of interest Fair value of Date of
disposed of Buyer disposed of  Principal activity disposal proceeds completion
HEZRE
HEZHBARER Eh BAl  EIEER HERBREZANE RHAH
JR Properties Two independent third 51%  Property development RMB20,778,000 28 March 2016
AREX parties mERE AR20,778,0007 “F-R EZAZTNAH
MEBUE=F
Yingkou Wanhe Two independent third 80%  Property investment RMB480,000,000 30 March 2016
Industrial Co., Ltd. parties nERE AR%480,0000000 —E-~E=A=TH
("Yingkou Wanhe”) MEBLE=H
%D%AE%ﬁ RAR
(-{=r-1-0)
Dalian Bao Xing Da Two independent third 60%  Land consolidation, parking  RMB80,000,000 31 March 2016
REREE parties sevices and lease of — ARM80,000,000  ZE-/~E-A=1—H
MEBUE=F land
THEE  EEERBA
THEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:-‘/T:llji%#&%ﬁﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF 45. WERHEWB AR (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
b. Disposals (Continued) b. HE&(#E)
For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Continued) HE-ZE-XNF=ZHF=1+—H1
FE(E)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control REBRGIRZEEREBED N
was lost
Dalian Bao
JR Properties  Yingkou Wanhe Xing Da Total
HRE% ENES REREE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT

Property, plant and equipment WE - BERERE - - 82 82
Properties held for sale BIEHENDE 33,278 = 1,900,000 1,933,278
Investment properties Y -VES = 515,558 = 515,558
Trade and other receivables 85 REMERIE 8 91 49,397 50,196
Bank balances and cash ROTEHRRES 1 31 74 773
Trade and other payables B A REMENTIE (13,520) = (8,168) (21,688)
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary EN—ZRZNBARZEE = (220,461) (1,280,473) (1,500,934)
Borrowings Fé%k - - (950,000) (950,000)
Deferred tax liabilities EREREaR S (102,364) (117,855) (220,219)
Long term payable REERE = = (15,047) (15,047)
19,767 193,555 (421,323) (208,001)
228 i HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

45. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

b. Disposals (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016 (Continued)

45. WEER HEWB AR ()

b. HE&E#)

Bz _ZFT—-XXF=ZF=1+—HI

FE(E)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENRB AR ZWE
Dalian Bao
JR Properties  Yingkou Wanhe Xing Da Total
ARE% ENES REREE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cash consideration HeRE 10,200 480,000 80,000 570,200
Consideration received in the form BRENERDRHARE
of investment property 10,578 - - 10,578
Total consideration BRE 20,778 480,000 80,000 580,778
Settlement of amount due fromthe  &BEUE B AR 2 FUE
former subsidiary sold = (220,460) = (220,460)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEARTE (19,767) (193,555) 41,323 208,001
Less: Non-controlling interests W EERREER 9,686 38,711 (168,529) (120,132)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR 2 10,697 104,696 332,794 448,187
Cash flow on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZEESRE
Dalian Bao
JR Properties  Yingkou Wanhe Xing Da Total
HABE% ENES REREE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Cash consideration received at RZE-—R"E=ZA=+-HZ
31 March 2016 BRRRLRE = 480,000 80,000 560,000
Bank balances and cash disposal of ~ HEZRTEHEFE S Q) (31) (741) (173)
M 479,969 79,259 559,227

The cash consideration from the disposal of JR
Properties of RMB10,200,000 were settled in April 2016.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e B HmAR N

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

46. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A

47.

SUBSIDIARY

On 27 April 2015, the Group entered into a Capital Increase
Agreement (the “CIA") with Harbin He Zhong Hui Li Economic
and Trading Co., Ltd. (“Harbin Hezhong"), a non-controlling
shareholder of a group entity. Pursuant to the CIA, Harbin
Hezhong agreed to contribute US$15,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB92,000,000) for the increase of registered
capital, Shenzhen Huajun Financial Leasing Limited (“Huajun
Leasing”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company before
the capital injection. The transactions contemplated under
the CIA constituted a change in ownership interests in Huajun
Leasing. On 29 May 2015, the capital injection has been
completed and the equity interest in Huajun Leasing is held as
to 70% by the Group and as to 30% by Harbin Hezhong. The
change in ownership interest in Huajun Leasing as a result of
the increase in capital of Huajun Leasing has been accounted
for as an equity transaction. The Group had recognised
a transfer of RMB3,300,000 from retained profits to non-
controlling interests during the year ended 31 March 2016.

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had

commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

46.

47.

— RN 2 B2 Fi A

M-_ZE—RAENA-++A - KEBHEK
REAREFNECEERAR(IRRES
B —EEEEEAIEERRE )R]
B ([BERR]) - BREEERE B
BB A RRE HE 15,000,000 7T (HE R
4 AR #92,000,0007T ) 18 R I T E 7
BEHEERAR([EEMHE]) (REEH
AARRIZEEMBRAR)MEMER -
EERFETHETNRSBREEZRE
WSS - E_T—RFRA-_TA
A EEBER  EEHENRERARE
B RWBERESERDBIFEAET0%M30% °
EEEHENSERRNNBEZEE
ARIVERZR S - BE-_T— X NF=A
=+—RALFE FAEEEHER—EAHR
BafZIFERRFRENER  BAR
#3,300,0007T °

KEHE

REBER/EEA

MR R - AR E R R A B 2 A
BEH R RBIERE AR ZRBWT :

2017 2016

—E—+F AN

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARMF T ARETT

(Restated)

(&E5)

Within one year —%FR 15,575 18,125
In the second to fifth years inclusive RE_FEEFRF

(BREERMSF) 6,745 17,249

22,320 35,374

As at 31 March 2017, all operating leases are related to
premises with lease terms between 1 to 5 years (2016: 1 to 5
years). The Group does not have an option to purchase the
leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

R_E—+HF=ZF=+—0H KLBHEH
EYERR  HAA—FERF(ZZT—X
F:—FERF) c REERAHRIHRFI
EBECHEENETR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an =g ji%#&% Bﬁ?

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

47. OPERATING LEASES (Continued)
The Group as lessor

The Group's investment properties are held for rental or/and
for capital appreciation.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

. REHEE(E)
FEBERHEA

AEBREZMERNEER S RE

ZIE(E e

RIEIR - ZK‘*IEE@%&E/\%TY&E%
& Yo i) A (KA B 5R0R

2017 2016

—E—tHF —E—RF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARBTIT

(Restated)

(gE7)

Within one year —F R 6,703 5,607
In the second to fifth years inclusive RE_FEEZERF

(BHEERRF) 15,795 14,608

After five years AFLAE 11,593 13,552

34,091 33,767

All of the properties held have committed tenants for the next
1-10 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

48. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

48. BARR HAbAEHE

2017 2016
—E—+F AN
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETT
(Restated)
(& E5)
Capital expenditure in respect of the REBNERNEGEE W BHEHREA
properties development project REEHECMEERIAB 2
contracted for but not provided in BEARFAY
the consolidated financial statements 579,513 -
Capital expenditure in respect of the UG KR ED EHNERR
acquisition of plant and equipment eV MR ANRRER
contracted for but not provided for in BEARFAY
the consolidated financial statements 54,922 1,363
Equity interest of a subsidiary (note) — [EIPfT B 1 R A (Y2t ) - 250,000
634,435 251,363

Note: The amount as at 31 March 2016 represented the commitments for

cash consideration on the conditional acquisition of a subsidiary.
In addition to the cash consideration, part of the consideration
for the acquisition is to be settled by the issuance of 71,428,571
new ordinary shares of the Company. Details of such share
consideration for the acquisition are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 18 June 2015. The conditional acquisition
was subsequently cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2017.

In addition to the above, the Group entered into a
subscription agreement with Hareon Solar on 18 January 2016,
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to subscribe
and Hareon Solar conditionally agreed to issue 629,629,629
new ordinary shares of HK$1 each in the share capital of
Hareon in an aggregate consideration of RMB1,700,000,000.
The aggregate consideration will be firstly settled by the fair
value of the entire 100% equity interest of a subsidiary of the
Company and the remaining balance will be settled by cash.

On 4 January 2017, Hareon Solar proposed to revise the
subscription agreement, pursuant to which the consideration
for the subscription has been changed from the Combined
Consideration to cash consideration only.

On 11 May 2017, the parties to the subscription agreement are
certain that several conditions cannot be fulfilled on or before
the condition fulfilment date and it is uncertain as to when
such conditions can be fulfilled. After careful consideration
of all the circumstances surrounding the subscription, the
directors of the Company decided not to proceed with the
subscription for shares in Hareon Solar. Details are set out in
note 14.

)
|
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B Efrat REBER T —NF—
AT N\BESEXRTLRERH &
I AEEEKGEREREMSEALRE
1614 B B 35 17 629,629,629 F& & B A% 2K A
ERIBITHFLER  RREAARE
1,700,000,0007T ° BREB L ARA T —
BB AT Z 2 E100% R AHER 2 A E
B MBRAGARSEN -

R=F—tE—AME - EMERRRE
TRBHE - B RERESAGRE
WEBARONRE -

R-F—t&RA+—A - REBHENHT
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ZRUER B R AT AR R
Bt AL I B TR 2 PR 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

49. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 49. BIWEE
At the end of the reporting period, carrying values of Group's R|EHRR  FEEEREERANERK
assets pledged to secure bill payables and borrowings of the SEERKENRERERZREENT

Group are as follows:

2017 2016

—E—+tF A=

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥ETF T ARBTT

(Restated)

(E751))

Property, plant and equipment ME - BB K ERE 726,455 538,375
Prepaid lease payments A HERIA 194,264 155,817
Investment properties BEMHE 4,694,812 -
Properties held for sale HERERNDE 1,120,494 93,291
Inventories FE 27,830 -
Trade receivables B 5 W FKRIE - 3,475
Bill receivables R ZEE 90,696 -
Pledged bank deposits RITEIRER 879,874 426,214
7,734,425 1,217,172
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 50. BB ARS
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) EAREEAEME
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key AFEEENEMBEREREAE Y
management personnel during the year were as follows: e T
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARETTT
(Restated)
(E751))
Short-term benefits EHATEH 18,084 16,473
Post-employment benefits Rz A 62 55
Share-based payments LARRAD R EERE 2 PR 28,117 9,543
46,263 26,071
(b) Transactions with immediate holding company (b) HEEERATAZXS

The transactions with immediate holding company
during the year ended 31 March 2017 were as follows:

(1) Acquisition of HTJA Development from a company
indirectly controlled by Mr. Meng (the “Vendor”)
at a consideration of RMB320,000,000. In addition,
the Group also agreed with the Vendor to acquire
the amount due from HTJA Development at a
consideration of RMB1,600,000,000. As at 31 March
2017, the Group has settled RMB839,055,000 for
the acquisition of HTJA Development and the
remaining deferred consideration payable of
RMB1,080,945,000 is recognised in amount due to
immediate holding company (note 45).

{
JRE b v =

BE-_ZT—+HF=A=+—BIt*F
B BEEERARZRSUT

M

WIS EMEEHN—ERAR
(BERFDHBBERELER
KRB A ARE320,000,0007T °
BEoh - AREBE TR E 515 E R
BREKERELERZE
K& A A R # 1,600,000,000
TLeRZE—+tF=A=+—
A AEEBECEMARE
839,055,000 LA B =R E 2
TR HEBECEENREAA
R #1,080,945,000 7 + A&
HRBEMEEERARZK
TE (FT5E45) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Transactions with immediate holding company

(Continued)

The transactions with immediate holding company
during the year ended 31 March 2016 were as follows:

(1) Acquisition of a subsidiary from a company
indirectly controlled by Mr. Meng, the chairman of
the Board of Directors and an executive director
of the Company, is disclosed in note 45. The
acquisition was settled by a total consideration of
RMB635,000,000, comprising of cash consideration
of RMB315,000,000 and share consideration by the
means of allotment and issuance of 400,000,000
new ordinary shares of the Company.

(2) On 11 June 2015, the Company issued the
2.5% Convertible Bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$500,000,000 of which
HK$406,714,850 was issued to immediate holding
company and HK$93,285,150 was issued to a
company controlled by Mr. Wu, the chief executive
officer and an executive director of the Company.

The details are disclosed in note 43.

(3) On 31 March 2016, the Company issued the
3.5% Convertible Bonds with principal amount
of HK$1,330,000,000 to its immediate holding
company. The details are disclosed in note 43.

The amount due to immediate holding company is

disclosed in note 34.

Provision of credit facility

As at 31 March 2017, Huajun International Limited
has provided a credit facility of HK$4,000,000,000
(equivalent to RMB3,571,429,000) to the Group, of which
RMB2,490,484,000 is unused by the Group.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

50. EEEARS (&)

HERERRARAZRS (E)

BHE_Z-—R"RF=ZA=+—HBL*F
E - BEEEERARZZZET

() BARAIESEERERITE
FRAEERMEENZ —RAF
WM BRR - R
ASHEE - WBZRRER
A R ¥ 635,000,000 © BB
g BRASKEBEARR
315,000,0007T J2 A B 3% J2 317
400,000,000/ A8 2 B]H7 & 3 A%
m R 2 RAIE -

2 R-ZT—AREXA+-—A8-
XRAREBBEBETARAESLE
500,000,000 % 7T 2.5% & & 2
Al &S - E 406,714,850
BLBEOTTEEERAGR
93,285,150/ L8 1T F AR A
TRERRRNTESREER
Bz —ERR o BN
43

B HR-E—XNE=RA=+—
H ARRBEETEASE

1,330,000,000 & JT 3.5% F &

ZAIMBRELSTFEEREERA

7] o FEIBEPHIFELS

JRE A5t B PR AR X BRI A P FE 344K

& o
rRHFERE

R-ZE—+tF=ZA=+—8 ' #
ZEBERARCANEEIRE
—BEE/mME ' & 4,000,000000
Bt (M E R AR 3,571,429,000
L) BERALEBEABEEAARKE
2,490,484,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c)

Transactions with Yingkou Coastal Bank Co.,
Ltd. ("Yingkou Coastal Bank")

On 1 November 2015, Mr Meng has attained significant
influence over Yingkou Coastal Bank, a commercial bank
governed by China Banking Regulatory Commission in
PRC by acquiring 19% interest in Yingkou Coastal Bank
through an entity controlled by Mr Meng and Yingkou
Coastal Bank is considered as a related party of the
Group under HKFRSs. The transactions with Yingkou
Coastal Bank from 1 November 2015 onwards constituted
related party transactions and the bank balances
deposited at Yingkou Coastal Bank and borrowings
obtained from Yingkou Coastal Bank as at 31 March 2017
and 2016 constituted balances with related party.

Balances with Yingkou Coastal Bank

50. BEEARF(4E)
() HEEONEBRTRHGERALA

(T&OHBRITNZXS

RZE—RAF+—HA—H &%4%E
THIE BB S O mERT(— M
XPERTEEEERZEGHE
ZHREEERIT)IORIE - FE %
EHENNERITBEERFES -
BHREEBMBREEL - 2008
RITWRARNEE 2@ - 8=
T-HAF+—A—HE @gnn
BRITET IR IBRKBH IR S
BEEEOHSRIOTTERZBRITER
KERZZE—+tFRZIE—RF=
A=+—HB205E8RTESH
RG]y

R OGRS A B

2017 2016

—E—+F AT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Bank balances and cash RITEEBRNMIR S 16,898 76,417
Pledged bank deposits SRITIRIRTE RN 723,199 390,047
Bill payables AN (2,104,835) (50,048)
Bank borrowings RITIE (588,370) (457,000)

{
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c)

Transactions with Yingkou Coastal Bank Co.,
Ltd. ("Yingkou Coastal Bank”) (Continued)

Transactions with Yingkou Coastal Bank

50. FAE

(c)

X5 (%)

HEOLHBRITROBRAT

(& OMBRIT 2R 5 (F)

HEERITZXE

Year ended

31 March 2017

Period from

1 November 2015
to 31 March 2016

Bz BE-T—H1F

—E—+tHF +—H—H&

=A=+—H EE—RE

ILFE =A=+—H

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBTT

Interest income F B WA 973 4,403
Interest expense e (21,038) (15,384)
Bank charges RITHE (327) (26)

Banking facilities provided by Yingkou Coastal Bank

As at 31 March 2017, Yingkou Coastal Bank has granted
banking facilities of totalling RMB3,240,007,000 to the
Group, of which RMB1,270,001,000 is unused by the
Group.

(d) Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng,
the controlling shareholder of the Company

On 6 April 2016, Mr. Meng became a director and the
chairman of Hareon Solar, the share of which was listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. In the meantime,
certain companies controlled by business partners of
Mr. Meng have conducted sales and purchase activities
with the Group and Hareon Solar. In the opinions of the
Directors of the Company, all of these companies are
considered to be related parties of the Group under
HKFRSs. The transactions with these companies from 6
April 2016 onwards constituted related party transactions
and the balances with these related companies as at 31
March 2017 are disclosed as follows:

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

(d)

EORBRITRHEZRITHE

R-E—+tF=ZA=+—8 &0
HERTERASEEREMRT
BE A £ A AR 3,240,007,000
T BERAEBRBAEAARYE
1,270,001,0007C ©

EREAREARTERRRE
FENEBBHEFNRAZX
Z

RZF—RNFEHAXRA > &EEK
RREBBFRZM EMHEEL
RKWEER - A BRELENE
BRHEMEHNETARESRAL
B Mg RERETHENREBR
B ARBEFARRBEBFEYH
BEER - 2MRERRNBHERS
AEBWBEBT - T —XFMN
ARBERE BZERRETZIRS
BREABTRXS MEBE-_ZT—+
F=ZA=+—H HZZEHEEQA
HAEERIREE T ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 50. BABEL R 5 (4)
(Continued)
(d) Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies (d) HEEEARREAATERBRRZR
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng, FENEBRBHEFINARZR
the controlling shareholder of the Company 5(#&)
(Continued)
Balance as at 31 March 2017: R-FB—LtF=ZA=+—Hz#Er:
At 31 March
Nature of balance &t E Name of related parties B 75 218 2017
R-ZB—+tF
=ZA=+-—H
Notes RMB’'000
Hrat AR®T
Trade receivables B ZEUR Hareon Solar ENED PN (i) 1,436
;| Changzhou Zhengxin  EMIEE#HEER
new energy Co., Ltd BRAA (i) 62,085
Changzhou Zhongrong &M EEEEIREHE
Energy Technology BRAA
Co., Ltd (i) 56,648
Jiangsu Zhong Xin new L&k EH LR
energy Co., Ltd BRAA (i) 35,072
Changzhou Yingli new &N F| a8 R
energy Co., Ltd BRAT] (i) 12,562
Taicang Hairun Solar V=R YNE T2
Energy Ltd BRAF (i) 1,981
169,784
Prepayments BN A Hareon Solar ERERIAN (i) 8,100
Trade payables B Z R Changzhou Zhongrong & /MA@t sEIREHE
KIE Energy Technology BRAA
Co., Ltd (iii) 12,679
Jiangsu Zhong Xin new L& EFaeRE
energy Co., Ltd NN (iii) 18,197
30,876
Other receivables Efibfglg Hareon new energy R RERER B
B Technology Co., Ltd NE /N (iv) 11,000
Changzhou Heng BMNTIES SRR
Ma Photovoltaic BARAR]
Technology Co., Ltd (ifi) 1
11,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

50. BB ARZ (&)

(d) Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng,

(d) BEEBARRALRAERRRE
FENEBRBFHEFINRAZX

the controlling shareholder of the Company 5 (%)
(Continued)
Balance as at 31 March 2017: (Continued) R-ZEBE—tF=Z/F=1+—HB 24
Bh:(#B)
At 31 March
Nature of balance &t &E Name of related parties B Ht 5 218 2017
R-ZZB—+tF
=A=+-—H
Notes RMB’000
Kt st AR®TRT
Other payables Hi &R  Yingkou Development & OFEEHIE
I Zone Zhongtai mEBRAA
Aluminum Industry
Co., Ltd (v) 15,000
Liaoning Hareon Industry E =8 HE %
Co., Ltd BRAA (v) 19,834
34,834
Finance lease BEMEE Wuan San Jing R mEs
receivables FEWSRIE environment science RREEARTE
and Technology BRAR]
Service Co., Ltd (vi) 102,589
Notes: WisE -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(vi)

These balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
trade-in-nature. The Group generally provides credit term to
these related companies on a case by case basis.

This balance represented advance payment for purchasing of
solar photovoltaic products as agreed by both parties.

These balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
trade-in-nature. The related companies generally allow a 30-
60 day credit term to the Group.

These balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand. The amounts represented fund
advances provided to the related parties.

The balance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. The amount represented fund advances received
from the related parties.

The finance lease receivables are secured over the leased
assets, mainly machineries and equipment. The principal
amount of the finance lease is RMB120,000,000 and its
carrying amount is interest bearing at 6% per annum and
repayable on 10 July 2019.

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

(i)

(iii)

(vi)

WEEHAEER T EBE
SIE - ARE—REREHIZ S
AEMLEHEENRREERED -

IR E T B E ARSI
B m i E TR 30R -

SR AEIEE T EEBE
SIHEE - HEARAR MR FAEER
30E60KMEEE] -

AR R B - Tt R RARER
SKIEIE - Z e BRI T REN
BNES -

UL AEEA R - DA B RRIRE
=

SRIEE o 3% FATE A B AS 77 R A
BNER -

WEREHERERBAEERE
TR TEORMERE - BE
HER G ARE120,000,000
T BEREERFENR6%E B
WAR-Z—NFLA+EEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 50. AR5 (&)

(Continued)

(d) Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies (d) HEEEARREAATERBRRZR
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng, FENEBRBHEFINARZR
the controlling shareholder of the Company 5(#&)

(Continued)
Transactions during the period from 6 April 2016 to 31 ZE-ARNFOARNAE=ZFE—tF
March 2017: ZA=+—HHENXE :
Period from
6 April 2016
Nature of to 31 March
transaction REME Name of related parties  EIH5 BHE 2017
H-Z—RF
mMAANBRE
—E—tF
=A=t+—H
Notes RMB’'000
ftat AR®TT
Sales of solar $HEARRGEEX  Jurong Zhongyou ABFRRANK
photovoltaic RE® Photovoltaic Technology ~ BHEARA A
products Co., Ltd (i) 82,397
Changzhou Zhongrong BIMNPEEER
Energy Technology Co., Ltd #HZBR A A (i) 354,257
Changzhou new energy Co., &M EEHNER
Ltd BRAT (i) 10,443
Changzhou Zhengxin HMNEEFRR
new energy Co., Ltd BERAR (i) 303,836
Changzhou Yingli new energy & M ZFI 865
Co., Ltd BRAT (i) 203,905
Jiangsu Zhong Xin new TEHEER
energy Co., Ltd ARAT] (i) 426,842
Jiangyin Hareon Solar Power JIR2 /8 H K5G8
Co., Ltd BENERAT (i) 3,797
Hareon Solar BEHR (i) 1,290
1,386,767
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 50. AR5 (&)

(Continued)

(d) Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies (d) HEEEARRAATERBRREZR
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng, FENEBRBHEFINRARZR
the controlling shareholder of the Company 5 (&)

(Continued)
Transactions during the period from 6 April 2016 to 31 ZE-ARNFOARNAE=ZFE—tF
March 2017: (Continued) ZA=1+—HHBENXE : (&)
Period from
6 April 2016
Nature of to 31 March
transaction REHE Name of related parties BT 2% 2017
H-E-RF
MANAEE
—E—tF
=A=+-H
Notes RMB’'000
ftzt AR®T T
Purchase of solar ~ #ZREEXZ82  Changzhou Zhongrong MR R REHR
photovoltaic FARNEm Energy Technology ABRAE
products Co., Ltd (i) (376,750)
Changzhou Zhengxin EMNIEEFRER
new energy Co., Ltd BRAF (ii) (180,222)
Changzhou Yingli EMNERFTREIR
new energy Co., Ltd ABRAE (ii) (29,954)
Jiangsu Zhong Xin new TEH B aLR
energy Co., Ltd ABRAE (ii) (461,453)
(1,048,379)
Processing service INITARHEM Changzhou Zhongrong BN EEEREHR
fees Energy Technology ARAE
Co., Ltd (iii) (20,456)
Jiangsu Zhong Xin new T B AEIR
energy Co., Ltd ARAE (iii) (23,499)
(43,955)
Finance lease BMEMHEWA Wuan San Jing environment  E & & & RRR
income science and Technology BRBAR LR
Service Co., Ltd (iv) 9,555
Loan interest EXFEWA Hareon Solar R
income (v) 2,848
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(d) Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng,
the controlling shareholder of the Company

(Continued)

Transactions during the period from 6 April 2016 to 31

March 2017: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Solar photovoltaic products are sold to these related
companies at a price agreed by both parties by reference to

the price available in the market.

(ii) Solar photovoltaic supplies are purchased from these related
companies at a price agreed by both parties by reference to

the price available in the market.

(i)  The amounts represent processing service fees at a price

agreed by both parties.

(iv)  The finance lease income is received from the related

company at 6% per annum.

(v) The loan interest income is received from the related

company at 8% per annum.

{
JRE b v =

50. BB ARZ (&)

(d) EBBARRADTAEZERRRE
FENEBRBHEFINRAZX
5% (%)

CE-AFNANAE-E—+#F
ZA=+—HBANXKE : (&)
Azt -

() FULZHERA R E AR R E
2 (B T 2 R 045 A S B S
BEESAE -

() MU SR TR AR ALK R
FER 2 (BHE T 2R T A 1S S B

ERRETRE -

(i)  REFTRBOHERENINTRS
BERDE -

(iv) REHEERANRFRNE% mAIAR
A EULER -

V) ERFBWAREFES Y% [ H
A EULER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(d) Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng,
the controlling shareholder of the Company

(Continued)

Financial guarantees provided to Hareon Solar

(i)  On 19 October 2016, the Group entered into
a financial guarantee in favour of China Cinda,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide
a financial guarantee in respect of obligations
and liabilities of Hareon Solar and Jiangyin
Hareon Solar Energy Electrical Power Co., Ltd.
under restructuring documents in the amount of
approximately RMB383,361,000 (the “Guarantee”).
On the same date, Mr. Meng also entered into a
personal guarantee in favour of the China Cinda
to provide financial guarantee for the same

obligations and liabilities.

In order to protect the interest of the Group against
any loss which might be suffered by the Group
under the Guarantee, Hareon Companies entered
into a counter indemnity in favour of the Group
pursuant to which Hareon Companies agreed to,
among other matters, indemnify the Group for
its liabilities and loss which may arise from the

Guarantee.

The Group has recognised a financial guarantee
contract of RMB44,281,000 at the date of providing
the Guarantee. The financial guarantee liability is
amortised over the financial guarantee period. The
Group has recognised amortisation of financial
guarantee contract amounting to RMB9,481,000
(included in other income) during the year ended 31

March 2017 (note 8).

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

50. BB ARZ (&)

(d)

R RRARAERRRE
FENEBRBFHEFINRAZX
5% (%)

R R R FEIER

) RZE—XRF+ATHLE &
SENPBREEASTARIL
—MMBER - Bt AEE
BEERBEANY - BEHK
KEIEBSBHABEENE
RABIMEEREBERHETE
PR 49 A R % 383,361,000 7T
(TZER]) - BB » REETS
AR B E RS AR EAA
ER - URHERENETNEE
R EELR o

AREAEENFE - RRR
BERERMEAKEATEER
EEK - BEARNAEE
RRBAFL—BRMBIE
Bit - BEARRB(ETE
) RN E R s R (R T AT BE
EEMABEMBREHRE -

AEERRBEZERBDHEH®
R—NUBERENBARE
44,281,0007C ° Z I FERE
BRI IS EREPEE - BEZ
T—+F=A=+—HIHF
B AEEDBRNTBER
B HHE A ANRE9,481,0007T
(FEAEMUA) (FF5ES) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 50. BB X5 (48)
(Continued)
(d) Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies (d) HEEEARREAATERBRRZR
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng, FENEBRBHEFINARZR
the controlling shareholder of the Company 5(#&)
(Continued)
Financial guarantees provided to Hareon Solar BB RBHIBIER(E)
(Continued)
(i) On 4 May 2016, the Group has provided a corporate (i) RZETE-—R"FRAMNAH K
guarantee of RMB22,990,000 to secure a banking SERFEARNERARE
facility granted to a subsidiary of Hareon Solar. 22,990,0007C  MARE{R G B
Subsequently on 19 January 2017, the Group further AE)— B AR ER—I1A
increased the maximum guaranteed amount to RITHE - BER_T—+
RMB77,000,000. At the end of the reporting period, F—ATHhAB  KAEHE—
the Group has not recognised liabilities in respect TReEaEERIZEEARE
of the above guarantee issued because the fair 77,000,0007C ° PA$RE BAR -
value of this guarantee is insignificant. HREERNARBELTE

K AEEYEHZ N A
RMEREE -

Financial guarantees received from Hareon Solar R E R R BB IER
On 29 September 2016, Hareon Solar has provided a RZZE-—XRFALAZ+NB  &EH
corporate guarantee of RMB1,600,000,000 for a loan RARAEEB -—BEFREEER
facility of the Group free of charge. #—I18 A R % 1,600,000,0007C 2 A
GIE

Loan restructuring arrangement EMEHAZTH
On 31 December 2016, the Group has entered into a RZZE-—RF+ZA=+—H &K
loan restructuring agreement with Hareon Solar and SEEERARE —HhREEE
a company controlled by Mr. Meng. Pursuant to the HIM QAT EREAE R - RIE
agreement, the Group has assigned net receivables of ZihE NEEDHERKER
RMB63,369,000 due from Hareon Solar Group to Yingkou HKREBZERARIBEFEARE
Huajun Financial Holdings Investment Co., Ltd, an entity 63,369,000 T R LA EHIN B E
controlled by Mr. Meng. AEESIFREFR AR -
Share subscription R 258
On 18 January 2016, the Group entered into a AEEER-_ZE—XR"E—-A+TNAR
subscription agreement with Hareon Solar, pursuant to B BN RETLRE W= - Bt
which the Group conditionally agreed to subscribe and AEBEFRERBZRBEMEELR
Hareon Solar conditionally agreed to issue 629,629,629 BIEHRIE#17629,629,6290% /8 8
new ordinary shares of HK$1 each in the share capital FARIEA R G AT I E B
of Hareon Solar in an aggregate consideration of #REARARK1,700,000,0007T °
RMB1,700,000,000. The aggregate consideration will BREBEUARE —HEHB R R
be firstly settled by the fair value of the entire 100% ZEE100%REERm 2 AR EE
equity interest of a subsidiary of the Company and the i MEARIEAR SER -
remaining balance will be settled by cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Transactions with Hareon Solar and companies
controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng,
the controlling shareholder of the Company
(Continued)

Share subscription (Continued)

On 4 January 2017, Hareon Solar proposed to revise
the subscription agreement, pursuant to which the
consideration for the subscription has been changed
from the Combined Consideration to cash consideration
only.

On 11 May 2017, the parties to the subscription
agreement are certain that several conditions cannot be
fulfilled on or before the condition fulfilment date and it
is uncertain as to when such conditions can be fulfilled.
After careful consideration of all the circumstances
surrounding the subscription, the directors of the
Company decided not to proceed with the subscription
for shares in Hareon Solar. Details are set out in note 14.

Related party transactions and balances with
associates

Financial guarantees provided to an associate

On 24 February 2017, the Group has provided a
corporate guarantee of RMB50,000,000 to secure a
banking facility granted to Liaoning Yinzhu. At the end
of the reporting period, the Group has not recognised
liabilities in respect of the above guarantee issued
because the fair value of this guarantee was insignificant.

Balance with an associate
As at 31 March 2017, the Group has a payable of

RMB21,372,000 with Hareon New Materials, an associate
of the Group (note 26).

EEERERAR | —T—LFR

50. EEEARS (&)

(d)

(e)

R RRARAERRRE
FENEBRBFHEFINRAZX
5% (%)

R0 (&)

R-Z—tF-AOEA - BEER
BEEFRBHE - B RER
BEmAMHREEZEZARESNE -

R-ZF—tFHEA+—B  RE®H
BZAINT B ES TR EEREG
fhizEpk A B Z BT RK - MO RE
TE 10 B BE 903 AR R IR AT - IR AR
EZEEBERBBOAERER » A E
EERETHETRABERLREK
0 o FBHIIRHIFE14 -

HBRE AT AB LIRS k&S

BBE N AR M EIER
R-ZE—+FE_A=-+WNH  &x&
B 12 fit & 7] #E 4R A K % 50,000,000
T UWHREBEERRER BRI
BE o RMERK  BRERNA
AREITEKR  REELEREH
FiERmMERELE -

BB R 2
RZZE—tF=A=+—0B K&
B & AN £ B — [ B R R R AT

MR IR A R % 21,372,0007T (M 52
26) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

50. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(f) Related party transactions and balances with (f)

other related parties

The Group had the following transacti

50. EEEARS (&)

=3

ons with other

BEHMEABRLT BB LIRS RE

FAAREE R E MR 50

related parties during the year: T
Nature of balance ERME Name of related parties B £ 18 2017
—E-tE
Notes RMB'000
lifg ARET R
Loan receivables and interest ~ EFEMFIAR Yingkou Huaxin Industrial € DEFEXERAT]
receivables 8 YR Co., Ltd. (EBEZS))
("Yingkou Huaxin") () 118,741
Yingkou Huarong Industrial &NE@EXERAH
Co., Ltd. (M#nzg])
("Yingkou Huarong") (ii) 141,599
260,340
Other receivables Eth M E Liaoning Fubon Properties BEZEEAEFERAF
Co., Ltd (Formerly known  (FIBEZEEARME
as Liaoning Fubon Real ~ AEERAF))
Estate Development Co.,
Ltd) (iii) 6,700
Notes: BfEE -
(i) The amount is secured by the entire equity interest of () ZAFE T 2 IR - RE

the borrower, interest bearing at 18% per annum and
repayable on 27 June 2017. Yingkou Huaxin is a shareholder
of Changzhou Zhongrong Energy Technology Co., Ltd, a
company controlled by business partners of Mr. Meng and
conducted sales and purchase activities with the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2017 and Hareon Solar, so it is

considered as a related party of the Group.

(ii) The amount is secured by the entire equity interest of the
borrower, interest bearing at 18% per annum and repayable
on 27 June 2017. On 24 March 2017, Huajun Culture Tourism
(Liaoning) Co., Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Meng,
acquired the entire equity interest of Yingkou Huarong, so it
is considered as a related party of the Group from this date

onwards.

(ili)  The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. A director of the Company has control over this

company.

RELe <
=

(ii)

(i)

FE18%et B RAR T —H%XA
“HERER - EOEFERENTE
BRI RAERARZER(—MhA
FEMEBRUEES 2RT) ¥R
BE_Z—tF=A=+—BLFE
EARE RSB RNETHE IR
fBRs - FUERERARE B
53 C

ZeRAET ZEREERT - REF
ME18%FTERAR T —tF A
—t+tHEE -R=-FT—+tF=A
—+P9H * Huajun Culture Tourism
(Liaoning) Co., Ltd. (—fIE & L4
PEHl 2 AR WS O ER 2 2E0K
- AtEZBHREREALER
pd: )

ZERAEEM  RERARERE
B ARBN—REEHEBZ RN
IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 51. AR BT EMWE QAT ZH1E
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March RARABFEMBRANR_ZE—+F=H
2017 and 31 March 2016 are disclosed as follows: =+t BER=-ZE—R"E=ZA=+—HZH
BERERT

(Effective equity interest)
Percentage of/

nominal value
Place of Issued and fully paid of issued share/
incorporation/  Principal place ~ share/registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary establishment o business capital held by the Company  Principal activities
ANAEE(BRREER)
HRRL/ BRTRAR Bot/BRIREL
WEARER R BE ITEEMY  RG/HERER mE/ERER TEER
Indirectly Indirectly
;3 53
2017 2016
it - T S
Bao Hua Properties (Dalian)  PRC PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Co,, Ltd. i ﬁF A %10,000,0007 RERR
REME(KE)BRAR
Bao Hua Properties (Yingkou) PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd. i EF‘ AR %8,000,0007 NEFRE
(note b)
RENE(EN)ER
BRAR(Mtb)
Betech Limited Hong Kong PRC HK$10,000 51% 51% Trading of electronic products and
HEERAT &R EF‘ 10,0007 devices
ETERRAEES
Changzhou Jintan Ruixin PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of solar
Optoglectronic Co., Ltd.  #E e AR 100,000,007 control equipment, monocrystalline
(note b) silicon wafers, polycrystalline silicon,
EMmEEEMAEERAA solar cells, coated glass, rare metals,
(Bib) solar modules and silicon materials

and related products.

ERRERGAERE  Eak
R %% ABEED  BRRK
B RATE  ABRREARENH
HRIEEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

51. ?&%ﬂi%ﬁﬁ%/&ﬂz%ﬂ%
&

(Effective equity interest)
Percentage of/
nominal value

of issued share/
registered capital

Issued and fully paid
share/registered

Place of

incorporation/  Principal place

Name of subsidiary establishment o business capital held by the Company ~ Principal activities
ANAEE(BRREER)
HRRL/ BRTRAR Bot/BRIREL
KEAER R ITEXNT  RO/ERER HE/EREx TEXK
Indirectly Indirectly
;3 i3
2017 216
“E-tf I 5E
Chenzhou Sonic PRC PRC US$1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of subcontracting services
Manufacturing Company & e 1,000,000% 7T to a fellow subsidiary for paper and
Limited (note a) packaging products
BMENFIRBRAT E-ERZNEAAREARR
(Hita) BREMND BRE
Dalian Haitong Properties ~ PRC PRC RMB6,000,000 100% N/A" Property development and investment
Development Co., Ltd %3 e AR6,000,0007 TER DERERRE
REERBRHEREERAR
Dalian Taiyuan Properties ~ PRC PRC RMB186,300,000 100% N/A " Property development and investment
Development Co., Ltid %3 e AR186,300,0007T TER NEREREE
RERTRHEREERAR
Dongguan New lsland PRC PRC HK$132,000,000 100% 100% Production and distribution of paper
Printing Company Limited e 132,000,0007C products
(note a) EERDEAEMA
REFNERIER LA
(Hita)
Ever Gain E.T Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 51% 51% Trading of electronic products and
BERRARAT BR &R 10,000,000 ¢ devices
ETERRAEES
Huajun Energy Co., Ltd PRC PRC RMB110,000,000 100% 100% Trading of oil and chemical products
(note a) (formerly known as & HE AR 110,000,000 BaRIERES
Huajun Logistics (Yingkou)
Co., Ltd)
EEWRERAR (HiFa)
(MB@EEMR(E0)
ARAR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 51. AQA T T EME QN 7 2 $15
OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (%)

(Effective equity interest)
Percentage of/

nominal value
Place of Issued and fully paid of issued share/
incorporation/  Principal place ~ share/registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business capital held by the Company ~ Principal activities
FAARR(RBRIER)
MR/ BRTRYR ARt/ BRIRER
HELREE ALY IEEENY  RO/ERER mE/EREx 3
Indirectly Indirectly
3 )
2017 216
—2-tf B
Huajun Energy Logistics PRC PRC RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Trading of oil and chemical products
Yingkou) Co., Ltd (note b) e ARH5,000,0007 RERCIERES
ZRERMR(EN)ERAA
(Hitb)
Huajun Capital Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$30,000,000 100% 100% Securities investments
FEARARAT B 3 30,000,007 BHRE
Huajun Credit Services Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Money lending
Limited (formerly known as &7 Bl 10,000/ 7 fifg
New Island Credit Services
Limited)
Huajun Credit Services
Limited (FITERTM &
RBERAR)
Huajun Leasing (note ¢) PRC PRC US$50,000,000 70% 70% Provision of financial leasing and
EERE(HHC) i i 50,000,000 7T associated services
RUBEEERRERG
Huajun Logistics Co., Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1.00 100% 100% Investment holding, trading and
ZEMRARAT B8 ) 10047 logistics
RERK  EARIR
Huajun Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Provision of management services to
ERERERAA B8 Bl 10087 group companies

AEELARKEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 51. AQA T T EME QN 7 2 $15
OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (%)

(Effective equity interest)
Percentage of/

nominal value
Place of Issued and fully paid of issued share/
incorporation/  Principal place ~ share/registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business capital held by the Company ~ Principal activities
FAARR(RBRIER)
MR/ BRTRAR B4t/ ERIRER
HELRER ALY IEEENY  RO/ERER mE/EREx 3
Indirectly Indirectly
3 Rk
2017 216
—2-tf “ERF
Huajun Medical Management PRC PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Provision of medical
(PRC) Limited (notea) ~ HE HE AREE50,000,00070 management services
FRERER(PE)ERAA REBEERRS
(Hfita)
Huajun Properties (Dalian) ~ PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100% N/A" Property development and investment
Co,, Ltd hE e A& #:8,000,0007C IR DERERRE
FREX(RB)ERRA
Hareon Solar Energy (Chang  PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Production and sale of photovoltaics
Zhou) Limited (formerly ~ HE HE AR #100,000,0007T products, monocrystalline silicon,
known as Jiangsu Zhong solar stent and related products.
Ke Guo Neng Photovoltaic FEREERRER  ERERAB
Technology Co., Ltd) RAREBER
(note b)
BEAGEEN(EN)
ER AR (MEIETHE
RARHRARAR)
(fi2b)
Jiangsu Zhong Xiang Energy  PRC PRC RMB150,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of solar
Co., Ltd. (note b) i HE AR #150,000,0007T control equipment, monocrystalline
TR MERER AR (M) silicon wafers, polycrystalline silicon,
solar cells, coated glass, rare metals,
solar modules and silicon materials
and related products.
RERHEAGHAHRE R0
R %8k ABEED BRE
B HELE  ABREARENH
NRBBER
510 I l =4 HUAJUN HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Principal place

Issued and fully paid

share/registered

5. XRRAETEMBRARAZFHE

(%)

(Effective equity interest)
Percentage of/
nominal value

of issued share/
registered capital

Name of subsidiary establishment o business capital held by the Company ~ Principal activities
ANAEE(BRREER)
AL/ BRTRAR Bot/BRIREL
KWEARER R BE ITEXNY  RO/ERER mE/ERER TEER
Indirectly Indirectly
;3 i3
2017 2016
“E-tf I 5E
Jurong Zhong Ke Guo Neng  PRC PRC RMBS80,000,000 100% 100%  Production and sale of photovoltaics
Photovoltaic Technology G A %80,000,0007C products, monocrystalline silicon,
Co., Ltd. (note b) solar stent and related products.
DRRRE AR EERBEANER ERE AR
ER A (HiEb) XRREBER
Liaoning Bao Hua Properties  PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. hE A #20,000,0007 RS
(note b)
EERERHERZARAA
(itb)
New Island (Shanghai) Paper  PRC PRC US§2,500,000 100% 100% Production of paper products
Products Co. Ltd (note a) i 2,500,000t EEGHER
EEFN( LB ERERAR
(fiita)
New Island Management ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong US$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Services Limited B &R 1,000,000 7T RERR
TNERRBARAA
New Island Printing Company Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$200 ordinary 100% 100% Distribution of paper products
Limited B B shares and e
HMEVRIERAR HK$1,000,000 non-
voting deferred
shares
05 THEBRE
1,000,000 7T &5
SRETRY

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Principal place

Issued and fully paid

share/registered

5. XRRAETEMBRARAZFHE

(%)

(Effective equity interest)
Percentage of/
nominal value

of issued share/
registered capital

Name of subsidiary establishment  of business capital held by the Company ~ Principal activities
FAARR(RBRIER)
MR/ BRTRYR B4t/ ERIRER
HELRER ALY IEEENY  RO/ERER mE/EREx 3
Indirectly Indirectly
3 )
2017 216
—2-tf B
NITNS LLC The US The US 100 ordinary shares of 51% 51% Provision of marketing services
*8 xB US$1 each RETSHERRE
1005&R1 %A
14
Shanghai Baohua Wanlong ~ PRC PRC RMB115,000,000 100% N/A" Property development and
Real Estates Company el ARE115,000,0007 TEA  investment
Limited (note b) WERERRE
LEREEEEXARAA
(Hitb)
Shanghai Huajun Chemical ~ PRC PRC RMB100,000,000 100% N/A " Investment holding, trading
Co., Ltd hE e AK#100,000,00070 TER  and logistics
LAERLIARRT REBR AR
Shanghai Huajun Rubber ~ PRC PRC RMB30,000,000 60% N/A Trading of rubber and chemical
Technology Co., Ltd mE M AK30,000,0007T TNER  products
(note b) BBRIIERES
LEERGBREARAA
(Hitb)
Shanghai New lsland PRC PRC US$5,700,000 100% 100% Production and distribution of
Packaging Printing Co., Ltd & e 5,700,000% 7 paper products
(note a) EERDHAZM
e RORERAR
(Hfita)

JRE b v =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

51. ?&%ﬂi%ﬁﬁ%z‘ﬂz%ﬂ%
&

(Effective equity interest)
Percentage of/
nominal value

Place of Issued and fully paid of issued share/
incorporation/  Principal place ~ share/registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary establishment  of business capital held by the Company ~ Principal activities
ARNARE(BRRTER)
EREL/ BRARAR BAl/BRITREL
i) PEEL RIBE ITEEME  RG/ERER mE/EREx TERH
Indirectly Indirectly
3 i3
2017 2016
“E-tF “ERF
Yingkou Kunlun Real Estate ~ PRC PRC RMB25,000,000 100% N/A " Property development
Company Limited hE e AR 825,000,007 TER DER%
ENRREHEERAR
Yingkou Royal Lakes Garden  PRC PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Provision of food service, commercial
Health and Wellness i i AR #10,000,0007 service and accommodation
Centre Co. Ltd. (note b) RERHIRY  AHRBREE
ENKERRERLDL
BRAR(Mb)
Yingkou Xiang Feng PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
Properties Company e e AF#20,000,0007 VEES
Limited (note b)
ENMEEXERRA(HHb)
Zhejiang Linhai Machinery ~ PRC PRC RMB55,000,000 100% 100% Production and sale of turbines,
Co., Ltd. (note a) i i AR #55,000,0007 transformers, torque converters and
FEERAARL Hite) related prodcts
LERHERG ZEEREREAS
NRIBBER
Note: For those subsidiaries established in PRC, their classification of Bt - ZEMBRRTIRF BRI -
establishment is as follows: ST

(@)  wholly foreign owned enterprise
(b) domestic invested company

() sino-foreign enterprise

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 51. AQA T T EME QN 7 2 $15
OF THE COMPANY (Continued) )

BEERB - LRAVIZAKENEBERR

o
i

n

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results HAEECEBNEERFEXE -EF
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries R BEAME AR ZFBEY LSRR
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of T

excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the BEMBARRFERBITENELES -
end of the year.

TRINRRZE—CEFER=ZFT—RF=A
=t BASEHEEERIEIERBEEER
ZH—I2ENBRARFEEMHE 2515 ¢

The table below shows details of Huajun Leasing, the only
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group at 31 March 2017
and 2016 that have material non-controlling interest:

Proportion
of ownership Profit
interests and allocated to
Place of voting rights non-controlling Balance of
incorporation held by interests for non-controlling
and principal non-controlling the year ended interest as
Name of subsidiary place of business interest 31 March at 31 March
BE=RA=+—-H
FERRRES LFEA®RT R=ZA=+—H
78 B S 3t B % BREZMAERR FERRRESD ZHERRR
HEAREE TEREXME RERELLA iR R
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
2017
—E-tF
Huajun Leasing PRC 30% 13,830 113,562
E¥EHE e
2016
ZEAF
Huajun Leasing PRC 30% 4,341 99,732
¥EHE e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBIRAME

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 51. AQA T T EME QN 7 2 $15

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (%)

Summarised consolidated financial information prepared in ERABBERFZERREED 2B QA
accordance with HKFRSs before intragroup eliminations in BIBEFBWBREZLERES 2 EE AL
respect of the subsidiary that has material non-controlling AT Z RV BEREMEHTIMT -

interest is set out below.

Huajun Leasing

FEAR
2017 2016
—E—+tF T AF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Non-current assets FERBEE 289,720 70,168
Current assets BB E 494,683 1,228,995
Current liabilities mBaE (405,863) (966,723)

Huajun Leasing

EEHE
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2017 2016
B2 BHE
—E—+F AN
ZA=+—-B =A=+—H
IEFE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR¥ETT

Revenue BEH 85,225 63,522
Profit and total comprehensive income A RS ARE 46,100 18,936
Profit allocated to non-controlling interests 43 it F 2E 4% A% A% R 25 2 i 7 13,830 4,341
Cash flows from (used in) RS EE(ER)

operating activities ZIREBME 49,176 (486,611)
Cash flows from (used in) KERHEE(ER)

investing activities ZHRERE 300,628 (302,822)
Cash flows (used in) BMEES (R EE

from financing activities ZBRERE (317,274) 48,017

EREBRBRAR | —T—1LFH ’ 255



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 52. D\ Z AR I
THE COMPANY

2017 2016
—E—+F AN
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARET T
(Restated)
(&&E7))
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries B AT 2R 903,459 461,984
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS B A B2 A 3,344,510 =
4,247,969 461,984
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG IPE e 3,019,684 3,099,843
Deposits and prepayments e RIBANEIE 3,610 1,760
Tax recoverable EEL 329 308
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 4,347 17,809
3,027,970 3,119,720
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTFT B A B2 A 2,447,007 731,553
Borrowings from immediate holding REBBREZERARZER
company - 19,636
Bank borrowings RITHBNK 265,039 263,515
Other payables HAth fE T 5RIE 4,876 2,927
2,716,922 1,017,631
NET CURRENT ASSETS RRBEE 311,048 2,102,089
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRDEE
LIABILITIES 4,559,017 2,564,073
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Borrowings from immediate holding KEEEERARZER
company 999,321 -
Corporate bonds NEES 243,161 =
Convertible bonds AR (E 278,937 =
1,521,419 -
NET ASSETS BEE 3,037,598 2,564,073
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#EE
Share capital B& 2R 55,203 51,787
Reserves (Gt 2,982,395 2,512,286

TOTAL EQUITY R 3,037,598 2,564,073

W
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in share capital and reserves

52.

RRB) 2 BARRE(E)

BRARFEEZE

Share-based Deemed  Convertible
Share Share  Contributed ~ payment  Exchange contrbution bondsequty  Retained
capital ~ premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
HRHAEE fF  TERES
RE  RHEE  EHBR oHREE EXBE  TERE  BERE  REMH 48
RMB'OO0 ~ RMB0O0  RMB'O00  RMB'000 RMB'OOD ~ RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMB'00
ARETTL  ARBTT  ARETT ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 April 2015 A-F-REMA-H 31473 416910 09,589 2161 (40,261) 51 - 211,510 135,9%
Loss for the year EEER s = < s s = < (32.389) (32.389)
Other comprehensive income Ep2Ehs - - - 5 54,704 = = S 54,704
Total comprehensive income ER2ENREE
for the year - - - - 54704 - - (32,389) 2315
Issue of convertible bonds ¥rhhEs S = = S - (0720 45,205 S 338,005
Issue of shares arising from BETRRESMENRD
conversion of convertible bonds 16813 159423 = 5 5 = (445.225) - 116801
Issue of shares for acquisition BERBLATREARD
of subsidlaries 329 259,016 - - - 114,208 - - 376,503
Deemed contribution from BEERERAFAZEE
immediate holding company - - - - - @3760) - - (37.767)
Exercise of share options & m 2,25 = (1.160) 5 g = 5 0317
Recognition of share-based payments BRI BER 231 - - - 17,984 - - - = 17944
Forfsture of share options B - - = (1,886) = = . 1,686 =
Dividend paid BfRE e S - e - = > ) 92
At 31 March 2016 [Restated) RZE-RE=A=1-H
(7)) S1787 2,295,604 69,589 17,059 14,443 13,735 - 101,856 2,564,073
Loss for the year EEER 5 e e 5 5 g - (95806)  (95.808)
Other comprehensive expense Efp2 AR - - - - TSR - - - TSR
Total comprehensive expense ERRERNEE
for the year - - - - 77,582 - - (95,806) (16,224
lsue of shares kb 3416 263,176 - - - - - - 266592
Expense incurred in connection BIHREENRR
with the issue of new shares - (6,932) - - - - - - (6,932)
Deemed contrbution from BERDABRIRAL
immediate holding company 18
of the Company - - - - - 81,624 - - 81,624
Deemed contrbution from BERB-BHERT TR
acquisition of a subsidary - - - - - 100,565 - - 100,565
Recognition of share-based payments  BEANRG BER 231 5 e e 49,900 5 e = 5 49,900
At 31 March 2017 RIE-t5=A=1-A 55203 2,551,848 69,589 66,959 92025 195,924 - 6,050 3,037,598
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e B HmAR N

For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

SheR

54.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

On 31 December 2016, the Group has entered into a loan
restructuring agreement with Hareon Solar and a company
controlling by Mr. Meng. Pursuant to the agreement, the
Group has assigned net receivables of RMB63,369,000 due
from Hareon Solar and its subsidiaries to Yingkou Huajun
Financial Holdings Investment Co., Ltd., a indirect wholly-
owned subsidiarity controlled by Mr. Meng.

On 28 March 2016, the Group disposed of its entire 51%
interest in JR Properties of which includes an investment
property of RMB10,578,000 as part of the consideration of the
disposal.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@) On 12 May 2017, Yangzhou Baohua Jianfeng Real Estates
Limited, an indirectly non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, successfully bid for the land use rights of two
pieces of land in Gaoyou District, Jiangsu Province, PRC
(the “Land”) through the auction held by Gaoyou Land
Bureau whereby the Land was acquired by the Group at a
bidding price of RMB739,660,000.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group
entered into a subscription agreement with Hareon
Solar. Subsequently on 11 May 2017, the parties to
the subscription agreement are certain that several
conditions cannot be fulfilled on or before the condition
fulfillment date and it is uncertain as to when such
conditions can be fulfilled. After careful consideration
of all the circumstances surrounding the subscription,
the directors of the Company decided not to proceed
with the subscription for shares in Hareon Solar. The
directors of the Company are of the view that the lapse of
the subscription agreement does not have any material
adverse impact on the business operation and financial
position of the Group.

53.

54.

FTEFRERS

R-E-—RF+-A=+—H F&EEHH
BENAE—HHRAREEERN ARG
—EREAGZE - REZHE  ~N&H
2 E WO T S IR K BB B 2 B 2 FE YR
18588 A R #63,369,0007C T & 5t A 15
MEZEE2ENBAREOEESIERER
R e

RZE—XRF=ZA=-_+N\B KAEEH
EHRAOBRBENDIS1%EE - Hh g
BEASSPHERENKEMEARYE
10,578,0007T °

REBEMR 2SHE

(@ WNZEBE—tFHEA+ZH ARF
WEEEZEMBRRBMRER
LEXARAABEEHGHHEL
BEITHNREK DR EMELR S
BT# & = E R ([ &L )i
T EAE - Bt ARERRE
B AR#739,660,0007T Y Z L i -

b) BE_ZT-—AR"F=ZA=1+—HLF
B AEBEEERTI-—0R
Bz - BN -_Z—tHF0A
T—B  RBWBHEIITOEE
RIEHFER BB A EBEERSE
TR - BEAREE (85 77 Al X
ZEGMSE ARREFTRHFAEE
ERRBIABRERETG#
TRBEBEERZEN - ARAE
ERRABHERRAB IS Y AEE
ZEBBENRMBIREREME
RTFEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VAN
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
HE—T—+F=H=1T—HIFE

54, EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(c)

EEERARAR | —F

On 23 May 2017, the Group entered into equity transfer
agreements with an entity controlled by Mr. Meng
(the "Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Group has
conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has
conditionally agreed to purchase, 49% equity interests
in Liaoning Yinzhu for a consideration of RMB75,000,000
and the entire equity interests in Linhai Machinery for
a consideration of RMB190,000,000. The equity transfer
agreements are subject to a number of conditions
precedent which include, without limitation, the approval
by the independent shareholders of the Company.
Completion of the equity transfer agreements is subject
to the conditions precedents having been fulfilled.

On 20 June 2017, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Shenzhen City Kaifu Investment
Enterprise Company Limited (“Shenzhen Kaifu”), a
company established in PRC with limited liability,
pursuant to which, the Group and Shenzhen Kaifu
shall jointly develop a property development project
through establishing a project company with a proposed
registered capital of RMB10,000,000 to be held as to 40%
by Group and 60% by Shenzhen Kaifu. The directors of
the Company are in the process of assessing the financial
impact of this new project. It is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed
review has been completed.

—+tFR

54. RIRE

(c)

M zEE(E)

R-ZFB—tFREA-+=HB " &&

BELEEENZER(TET AT
YREEREGZE Bt AEEE
BFHRELEEETBHRUHRAERE
BB EIRIRA0% ) IR 4 A X R 79
WE A E - RESASARKE
75,000,000 7T K& A K # 190,000,000
T ZERBEERHBAIORNRE T
FORMGH - EPEFBUETRR) A
RAEIZ BRI - SRR E

BRI HABORN ORI D ERK -

R-ZZB—tFRA-+RH FA&£H
EﬁiE’\‘qﬂlﬁz_LZﬁBEfE T‘}%J‘JII
Mo RIREBEERBRRAB(NRIIS
BRI — 10 & tF ek Tﬁkt'zli%%

.Eﬁimﬁ”yﬂﬁafgf_ﬂm*_ﬁlﬁa
ARHARAMAE-EMEERIEBAE -
EAEE! ’AﬁZLm&ﬂﬁéZKﬁ/\E
#:10,000,0007T * 2 Bl A& B 2R
ﬂﬁmﬁ@w%u&éo%mf@é AN
RIEFENHHBEENNBEE -
RERFART AT EZE E2RHTHE
RGN ERITT ©
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FEMBHRE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS e

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEFE

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
—E-=F ZZT—NF ZT-—hF —ZE—RF ZB—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000  RMB'000
AREBFT ARETT AR®TIT AR®TT AR®TR
(Restated)  (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&&E5) (FE5) (g&E5) (g&=51)

Revenue EER 529,076 542,750 598,772 1,374,919 3,313,992
Profit (loss) before tax BrEiAT R A (E518) (3,869) 118,392 338,358 26,223 134,548
Income tax expense PSR XX (5,089) (20,435) (116,505) (50,712) (91,147)
Profit (loss) for the FRFERLEERZ

year from continuing i A (&8 )

operation (8,958) 97,957 221,853 (24,489) 43,401
Profit from discontinued B IMEEEKE Y

operation ik ) 1,474 1,500 28 - -
Profit (loss) for the year  FERHA (&) (7,484) 99,457 221,881 (24,489) 43,401
Attributable to: FEAG ¢
Shareholders of the RRFIRER

Company (7,229) 99,257 193,891 27,090 22,717
Non-controlling interests  FE32 A% A& SR A 25 (255) 200 27,990 (51,579) 20,684

(7,484) 99,457 221,881 (24,489) 43,401
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FEMBHRE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL e BRI R

POSITION
As at 31 March
R=A=+—8
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
—E—= —E-OF —ET—RHF —T—FRF ZE—tE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETr AR%Tx
(Restated)  (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

(g&E5) (&E5) (&E5) (&E5))

Total assets BEE 596,086 782,728 2,974,923 5,266,919 11,672,189
Total liabilities FEN=RE (190,321) (276,448) (1,896,926) (2,291,593) (8,146,342)
405,765 506,280 1,077,997 2,975,326 3,525,847
Share capital % 72 27,170 27,170 31,473 51,787 55,203
Reserves T 366,665 467,069 994,255 2,812,443 3,336,717
Equity attributable to RNARIRR B 2R
shareholders of the
Company 393,835 494,239 1,025,728 2,864,230 3,391,920
Non-controlling interests  FE3Z f% I& R #E 2 11,930 12,041 52,269 111,096 133,927
Total equity B 405,765 506,280 1,077,997 2,975,326 3,525,847
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
Y E A

Particulars of the Group’s major investment properties, properties
held for sale and properties under development as at 31 March 2017
are as follows:

KEBR - ZE—+F=A=+—HZTEREY
¥ BEHENMERBRAMEZFBOT

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES BREY=
Approximate
gross floor Group's  Land lease
areas interest  duration

Location Purpose BWAEmE EE L

B Jick S BEEE FricfEzm HEHH

(sg.meter)
SZED)

1. Jincan Garden, Xiong Yue Town, Commercial 2,072 100%  Medium
Yingkou City, Liaoning Province, the PRC HES i Hf
FREEEEOTREERESREE

2. Jinfeng Guesthouse, Sanjiazi Community, Commercial 2,031 100%  Medium
Bayuequan District, Yingkou City, [EES  HA
Liaoning Province, the PRC
FEEEREATRABR=RFHRSIEER

3. Medical Building, the middle of Kulun Street, Commercial 5,687 100%  Medium
Bayugquan District, Liaoning Province, the PRC [SES i Hf
FEEERHABRERAHTRBEAR

4. The basement of Xianghe Commercial Building, Commercial 3,737 100%  Medium
Xiguan Community, Gulou Office, GES F HA

Gaizhou Country-level city, Yingkou City,
Liaoning Province, the PRC
PEFEELEOMEMNERNRETERARLE
AMESIE
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
Y E A

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE FELEME
Approximate
gross floor Group's  Land lease
areas Year of interest  duration
Location Purpose Bhem completion TEE  Li
B i3 BEER THEH ik HEHR
(sq.meter)
(FAk)
South-gastern side of Wang'ershan Avenue Bayuguan District, Yingkou City,  Residential 0,019 2013 100%  Long
Lianing Province, the PRC frE %= &4
TERELENTHARRER IALRAE
Kulun Splendid Mansion, Xin Dong Road, Laobian District, Yingkou City, Residential/ 35,938 2016 100%  Medium-
Liaoning Province, the PRC Commercial ZEE Commercial
TERELENTZERNERERER ft/B% - AR
Long-
Residential
RE-f%
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE REHFEWE
Approximate
gross floor Stageof  Expected Group's  Land lease
Location Purpose Site areas areas completion ~ completion Interest  duration
ROBE
13 i3 HETR REER nRER  BEA rERfEEE  THEEES
(sq.meter) (sq.meter)
(FhR) (¥R
The south of Moon Lake Park and the west of Lizodonguan Avenue,  Residential/ 30100 195700 Superstructure  August 2018 100%  Medium-
Bayuquan District, Yingkou City, Liaoning Province, the PRC Commercial . Meter nprogiess  Z5-/\F)\A Commercial
PEREEENTHARE AN INEREA R fz/B% A0 FHR TERENREER mH-Ex
Long-
Residential
RE-H%

EEERERAR | —T—LFR
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

Y E A

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES UNDER

BHRPREWE

DEVELOPMENT
Approximate
gross floor Stageof  Expected Group's  Land lease
Location Purpose Site areas areas completion ~ completion Interest  duration
L
3 i3 HERR REER RAER  REER FEEfEEE  THERER
(sq.meter) (sq.meter)
(FR) (F#)
Investment properties under construction at Xinzhuang Tow, Office/Commercial 385 185,068 Foundation ~ March 2019 100%  Medium
Minhang District, Shanghai, the PRC HoE/ B inpogess  ZEF-AE=F hE
i TR TR ARRENE HATRIHESR
\nvehstmemhpropertiesignd?rEonstru;tion\{oT;atedRatd | Office/Commercial 10857 106210 Superstructure— March 2019 100%  Medium
the south-eastern siae of the junction of itan Road an BIE e . - _tk=
Zhongshan Road, Shahekou District, Dalian City, #E/B 18 i\;?roggs AR i
Liaoning Province, the PRC R
AP EEEE AETY AR ERARIARARE
RRRENR
Commercial units at No. 4 Sanba Square, Zhongshen Distrct, Commercial 1310 56,728 Internal decoration ~ Within Year 2017 100%  Medium
Dalian City, Lizoning Province, the PRC fig npogess  Z3-tERM Gk
MR EREE RETIIE= RS BREN RS G
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